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The Department of Education and Training (DET) Annual Report 2014–15 supports the department's 
corporate governance framework, by describing our achievements, outlook and financial position for the 
year. The annual report also plays an important role in fulfilling the department's commitment to 
accountability and transparency.  

The annual report is based on the department’s Strategic Plan 2014–18, which communicates the important 
role the department’s employees and partners play in providing Queenslanders with the knowledge and skills 
to participate effectively in our community and the economy. The priority actions to deliver improved 
outcomes for Queenslanders in the strategic plan are highlighted throughout the document. The key 
performance indicators outlined in the strategic plan, are identified in the annual report with this symbol KPI . 
The department’s strategic plan is available online at www.det.qld.gov.au/publications/strategic.  

This report provides comprehensive information about the department's financial position for 2014–15. It also 
provides information about our performance against objectives, organisation, people management and 
corporate governance processes and DET’s future direction.  

The annual report complies with the Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies — 
Requirements for the 2014–15 reporting period. In accordance with these reporting requirements, the 
following additional information is available on the department’s website and the Queensland Government 
Open Data website (www.qld.gov.au/data): 

• consultancies
• overseas travel
• Queensland Language Services Policy
• government bodies.

The department maintains a complaints management system for dealing with customer complaints. In 
accordance with s219A of the Public Service Act 2008 the department publishes the following information on 
the department’s website and the Queensland Government Open Data website (www.qld.gov.au): 

• the number of customer complaints received by the department in the year
• the number of those complaints resulting in further action
• the number of those complaints resulting in no further action.

This report can be downloaded and printed in full from www.det.qld.gov.au/publications/annual-reports/14-
15/index.html. 

Privacy statement 

The Department of Education and Training is committed to protecting personal information and complying 
with the Information Privacy Act 2009 (Qld) and other legislation governing the handling of personal 
information. For administrative reporting purposes, the department publicly releases datasets in different 
formats ensuring that any personal information that would lead to the identification of an individual is not 
disclosed. The personal information collected by the department will only be used for the purpose for which it 
was collected. 

Providing feedback – our contact details 

We continually strive to meet best-practice reporting standards and value the views of our readers. We invite 
you to provide feedback on this report by completing a survey on the Get Involved website 
www.qld.gov.au/annualreportfeedback, by email to AnnualReport@det.qld.gov.au, by telephone to 13 QGOV 
(13 74 68), or by contacting Governance Strategy and Planning, PO Box 15033, City East Qld 4002.

About this report 
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Interpreter services 

The Queensland Government is committed to providing accessible services to Queenslanders 
from all cultural and linguistic backgrounds. If you have difficulty understanding the annual report, 
you can contact us on telephone 131 450 and we will arrange an interpreter to effectively 
communicate the report to you. 
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Our vision 

Inspiring minds. Creating opportunities. Shaping Queensland’s future. 

Our purpose 

Preparing Queenslanders with the knowledge, skills and confidence to participate effectively in the 
community and the economy.  

Our values 
 
Customer s first  
 

Creating positive experiences for children, students, families, communities and 
industry through enabling choice, being responsive and providing inclusive 
services 
 

Ideas into action  
 

Recognising and cultivating innovation for better learning outcomes  
 

Unleash potential  
 

Working efficiently and effectively, with high expectations of each other and our 
services 
 

Be courageous  
 

Promoting evidence-informed decision making, transparency and accountability 
 

Empower people  
 

Developing and empowering our people through relationships based on trust, 
respect and valuing diversity  
 

Collaborative empowerment 

The Department of Education and Training’s (DET) business 
model is empowering staff to work together to respond to the 
unique needs of our customers and stakeholders. This 
includes supporting innovation through using evidence to lift 
performance across each of our services and systems. 

We are creating a culture of increased autonomy with clear 
accountabilities by: 

• clearly aligning functions to ensure services are 
focused on customer outcomes 

• using review, support and early intervention at 
the individual, service provider and system level 

• providing clear and timely information to support 
innovation and decision making. 

DET is focused on putting customers first and delivering what matters to lift outcomes.

Strategic Plan 2014-18 
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Targeted st rategies that enable frontline services to focus on delivering outcomes  

Successful learners  

Strengthen learning outcomes through: 
• collaborative policy development which 

is future focused and improves 
outcomes 

• investment which is planned and 
targeted to maximise value and drive 
efficiency 

• fit for purpose and future focused 
infrastructure 

• contemporary, cost efficient ICT 
• reducing red tape 

Great people  

• Promote a high performance culture to 
attract, retain and develop a quality, 
agile, skilled and professional workforce 

• Empower leaders to be customer 
focused, high performing, innovative and 
accountable 

Engaging partners  

• Promote innovative communications and 
engagement strategies to improve 
connections with customers, partners 
and stakeholders 

• Fosters collaborative partnerships 
across community, industry, providers, 
and government to lift learning outcomes 

• Strengthen relationships across sectors, 
agencies and jurisdictions 

High standards  

• Drive improved performance through a 
focus on business improvement and 
innovation 

• Strengthen evidence-informed decision 
making using performance data, 
research, review and evaluation 

• Promote accountability through good 
governance and ethical decision making 

• Provide safe, healthy and inclusive work 
environments 
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Office of the Director-General 
Floor 22 Education House 
30 Mary Street Brisbane 4000 
PO Box 15033 City East 
Queensland 4002 Australia 
Telephone  +61 3237 0900 
Facsimile  +61 3237 1369 
Website  www.det.qld.gov.au 

ABN 76 337 613 647 

14 September 2015 

The Honourable Kate Jones MP  
Minister for Education and Minister for Tourism, Major Events, 
Small Business and the Commonwealth Games 
PO Box 15033  
CITY EAST  QLD  4002  

The Honourable Yvette D’Ath MP  
Attorney-General, Minister for Justice and Minister for Training and Skills 
GPO Box 149 
BRISBANE  QLD  4001  

Dear Ministers 

I am pleased to present the Department of Education and Training Annual Report 2014–15. 

I certify that this annual report complies with: 

• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance
Management Standard 2009; and

• the detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for Queensland Government
agencies — Requirements for the 2014–15 reporting period.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be accessed at www.det.qld.gov.au/ 
publications/annual-reports/14-15/index.html. 

Yours sincerely 

Dr Jim Watterston  
Director-General 

Letter to the Ministers 
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The 2014–15 Annual Report of the Department of Education and Training outlines 
the achievements of the department over the past year and sets out the 
department’s key strategies for continuing to lift educational outcomes for all 
Queenslanders. 

Queensland has undertaken a number of reforms of the education system over 
the past decade and these reforms are having a positive impact on educational 
outcomes. 

Making sure that every child has a positive start to their learning journey starts in 
the early years. Queensland has made significant gains in the number of children 
participating in quality early learning. During 2014–15 our focus in early childhood 
education and care has been on: 

• continuing to increase the number of children participating in Kindergarten; 
• supporting increased participation in kindy through the provision of five extra kindergartens in 

areas of need; 
• promoting the importance of kindy in the community through the Kindy counts! campaign; and 
• engaging with more than 28,500 Queenslanders through the Say G’day to Jay Kindy Roadshow. 

In schooling, we have successfully completed one of the most ambitious reforms of the Queensland 
schooling system with the move of Year 7 into high schools across the state and non-state schooling sectors 
at the beginning of the 2015 school year. This reform has been a significant change for our students, 
teachers, principals and the broader community. During 2014–15 our focus in school education has been on: 

• successfully transitioning 35,000 students into Year 7 in state high schools; 
• supporting the non-state school sectors in the transition of Year 7 into high school; 
• creating 300 master teacher positions in state schools to work with 464 schools to improve 

student outcomes and teaching quality; 
• implementing the Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics Teaching Scholarship 

program for final year undergraduate teachers; 
• establishing the School Improvement Unit to undertake reviews in each Queensland state 

school; 
• continuing to improve literacy and numeracy outcomes with NAPLAN performance lifting again; 

and 
• increasing the proportion of students successfully completing Year 12 and receiving a 

Queensland Certificate of Education or a Queensland Certificate of Individual Achievement. 

Lifting the skills of Queenslanders to participate in the workforce is essential to growing Queensland’s 
economy and securing a better future for Queenslanders. During 2014–15 our focus in training and 
employment has been on: 

• commencing the implementation of the Skilling Queenslanders for Work program to deliver a 
range of supports for up to 8000 disadvantaged Queenslanders; 

• delivering supported training places for more than 5000 disadvantaged people through the 
Community Learning initiative; 

• investing in TAFE Queensland to ensure it is the premier public provider of vocational education 
and training; and 

• commencing development of Jobs Queensland to provide advice to government on skills 
demand and long-term workforce planning. 

Once again during 2014–15, our stakeholders have played an important role in shaping the future direction 
of the department. In each of our service areas we continue to consult, liaise and work with our stakeholders 
to identify those strategies that will make the most difference to lifting outcomes across our services. This 
collaborative approach will continue in the future as we work with our partners to deliver the education 
system Queensland needs to ensure prosperity in the future.  

Director-General’s overview 
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During this year, the department, its staff, stakeholders and the broader community has yet again responded 
to the challenges of a major weather event with Tropical Cyclone Marcia in February 2015. The response in 
difficult circumstances, by early childhood services, schools and registered training organisations was 
outstanding and played a key role in the recovery of the broader community. In particular I would like to 
acknowledge our dedicated staff who were involved in the response and recovery efforts. 

I am looking forward to continuing our work in delivering high quality learning experiences across 
Queensland. Everyone matters to achieving success for Queensland. 

Regards 

DR JIM WATTERSTON 

Director-General 
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Role and main functions  

The department is committed to ensuring Queenslanders have the education and skills they need to 
contribute to the economic and social development of Queensland by delivering world-class education and 
training services. 

On 16 February 2015, the Honourable Kate Jones MP was sworn in as Minister for Education and Minister 
for Tourism, Major Events Small Business and the Commonwealth Games, and the Honourable Yvette D’Ath 
MP was sworn in as Attorney-General and Minister for Justice and Minister for Training and Skills. 

The department’s service structure as at 30 June 2015 is: 

• early childhood education and care 
• school education  
• training and skills. 

Early childhood education and care 

Providing children with access to quality early childhood education and care through establishing and 
funding Kindergarten, integrated early years services, parent and family support programs, and regulating, 
approving and quality-assessing early years services. 

School education 

Delivering Prep to Year 12 in Queensland state schools to prepare children and young people for successful 
transitions into further education and training, regulation of home education and administering funding to 
Queensland non-state schools. 

Training and skills  

Improving the skills profile of Queensland through targeting funding for delivery of vocational education and 
training (VET) that leads directly to employment. Providing information, advice and support to VET providers, 
employers, students, apprentices and trainees. 

Our priorities 

This annual report is based on the Strategic Plan 2014–18, which focuses on the following priority areas: 

• early childhood education and care 
• school education 
• training and skills. 

During 2014–15, the following major policy initiatives of the government guided the work of the department: 

• Extra Teachers: to employ up to an additional 2500 teachers in Queensland state schools over 
three years to keep pace with enrolment growth, assign specialist teachers to secondary 
schools, relieve pressure on teachers and principals, and put downward pressure on primary 
class sizes. This commitment includes the allocation of 875 additional teachers over three years 
from 2016, above those required for enrolment growth.  

• Supporting Students: to allocate an additional 45 full-time employees (FTEs) over three years 
from 2016 to ensure that every state high school with more than 500 secondary students has 
access to a full-time guidance officer (or equivalent). 

• Letting Teachers Teach: including a new teacher classification system, to transform the teaching 
profession in Queensland.  

• Restoring Respect to the Teaching Profession: to ensure our teachers are well respected within 
the community. 

• Rescuing TAFE: a three-year commitment to increase investment in TAFE Queensland and 
restore TAFE Queensland’s status as the state’s premier public provider of vocational education 
and training.  
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• Skilling Queenslanders for Work: a four-year initiative to develop skills to match current and 
future industry needs, and specifically target local programs that assist disadvantaged 
Queenslanders on the path back to work. Up to 32,000 job seekers are set to benefit from the 
program.  

The department will work with our stakeholders to implement these initiatives in the coming years. 

Our locations 

Our early childhood education and care, school education, and training and skills services are integrated at a 
regional level. This enables cohesive service delivery, strengthens links between sectors and improves 
transitions between sectors for clients. Information regarding the location of Queensland state schools, 
regional offices, and the seven regions is online at www.education.qld.gov.au/ 
schools/maps/. 

Our legislation 

DET’s functions and powers are derived from administering the Acts of Parliament in accordance with 
Administrative Arrangements Order (No. 2) 2015. 

Table 1: Administrative Arrangements Order (No. 2) 2015 

Principal ministerial responsibilities Acts administered  

Minister for Education  

• Early Childhood Education and Care including— 
− Early Childhood Education and Care Regulated 

Services 
− Kindergarten Programs 

• Education including— 
− Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Education 
− Distance Education 
− Education of Students in Youth Detention 

Centres 
− Home Education 
− International Education 
− Primary Education 
− Secondary Education 
− Special Education 

• Higher Education including— 
− State Government Policy and Planning 

• Non-State School Accreditation 
• Non-State School Funding 
• Registration of Teachers 

Australian Catholic University (Queensland) Act 2007 
Bond University Act 1987 
Central Queensland University Act 1998 
Education (Accreditation of Non-State Schools) Act 2001 
Education and Care Services Act 2013 
Education and Care Services National Law (Queensland) Act 2011 
Education (Capital Assistance) Act 1993 
Education (General Provisions) Act 2006 
Education (Overseas Students) Act 1996 
Education (Queensland College of Teachers) Act 2005 
Education (Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority) Act 
2014 
Education (Work Experience) Act 1996 
Grammar Schools Act 1975 
Griffith University Act 1998 
James Cook University Act 1997 
Queensland University of Technology Act 1998 
University of Queensland Act 1998 
University of Southern Queensland Act 1998 
University of the Sunshine Coast Act 1998 

Minister for Training and Skills  

• International Vocational Education and Training 
• Skills and Workforce Development 
• Vocational Education and Training including 

Technical and Further Education 
• Vocational education and training assets managed by 

the Queensland Training Assets Management 
Authority 

Further Education and Training Act 2014 
Queensland Training Assets Management Authority Act 2014 
TAFE Queensland Act 2013 
Vocational Education and Training (Commonwealth Powers) Act 2012 

Source: Department of the Premier and Cabinet 
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Our organisational structure 

Figure 1: Department of Education and Training organisational structure (as at 30 June 2015) 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 
Notes: 
*  Indicates Executive Management Board Member. 
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Machinery-of-government changes 

Employment policies and programs 

In March 2015, the government created DET through machinery-of-government changes. As a result of 
these changes, employment programs and policies were transferred from the department to Queensland 
Treasury. Details of performance for employment are included in the 2014–15 Queensland Treasury annual 
report. 

Queensland Training Asset Management Authority 

Machinery-of-government change also saw the former government establish the Queensland Training 
Assets Management Authority (QTAMA) as at statutory body on 1 July 2014.  

The Palaszczuk Government is working toward implementing Rescuing TAFE, a key government election 
commitment to restore TAFE Queensland's status as the premier public provider of vocational education and 
training in the state, and will shortly introduce the Queensland Training Asset Management Repeal Bill 2014. 

Abolishing QTAMA and returning state training assets to the department will ensure that TAFE Queensland 
is given priority access to state training assets and will support TAFE Queensland in its planning and delivery 
of quality training to get Queenslanders into jobs. Details on the performance of QTAMA can be found in the 
2014–15 QTAMA annual report. 

Supporting government objectives 

The department contributes to the government’s objectives for the community to:  

• create jobs and a diverse economy 
• deliver quality frontline services 
• build safe, caring and connected communities 
• protecting the environment. 

More information about our policies, programs and services can be found in the early childhood education 
and care, school education and training and skills section of this annual report. 

Queensland public service values 

DET’s values are included in our strategic plan: 

• Customers first – creating positive experiences for children, students, families, communities and 
industry through enabling choice, being responsive and providing inclusive services. 

• Ideas into action – recognising and cultivating innovation for better learning outcomes. 
• Unleash potential – working efficiently and effectively, with high expectations of each other and 

our services. 
• Be courageous – promoting evidence-informed decision making, transparency and 

accountability. 
• Empower people – developing and empowering our people through relationships based on trust, 

respect and valuing diversity. 

Whole-of-government projects 

The department contributed to various whole-of-government projects during 2014–15 including the One Stop 
Shop, Open Data Revolution and the Red Tape Reduction Program.  

The development of The Queensland Plan was facilitated by the former government as a guide to major 
global changes.The current Government has prepared an Interim Queensland Government response to The 
Queensland Plan to outline the key services, programs and partnerships that will help improve our way of life 
today and proactively position Queensland for the future. 
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Corporate governance 

The department’s corporate governance framework sets out the standards of accountability and 
transparency expected by stakeholders and the people of Queensland. The aim of the framework is to drive 
performance improvement while meeting our statutory and government policy obligations. It outlines the 
principles that influence and support effective governance through strong leadership, responsible and ethical 
decision-making, management and accountability, and performance improvement. The Corporate 
Governance Framework 2014–18 is available online at www.det.qld.gov.au/corporate/governance. 

Governance committees 

The Executive Management Board (EMB) provides leadership to support the Director-General to meet 
departmental legislative, policy and management accountabilities. EMB member profiles, as at 30 June 
2015, are provided in Appendix 1. 

Governance committees are reviewed annually to ensure they continue to align with DET’s direction and 
objectives. The structure of the committees that operated during 2014–15 is outlined in Figure 2. 

Further information about governance committees is provided in Appendix 2 

Figure 2: Department of Education and Training governance committee structure, 2014–15 

Executive Management Board 

(EMB)

Strategic Program Boards

Infrastructure 
Investment Board  

(IIB)

Workforce 
Management 

Working Group 
(WMWG)

Innovation and 
Information 

Steering 
Committee  (IISC)

Data Analytics 
Working Group 

(DAWG)

Research and 
Evaluation 

Working Group 
(REWG)

Director-General 

Education and Training

Corporate Services

Deputy Director-General

Policy Performance and 

Planning

Deputy Director-General

Minister for Education 

Minister for Training and Skills

Budget Committee

Strategic Leadership and 

Implementation Committee 

(SLIC)

Audit and Risk Management 

Committee  (ARMC)

Fraud and Corruption 

Control Committee  (FCCC)

Strategy and Investment 
Forum (SaIF)

Indigenous Governance 
Working Group (IGWG)

Sub-committee 

Governance group 

Supporting group

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
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Statutory bodies and entities 

The following statutory bodies and entities table separate annual reports in Parliament, or have reporting 
requirements independent from the department: 

• TAFE Queensland 
• Queensland Training Assets Management Authority 
• Boards of Trustees of Grammar Schools  
• Non-State Schools Accreditation Board (including Non-State Schools Eligibility for Government 

Funding Committee)  
• Queensland College of Teachers (QCT) 
• Queensland Education Leadership Institute (QELI) 
• Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority (QCAA) 
• Building and Construction Industry Training Fund (BCITF) (Qld), trading as Construction Skills 

Queensland  
• Queensland universities.  

Further information about these statutory bodies and entities is provided in Appendix 3. 

Our stakeholders 

To guide our planning and policy making, the department engages with stakeholders including: 
• parents and carers and their representatives  
• early childhood services and organisations 
• students 
• members of school councils  
• non-government schooling sectors  
• universities and the broader higher education-sector  
• business and industry 
• private training providers  
• unions  
• employees  
• statutory bodies  
• peak bodies and interest groups  
• related government organisations  
• not-for-profit community-based organisations  
• volunteers  
• the Queensland community.  

Our work with the Australian Government 

Throughout 2014–15, the department continued to support collaborative policy development and national 
discussions on early childhood, school education, VET, and higher education issues by working in 
partnership with the federal Department of Education and Training, Department of Social Services, and 
Department of Industry and Department of Employment. 

To progress the Council of Australian Government (COAG) priorities, the department supports Ministerial 
discussions at the Industry and Skills Council and Education Council. 

In 2014–15, the department contributed to the COAG agenda through its support for the government 
participation in National Agreements, National Partnerships and other initiatives, including: 

• universal access to early childhood education 
• implementing a National Quality Framework (NQF) for early childhood education and care 
• providing more support for students with disability 
• Independent Public Schools initiative 
• closing the gap for Indigenous children 
• the Australian Curriculum 
• trade training centres in schools 
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• MoneySmart Teaching 
• skills reform 
• skills and workforce development 
• training places for single and teenage parents 
• TAFE fee waivers for child care qualifications 
• NAPLAN online assessment 
• student attendance reporting. 

The department provides further support to the Education Council and the Australian Education, Early 
Childhood Development and Youth Affairs Senior Officials Committee (AEEYSOC) by assuming the role of 
host and chair jurisdiction for 2015. 

Information regarding the outcomes, objectives, targets and performance indicators in National Agreements 
and National Partnership Agreements under the Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial 
Relations can be found online at www.federalfinancialrelations.gov.au/content/npa/default.aspx. 

Our critical issues 

To make sure every child and student is succeeding we need to: 

• support greater participation of vulnerable children in early learning before school  
• improve equity of outcomes regardless of student background or location 
• lift literacy and numeracy outcomes for every student, including improving the performance of 

our top students  
• engage students in science, technology, engineering and mathematics 
• improve educational outcomes for Indigenous children and young people  
• support all students to remain engaged in learning to give them better options for further study 

and work 
• increase the number of Queenslanders with vocational and higher-level qualifications 
• ensure everyone is on a pathway to meaningful employment.  

We must support every child to make a confident start and be actively engaged in their learning throughout 
school so they can take advantage of the options available to create their future.   

Our future directions 

In 2015–16, we will continue to focus on supporting children and young people through their learning and 
creating the right learning environments through workforce, resourcing and innovation strategies.  

In particular, we will focus on developing skills for a knowledge-based economy; promoting equity and 
access to quality learning experiences; improving the quality of teaching; and preparing students to attain 
post-school vocational and higher-level qualifications. 

The Government’s Advance Queensland: Developing the knowledge-based economy of the future policy 
identifies the need for Queensland to diversify economically and for Queenslanders to develop the skills to 
participate in new industries. To support this policy, we will transform the teaching of science, technology, 
engineering and maths (STEM) in state schools, develop the capability of teachers to teach STEM and 
increase opportunities for students to study coding and robotics at school. 

The 2015-16 Annual VET Investment Plan supports the Governments Working Queensland policy to ensure 
Queenslanders have access to quality training programs that deliver effective skills to meet employment and 
business demands. The plan outlines VET investment through Jobs Queensland, Skilling Queenslanders for 
Work, User Choice, Higher Level Skills, VocationalEducation and Training in Schools, Industry 
Pre-apprenticeship program and Trade Skills Assessment, Rescuing TAFE and Gap Training program.  

An important aspect of our work in the future is our collaboration with stakeholders. It is through effective 
partnerships at all levels that we will deliver world class outcomes for every Queenslander. 
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Chief Finance Officer’s report 
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Chief Finance Officer’s report 
The Queensland and national economy continues to be challenged by weaker commodity prices and a 
subdued labour market.  

Despite these challenges, the department achieved an operating surplus of $76.8 million in 2014–15. This is 
mainly due to a change in central agency funding arrangements relating to the treatment of the departmental 
surplus on school-based activities. Schools operate on a calendar (academic) year rather than financial year 
basis. 

This financial year witnessed the completion of the Flying Start Year 7 into high school program, which 
delivered both additional junior secondary teaching staff plus a significant investment in new and refurbished 
classrooms. 

The department’s service improvement program also continued with the establishment of a new operating 
model, a focus on improving transitions between the different stages of education and establishing clear 
accountabilities to ensure investment is directed towards the department’s strategic priorities. 

The focus on lifting learning outcomes for all students continues with additional targeted resourcing being 
provided to schools through programs, which include Investing in Literacy and Numeracy, providing $156 
million directly to all state schools in 2014–15. One example of an agile, flexible resourcing model is the $8 
million Collaboration and Innovation Fund, which has been designed to provide state secondary and special 
schools with the opportunity to develop and implement distinctive, collaborative projects which foster new 
approaches to learning. 

TAFE Queensland was established as a separate statutory authority on 1 July 2014, and systems 
developments have occurred during 2014–15 to facilitate a complete separation from the department.    
2015–16 will see the return of training assets to the department as part of the government’s Rescuing TAFE 
initiative. 

In accordance with the requirements of section 77(2)(b) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009, I have 
provided the Director-General with a statement that the financial internal controls of the department are 
operating efficiently, effectively and economically in conformance with section 57 of the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2009. As Chief Finance Officer, I have therefore fulfilled the minimum 
responsibilities as required by section 77(1)(b) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009. 

 

 
 
 
Adam Black FCPA CA 
Assistant Director-General, Finance 
Chief Finance Officer 
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Financial sustainability 

Table 2: Financial snapshot 

Financial snapshot 
2010–11 
$(000) 

2011–12 
$(000) 

2012–13 
$(000) 

2013–14 
$(000) 

2014–15 
$(000) 

Controlled revenue        

Departmental services revenue 6 827 758  7 425 300  7 394 773  7 604 826 7 910 179 

Other revenues 726 701  788 180  814 899 755 721 522 252 

Controlled expenses 7 553 279   8 212 044  8 209 130 8 360 444 8 355 600 

Operating surplus/(deficit) 1 180  1 436  542 103 76 831 

Administered grants (state)  664 728  675 895  710 923 773 613 794 329 

Capital outlays 1 437 739   532 842  423 868 532 099 344 641 

Total assets  18 662 635  18 719 423  18 481 943 18 450 300 17 665 419 

Total liabilities  1 017 233   993 342  950 005 1 078 339 896 760 

Net assets/(liabilities)  17 645 402   17 726 081  17 531 938 17 371 961 16 768 659 

  2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 2013–14 2014–15 
Employee expenses ($000)  5 325 565   5 685 185  5 756 319 5 934 253 5 544 265 

Number of employees at 30 June (FTE) 66 716 67 435 66 629 67 952 65 706 
Source: Department of Education and Training  

For a comprehensive set of financial statements covering all aspects of the department’s activities, see the 
financial statements  section of this annual report. No totals have been adjusted for commercial-in-
confidence requirements. 

Our income – where the funds come from 

We received $8.432 billion for our operations, an increase of $72 million from last year, mainly due to 
increased departmental services revenue, offset by reduced user charges due to the separation of TAFE 
Queensland from the department. 

Departmental services’ revenue increased by $305 million. This was largely due to additional funding for 
state school enrolment growth, enterprise bargaining and increased Australian Government funding under 
the National Education Reforms – Students First program. These increases have been partially offset by 
funding deferrals, particularly in the early childhood, and skills reform areas. 

The department also received $2.929 billion in administered funding, an increase of $193 million from 2013–
14. Administered funding includes Commonwealth funding transfers to non-government schools, as well as 
state grants to statutory authorities, peak bodies for non-state schools, and other entities, enabling them to 
deliver agreed services to Queenslanders. 

Figure 3: Income, 2014–15  

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
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Our expenses – how the funds are spent 

The department’s total expenses for 2014–15 were $8.355 billion, a decrease of $5 million from last year. 
Salaries and wages remain the agency’s major expense component at 66 per cent of total expenses. This is 
in line with the agency’s commitment to support teachers to focus on student needs by providing additional 
resources, including as part of Investing in Literacy and Numeracy. 

Figure 4: Expenses, 2014–15 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  

 
Figure 5: Average cost per student in state schools KPI

 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 

Our assets – what we own 
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The majority of our assets are in land and buildings associated with schools and early childhood facilities. 
The finalisation of the Flying Start Year 7 into high school infrastructure program has led to a reduction in 
capital work in progress. 

Figure 6: Value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

 
 
Source: Department of Education and Training  

Our liabilities – what we owe 

The department held liabilities totalling $896 million at 30 June 2014, a decrease of $181 million from 
2013-14. This decrease is mainly due to timing of payments for accrued employee benefits, offset by higher 
finance lease liabilities due to hand over of additional facilities under the Queensland Schools - Plenary - 
Public Private Partnership.  
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Our performance indicators  

• Participation in early childhood education programs 
• Services and programs meet the National Quality Standards  
• Access to integrated services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and vulnerable children 

and families 

Service standards 

Table 3: Service standards – Early childhood education and care 

Service standards Notes 
2014–15 

Target/estimate  Actual 

Proportion of Queensland children enrolled in an early childhood education program KPI 1,2,3,4,5 95% 106.4% 

Proportion of enrolments in an early childhood education program:  1,2,3,4,6,7   

• Indigenous children KPI  8,9 95% 65.3% 

• Children in disadvantaged communities KPI 10 95% 91.8% 

Source: Queensland State Budget 2014–15 Service Delivery Statements Department of Education and Training  
 
Notes: 
1. The 2014–15 target estimate is a nationally agreed benchmark established under the National Partnership Agreement on Universal 

Access to Early Childhood Education.  
2. Early childhood education program: a play-based program provided by a degree-qualified teacher recognised under the National 

Quality Framework, delivered to children in the year before full-time school.  
3. Under the National Partnership Agreement for Universal Access to Early Childhood Education, Queensland is committed to 

achieving and maintaining access to an early childhood education program for all children in the year before full-time school.  
4. Data is published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) in the Preschool Education Australia 2014 publication catalogue 

4240.0. 
5. Queensland has exceeded 100 per cent participation rate as five-year-olds are included in the count of children enrolled in a 

Kindergarten, but excluded from the Estimated Resident Population (denominator) count also data on Kindergarten enrolment 
draws on both state and national collected data, which may result in some duplication. 

6. Variance between the 2014–15 target estimate and actual can be attributed to the voluntary nature of Kindergarten participation 
and factors affecting participation by more vulnerable and disadvantaged groups such as affordability, physical access and cultural 
inclusiveness.  

7. The measures represent the proportion of children enrolled from each cohort group as a proportion of the estimated total 
population of that cohort group in Queensland.  

8. Indigenous: a person of Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander origin who identifies at enrolment to be of Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander origin.  

9. 2014 Indigenous Estimated Resident Population (ERP) has been rebased from 2006 ABS Census to the 2011 ABS Census. As a 
result, the number of four-year-old Indigenous children increased from 4260 to 5108. 

10. Disadvantaged: a person that resides in statistical areas classified by the ABS in the bottom quintile using the Index of Relative 
Socio Economic Disadvantage.  

 

Our achievements 
 

 

Successful learners 

                                 Targeted strategies 
Support Queensland families to participate and engage their children in 
early childhood programs, with a focus on those families most in need 

Enhance the focus on children’s development, continuity and connection of 
services across early childhood settings and the early years of school 

Develop strategies to support our most vulnerable children to access and 
participate in early education 

 

 

Successful 
learners 
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In 2014, for the second year, Queensland’s Kindergarten participation rates exceeded the 95 per cent target 
under the National Partnership Agreement on Universal Access to Early Childhood Education.  

To maximise children’s continuity of learning and build positively on this start to lifelong learning, the 
department has commenced implementation of a statewide approach to successful transition to school. The 
approach is based on strong relationships and communication between children, their families, early 
education and care services, the school and the community.  

Valuing diversity 

During 2014–15, the department continued to support inclusive, culturally rich early childhood education and 
care programs that reflect the community’s diverse needs: 

• The Queensland Kindergarten Funding Scheme (QKFS) plus Kindy Support subsidy reduced 
out-of-pocket expenses for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families, families with multiple 
births of three or more kindy-aged children, and Health Care Card holders.  

• The Specialised Equipment and Resources program enabled eligible services to access 
specialised equipment and professional resources to support children with disabilities to 
participate in a Kindergarten program. 

• The Disability Support Funding program provided between $2000 and $6000 to support children 
with a suspected or diagnosed disability to participate in a Kindergarten program. 

• The Kindergarten transport initiative increased access to Kindergarten for children in 11 
locations where attendance is impeded by the lack of available transport.  

• The Transition to Kindergarten program supported Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families 
and families from non-English speaking backgrounds to engage in their child’s early education 
and make connections to Kindergarten. 

• Pre-Kindergarten Grants built the capacity of early years and family-centred services to address 
challenges to Kindergarten access and participation for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
children and children from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. 

• Grants provided to eligible Kindergarten program providers supported cultural inclusion activities 
and promotion of collaborative partnerships with local families and communities. 

Universal access to Kindergarten programs 

The introduction of national Kindergarten reforms led to a significant increase in the proportion of 
Queensland children enrolled in early childhood education (Kindergarten). In 2008, 29 per cent of children in 
Queensland were enrolled in an early childhood education program. This increased to 106.4 per cent in 2014 
KPI. Queensland’s participation rate has exceeded 100 per cent as five-year-olds are included in the count of 
children enrolled in a Kindergarten, but excluded from the Estimated Resident Population (denominator) 
count. Data on Kindergarten enrolment also draws on both state and national data, which may result in some 
duplication. 

During 2014–15, the department delivered an integrated marketing and communications campaign, Kindy 
counts! to promote the importance of Kindergarten. The multifaceted campaign included the successful Say 
g'day to Jay Kindy Concert series with kindy ambassador Jay Laga'aia and the concert team visiting 
kindergartens across Queensland and performing to a combined audience of almost 28,500 Kindy fans. 

During 2014–15, the department continued to address access as a barrier to Kindergarten participation 
establishing five extra kindergartens in areas of need. The Brisbane School of Distance Education provided 
Kindergarten to children who cannot easily access a centre-based program due to isolation, illness or family 
lifestyle. In 2015, a total of 239 children were enrolled in eKindy, up from 188 in 2014. 

The number of long day-care services delivering an approved Kindergarten program continued to grow with 
over 1300 centres receiving funding to deliver an approved Kindergarten program in 2014–15. The number 
of community-based kindergartens delivering an approved program has remained relatively stable over the 
same period. 

Bilateral agreement targets 

Queensland exceeded the overall Kindergarten participation target for 2014. However, achieving the targets 
set for vulnerable and disadvantaged children, including Aboriginal Torres Strait Islander children remains 
challenging.  
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In 2014, 65.3 per cent of Indigenous children and 91.8 per cent of children living in disadvantaged 
communities were enrolled in an approved Kindergarten program KPI.  

The number of service providers offering a Kindergarten program delivered by a qualified teacher was 1862 
or 98.8 per cent of all services with a Kindergarten program in 2014.  

Queensland will continue to focus on improving participation of vulnerable and disadvantaged children.  

 
Great people 

Early childhood workforce 

Quality early childhood education and positive early years experiences are vital to giving children the best 
start in life and the skills and experience of the early childhood education and care (ECEC) workforce are 
key determinants of improved outcomes for children. The department’s Early Childhood Education and Care 
Workforce Action Plan 2011–2014 supported: 

• 756 people to enrol in the tuition-free TAFE Early Childhood Teacher Bridging Program for 
primary-qualified teachers 

• 363 scholarships for existing ECEC educators with three-year degree or Advanced Diploma 
qualifications to become qualified early childhood teachers 

• 17 early childhood teachers to relocate to rural and remote locations to deliver an approved 
Kindergarten program 

• training to existing and prospective educators in rural and remote areas 
• training for Indigenous educators in the Cape, Gulf and Torres Strait to complete an approved 

ECEC qualification 
• leadership and professional development programs for educators across the sector. 

Focus on teaching and learning practice in the Preparatory Year 

To ensure teaching and learning practice and curriculum expectations work together to provide challenging 
and engaging learning opportunities, the department is exploring the benefits of teaching and learning 
through active, purposeful, and creative experiences in the Preparatory Year.  

Queensland Kindergarten Learning Guideline 

The Queensland Kindergarten Learning Guideline (QKLG) provides advice and guidance to teachers in 
delivering approved Kindergarten programs and monitoring children’s progress. In 2014–15, the department 
funded free, statewide, face-to-face workshops. These were supported by online professional development 
materials delivered by the Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority (QCAA) to support 
Kindergarten teachers implementing the Queensland kindergarten learning guideline (QKLG) and enhance 
collaboration with teachers and school leaders to strengthen children’s transition to school.  

Engaged partners  

                                   Targeted strategies 
Support a highly qualified and sustainable early childhood education and 
care workforce through up-skilling programs, and targeted training 

Work with the early childhood sector to ensure early years initiatives are 
effectively targeted and inclusive  

 

Great  
people 

                                 Targeted strategies 
Support parents and carers to be actively engaged in their child’s learning 
and development  

Improve the integration of early childhood services across community and 
government agencies with responsibilities for early childhood development  

Work with the early years and schooling sector to improve children’s 
outcomes, including transitions to school 

 
Engaged 
partners 
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The department maintained its focus on developing strong partnerships to support children and their families 
funding more than 200 services to deliver early years programs and services, including child and family 
support hubs and playgroups, and early childhood development services, such as family support and 
parenting programs. In 2014–15, the department continued to promote the importance of Kindergarten 
through: 

• a statewide awareness campaign targeting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities  
• support to parents and services through the Kindy Hotline 
• access to accredited interpreters and posters, brochures and fact sheets available in 30 

languages  
• Kindy counts! roadshow and Facebook page. 

Integration of early years services 

Integrated early years services provide early childhood education and care, family support and child and 
maternal health services to families with children aged from birth to eight years. The department’s framework 
for integrated early childhood development supports and enhances integration of early years services. 
During 2014–15, the department: 

• provided funding and support to 49 integrated services, including early years centres, child and 
family support hubs, and children and family centres 

• supported programs that build the capacity of families to support their children’s early learning 
and development, and help prepare them for Kindergarten and school 

• rolled out workshops to support service providers and families to better plan, develop and deliver 
integrated responses to local issues 

• worked collaboratively with other government agencies to plan and develop integrated programs 
and services. 

Children and family centres 

Queensland’s 10 children and family centres provide essential health, early education and support services 
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families with children from pre-birth to eight years. In 2014–15, the 
department continued to support these vital services, providing operational funding to ensure families 
continued to access support in a culturally safe environment. Services are located in Cairns, Doomadgee, 
Ipswich, Logan, Mackay, Mareeba, Mornington Island, Mount Isa, Palm Island and Rockhampton.  

High standards 

The department approves and regulates education and care services in Queensland as part of a national 
regulatory regime known as the National Quality Framework (NQF).  

Under the NQF, services are assessed against the National Quality Standard and provided with a quality 
rating. The standard sets a national benchmark for service quality and supports families to make informed 
decisions about their children’s early education and care.  

Over 2750 Queensland services are captured under the NQF. During the past 12 months the number of 
services with a quality rating increased from 37 per cent to 65 per cent. 

As at 30 June 2015, the proportion of assessed services meeting or exceeding the standard in Queensland 
was 72 per cent. 

                                   Targeted strategies 
Monitor and promote quality outcomes through effective regulatory practice, 
enhanced performance reporting and the promotion of continuous 
improvement 

Promote stronger partnerships between early years providers and schools 
to ensure children make successful transitions into schooling  

 
High  

standards 
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Australian Early Development Census  

The department is a partner in the third national collection of the Australian Early Development Census 
(AEDC) taking place between May and July 2015. The census provides important information at a 
community level about the development of Australia's children as they start school. To support Queensland 
schools to prepare for the census, 24 workshops were held across Queensland between February and May 
2015, attracting over 600 participants.  

To support the use of the AEDC by educators in centre-based services, the department has worked with 
Early Childhood Australia to develop case studies and practical resources. The resources pack was mailed 
to all Kindergarten and long-day care services in June 2015 and is available on the department’s website.  

 

Solid partners Solid futures 

Solid partners Solid futures was the former Queensland Government’s commitment to supporting all 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children to enjoy and achieve success throughout their educational 
journey from early childhood through to employment. 

Solid partners Solid futures supports Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children from birth to eight years of 
age to learn, thrive and make successful transitions from home to early childhood education and care, and 
into school. 

In 2014–15, the department continued to deliver and expand on the Solid partners Solid futures initiatives 
that benefit Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Queenslanders. Building on this work, the Queensland 
Government will develop and launch a new Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander education strategy and 
action plan in 2016. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Perspectives in Early Childhood  

The Queensland Government is committed to ensuring that early childhood education and care services 
provide inclusive programs that reflect and value their community’s diversity.  Building cultural competency 
and providing support and guidance is a key component of our work to strengthen the capacity of 
Kindergarten providers to effectively engage with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families and deliver 
inclusive early childhood education programs that meet the learning needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander children. 

Significant achievements during 2014–15 include: 

• the appointment of seven community engagement and participation officers to help Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander parents understand the value of Kindergarten and link with early 
childhood education service providers 

• expansion of the Embedding Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Perspectives in Early 
Childhood (EATSIPEC) program from 10 to 17 priority locations 

• providing in-situ advice, support and guidance to more than 400 educators across Queensland 

                                  Targeted strategies 
Invest in culturally appropriate teaching and learning in the early years 

Increase access and participation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
children in early childhood programs 

Improve transitions and connections between home, early childhood settings 
and school 

 
Solid partners 
Solid futures 
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Pre-Prep – Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities 

Pre-Prep provides a Kindergarten program for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children living across 35 
discrete communities. The program is supported by the Foundations for Success guideline for extending and 
enriching learning for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in the Kindergarten year, which educators 
use to build on children’s culture, language and strengths. The program is provided 15-hours-a-week for 
40-weeks-a-year and is delivered in a range of settings, including schools, community kindergartens and a 
child care centre (28 state schools and five non-government settings). In 2014, 571 children were enrolled in 
the pre-Prep program.  



School education  
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School education 
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Our performance indicators 

• School attendance  
• Literacy and numeracy achievement  
• Retention and Year 12 or equivalent  
• Transitions to further education, training and employment 
• Outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students  

Service standards 

Table 4: Service standards – School education 

Service standards Notes 
2014–15 

Target/est. Actual 

Literacy and numeracy  

Year 3 Test – Proportion of students at or above the National Minimum 
Standard  KPI : 

1,2   

• All students:     

− Reading  93% 90.6% 

− Writing  94% 92.3% 

− Numeracy  94% 93.2% 

• Indigenous students: 3   

− Reading  85% 78.2% 

− Writing  84% 82.6% 

− Numeracy  86% 83.3% 

Year 5 Test – Proportion of students at or above the National Minimum 
Standard  KPI : 

1,2   

• All students:     

− Reading  95% 89.7% 

− Writing  90% 82.9% 

− Numeracy  93% 90.0% 

• Indigenous students: 3   

− Reading  88% 72.5% 

− Writing  72% 62.3% 

− Numeracy  78% 71.3% 

Year 7 Test – Proportion of students at or above the National Minimum 
Standard  KPI : 

1,2   

• All students:     

− Reading  94% 92.2% 

− Writing  92% 83.2% 

− Numeracy  95% 93.7% 

• Indigenous students: 3   

− Reading  85% 80.2% 

− Writing  78% 64.3% 

− Numeracy  86% 84.3% 

Year 9 Test – Proportion of students at or above the National Minimum 
Standard  KPI : 

1,2   

• All students:     

− Reading  90% 86.4% 

− Writing  86% 71.8% 

− Numeracy  94% 93.0% 
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Service standards Notes 
2014–15 

Target/est. Actual 

• Indigenous students: 3   

− Reading  78% 69.0% 

− Writing  69% 47.8% 

− Numeracy  82% 81.7% 

Attainment outcomes 

Proportion of Year 12 students awarded a QCE KPI  1,4 87% 90.7 % 

Proportion of Year 12 students who are completing or have completed a 
SAT(School-based Apprenticeship and Traineeship) or were awarded one or more 
of: QCE, IBD or VET qualification KPI  

1,4 95% 96.0% 

Proportion of OP/IBD students who received an OP 1 to 15 or an IBD KPI  1 76% 75.7% 

Number of students awarded a QCIA KPI  1 600 644 

Post-schooling destinations  

Proportion of students who, six months after completing Year 12, were 
participating in education, training or employment KPI 

5  88% 86.9% 

Cost and satisfaction 

Average cost of service per student KPI 6   

• Primary (Prep – Year 7)  $11 410 $11 553 

• Secondary (Year 8 – Year 12)  $13 645 $13 015 

• Students with disabilities  $27 094 $26 728 

Proportion of parents satisfied with their child’s school KPI  7 90% 93.9% 

Source: Queensland State Budget 2014–15 Service Delivery Statements and Performance, Monitoring and Reporting, Department of 
Education and Training  
 
Notes: 
1. These service standards relate to the state schooling sector only. 
2. NAPLAN National Minimum Standard (NMS) targets represent the aspirational goals for achievement against these measures and 

should be read in conjunction with other NAPLAN data, which show broad improvements. 
3. Indigenous: a person of Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander origin who identifies at enrolment to be of Aboriginal and/or Torres 

Strait Islander origin. 
4. Attainment Outcomes acronyms: SAT — School-based Apprenticeship and Traineeship, IBD — International Baccalaureate 

Diploma, OP — Overall Position, QCE — Queensland QCE and QCIA — Queensland Certificate of Individual Achievement QCIA. 
5. Sourced from the annual DET Next Step survey. ‘Students’ refers to Year 12 completers from all Queensland schools.  
6. Calculation of the average cost of service per student is based on the total cost of state schooling for primary and secondary 

students and students with disabilities, divided by the enrolments for those student cohorts. 
7. Sourced from the annual DET School Opinion Survey—Parent/Caregiver Survey. The proportion presents the aggregation of 

positive responses, that is, ‘somewhat agree’, ‘agree’, and ‘strongly agree’ to the item ‘this is a good school’.  
 

Our achievements 
 

  

Successful learners  

                                    Targeted strategies 
Transition students successfully from early years programs to school, through 
the stages of schooling and into further education and training 

Improve learning outcomes for all students with an emphasis on reading, 
writing, numeracy and science  

Target strategies so students achieve at the highest level 

Embed junior secondary principles to ensure a successful move of Year 7 into 
secondary 

Use early warning indicators, including attendance, to identify students at risk 
of disengaging with learning to target interventions 

 
Successful 

learners 
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Step up into education 

Step up into education better prepares and supports children to make the transition to school, and supports 
parents to become involved in their child's education. Under this initiative of the former Queensland 
Government, 24 Queensland schools from areas of disadvantage are receiving funding to deliver school 
readiness and transition initiatives to suit the needs of their local community. State schools that will receive 
funding from 2012–13 to 2015–16 are listed at 
www.education.qld.gov.au/schools/stepup/educators/schools.html.  

Year 7 to secondary 

Moving Year 7 to high school has been a significant step in the ongoing transformation of Queensland’s 
education system. To give children a Flying Start, from 2015, Year 7 became the first year of high school in 
Queensland. This major reform has been delivered over a four-year period on time and under budget. 

The move of Year 7 follows the introduction of full-time Prep in 2007, which added an extra year of schooling 
to our education system. The school entry-age was also raised by six months in 2008, so that from 2015 
more than half of the students who are in Year 7 will turn 13 years of age and be in their eighth year of 
schooling, the right time to be entering high school. These combined changes now bring Queensland in line 
with most other Australian states. 

As part of Flying Start reforms, since 2013, Queensland state schools recognised Years 8 and 9 as Junior 
Secondary, with Year 7 included when it joined high school in 2015. Junior Secondary is an approach to 
meeting the academic, social and emotional needs of students in Years 7, 8 and 9. 

In 2015, 35,000 students transitioned into Year 7 in state high schools and 100,000 Year 7 and 8 students 
transitioned from primary to high school across Queensland. An additional 722 teachers were recruited for 
Junior Secondary in state schools, including 432 teachers who chose to move from primary to secondary 
schools. 

The Year 7 transition has been supported by an investment of nearly $350 million in new and refurbished 
infrastructure. Over 600 new classrooms have been established and a further 1100 refurbished at 289 
Queensland state high schools. 

The department also worked with both the Catholic and Independent sectors to plan for the statewide move 
in 2015.  

Investing in literacy and numeracy 

Investing in literacy and numeracy is an agreement between state schools and the Director-General, and 
Independent Public Schools and their school councils, that every Queensland state school student will either: 

• achieve the National Minimum Standard (NMS) for literacy and numeracy for their year level, or 
• have an evidence-based plan, developed by the school, in place to address their specific 

learning needs. 

Each school publishes its approved guarantee on their website and report their achievements to the 
community at the end of the year. $183 million will be invested into Queensland schools in 2015. 

Premier’s ANZAC Prize 

The Premier's ANZAC Prize gives eligible Queensland high school students the opportunity to experience 
the ANZAC tradition firsthand.  

In 2015, 70 Queensland students and 10 teacher chaperones travelled to Turkey and the Western Front 
battlefields of Belgium and France to participate in the historic ANZAC Day centenary commemorations. 
Since the program began in 2013, 80 young Queenslanders have undertaken the journey to pay tribute to 
the ANZAC legacy. 
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The Duke Of Edinburgh’s International Award and Bridge Award programs 

The Duke of Edinburgh’s International Award and Bridge Award programs provide opportunities for young 
Queenslanders to get active, learn new skills and engage with their communities. School student 
participation in The Duke of Edinburgh’s International Award can contribute up to four credits towards their 
Queensland Certificate of Education (QCE). In 2014–15 more than 9,700 young Queenslanders participated 
in the award programs. 

State school education 

During 2014, the department provided services to 335,853 full-time students in state primary schools,  
175,567 full-time students in state secondary schools and 4081 full-time students in state special schools as 
indicated in Table 5.  

Table 5: Number of full-time students in Queensland state schools 
School education 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Primary (Prep–Year 7)  309 661 313 413 321 025 327 888 335 853 

Secondary (Year 8–Year 12)  172 749 172 576 173 280 175 152 175 567 

Special  3388 3529 3708 3904 4081 

Total  485 798 489 518 498 013 506 944 515 501 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 
Notes: 
1. Prep was recognised as the first year of schooling in all Queensland state schools in 2012. 
2. 2008–09 primary and secondary enrolments include ungraded students. Full-time enrolments as at August of each year. 

The 2014 School Opinion Survey showed that 93.9 per cent of parents/caregivers of students in state 
schools agreed that their child's school is a good school KPI. 

Student attendance 

Student attendance can significantly affect a student's education, and can be associated with a student 
leaving school early or having limited employment and life opportunities. Schools have guidelines to address 
chronic absenteeism, school refusal and truancy. In many cases, schools may involve other agencies, 
including the Department of Communities, Child Safety and Disability Services and other local non-
government organisations to assist students and their families. 

In 2014–15, through the Every Day Counts website (http://education.qld.gov.au/everydaycounts/), brochures, 
posters, postcards and fact sheets were available for parents, schools and the community to continue to 
promote the importance of regular school attendance. Case studies and resources, such as an Attendance 
Improvement Plan and Student Attendance Profile, were available to help schools to plan and document 
their approach to improving school attendance.  

Departmental policies and procedures on attendance, absences and roll-marking continue to provide 
guidance to all schools on improving attendance. These policies are supported by data collected within the 
OneSchool system. Many schools use automated text messaging services to alert parents when students 
are absent from school. Schools routinely follow up with parents when a persistent pattern of non-attendance 
is evident. 

Table 6: Queensland state school attendance rates by region 
Region 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Central Queensland 90.5% 90.4% 90.8% 90.7% 90.9% 

Darling Downs South West 90.4% 90.3% 91.0% 90.3% 90.6% 

Far North Queensland 89.3% 88.1% 88.1% 87.9% 88.3% 

Metropolitan 92.3% 92.3% 92.6% 92.4% 92.6% 

North Coast 90.9% 90.9% 90.7% 90.4% 90.7% 

North Queensland 89.6% 88.3% 89.4% 89.0% 89.6% 

South East 91.0% 91.1% 91.0% 90.7% 91.2% 

Queensland 91.0% 90.9% 91.1% 90.8% 91.1% 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 
Notes: 
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1. The student attendance rate is based on Semester 1 each year and is generated by dividing the total of full days and part days that 
students attended, and comparing this to the total of all possible days for students to attend, expressed as a percentage. 

2. The 2009 to 2012 attendance calculations include all full-time students, providing students were enrolled for at least some period 
during Semester 1 and were still enrolled as at August census. 

3. For 2013, there was a change in methodology used for calculating attendance rates, effectively counting attendance for every 
student for every day of attendance in Semester 1. This has caused a break in time series. Caution should be exercised when 
making comparisons between 2013 and previous years. 

4. It should be noted that pandemics and extreme weather events which impact much of the state may result in changes to the 
attendance rate. 

 
Table 7: Proportion of Queensland state school students by attendance rate range 

Year level category Less than 85% 85% to <90%  90% to <95% 95% to 100% 
Primary (Prep –Year 7) 13.5% 11.4% 26.8% 48.3% 

Secondary (Year 8-Year 12) 24.5% 13.5% 25.4% 36.5% 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 
Notes: 
1. The student attendance rate is based on Semester 1 each year and is generated by dividing the total of full days and part days that 

students attended, and comparing this to the total of all possible days for students to attend, expressed as a percentage. 

Indigenous student school attendance 

There is evidence to suggest that the more regularly students attend school, the greater their success in 
learning. In 2014, Queensland had 29.6 per cent of the full-time Indigenous students in Australia. The 2014 
gap between Queensland Indigenous state school student attendance rates and Queensland non-
Indigenous state school student attendance rates is 7.4 percentage points which represents a 0.7 
percentage point improvement over the previous year. Further improvements in school attendance for 
Indigenous students remains a major priority for all Queensland state schools.  

NAPLAN 

Since 2008, annual National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy (NAPLAN) tests have been 
conducted in May for students in Years 3, 5, 7 and 9 from all state and non-state schools across Australia. 
The national tests assess the skills of these students in reading, writing, language conventions (spelling, 
grammar and punctuation) and numeracy. These tests measure how students are performing against 
national standards and provide students, parents, teachers, schools and school systems with information 
about the literacy and numeracy achievements of students. 

NAPLAN was developed collaboratively by the Australian Government, state and territory governments and 
non-state school sectors. The national reports on NAPLAN test results are produced by the Australian 
Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority (ACARA). The administration, marking and reporting of the 
NAPLAN tests in Queensland is coordinated by the Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority 
(QCAA) 
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NAPLAN outcomes 

Figure 7: National Assessment Program - Literacy and Numeracy National Assessment Scale 

 

Source: Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority 2014, NAPLAN Achievement in Reading, Persuasive Writing, 
Language Conventions and Numeracy: National Report for 2014, ACARA, Sydney 

NAPLAN performance is reported using three different measures: 

1. Proportion of students at or above the National Minimum Standard (NMS). Students who meet or 
are above the NMS are considered to have demonstrated the basic elements of literacy and 
numeracy for their year level. 

2. Proportion of students in the upper two bands (U2B). Results for any one year are reported 
using a 6 band scale. See graph above. This measure reports the proportion of children in the 
top two bands.  

3. Mean Scale Score (MSS), which reflects the average score of all students for a test area in each 
year level. 

The 2014 NAPLAN national report and the 2015 NAPLAN Summary information, providing results for 
Queensland students by test area, are available online at 
www.nap.edu.au/Test_Results/National_reports/index.html.  

In 2011, the NAPLAN Writing Test introduced a persuasive writing task in place of the previous narrative 
task and created a new persuasive writing scale. Comparisons for reading, spelling, grammar, punctuation 
and numeracy extend from the 2008 baseline through to 2015 and for writing from the 2011 baseline to 
2015. 

Upper two bands 

For the proportion of students who achieved results in the upper two bands (U2B) of each year level in 2015, 
Queensland improved in 16 of the 20 result areas since baseline (2008, 2011). Also, in 2015, relative to 
other states and territories, Queensland’s average rank was fifth. The highest ranking achieved by 
Queensland was in Year 7 spelling, where Queensland ranked third. 
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National Minimum Standard 

Since baseline (2008, 2011), Queensland improved the proportion of students achieving the National 
Minimum Standard (NMS) in 18 of the 20 result areas. The highest ranked result areas in 2015 were Years 7 
and 9 numeracy where, for the first time since testing began, Queensland achieved a rank of second relative 
to other states and territories. 

Mean scale scores 

Since baseline (2008, 2011), Queensland improved its mean scale score (MSS) performance in 17 of the 20 
result areas. In 2015, Queensland is the only jurisdiction to achieve ACARA’s ‘substantially above’ ratings 
since baseline for any test area. Queensland achieved this in both Year 3 Reading and in Year 3 Grammar 
and Punctuation. The highest ranking achieved by Queensland, relative to other states and territories, was in 
Years 3, 5 and 7 reading, grammar and punctuation and numeracy, where Queensland ranked fourth. 

Figures 8-10 show the percentage of all Queensland students and Queensland state school students at or 
above the NMS in reading, writing and numeracy, compared to all Australian students KPI

 

Figure 8: NAPLAN 2008/2012–15 Reading comparative data: Queensland state school, Queensland and Australia KPI 
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Figure 9: NAPLAN 2012–15 Persuasive Writing comparative data: Queensland state school, Queensland and Australia KPI
 

 

Figure 10: NAPLAN 2008/2012–15 Numeracy comparative data: Queensland state school, Queensland and Australia KPI
 

 

Source: Data is drawn from NAPLAN – National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy National Report 
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Indigenous student performance 

NAPLAN results for Indigenous students (Queensland and Australia) are not yet available for 2015. The 
most recent NAPLAN results for Indigenous students are for 2014, and these are reported below. 

In 2014, Queensland Indigenous students’ average rank was fifth relative to Indigenous students in other 
states and territories The highest rank was in Year 9 spelling, in which Queensland Indigenous students 
were third in NMS and U2B and second for MSS. In absolute terms, a higher proportion of Queensland 
Indigenous students achieved the NMS than Indigenous students nationally in all 20 test result areas in 2014 
and 2013.  

In 2014, Queensland Indigenous students had their best results on record in 3 out of 20 test areas for NMS, 
9 out of 20 test areas for U2B and 4 out of 20 test areas for MSS. The highest area of achievement in NMS 
for both Indigenous and non-Indigenous students was Year 7 numeracy (83.8 per cent and 96.2 per cent, 
respectively). 

The gap between Indigenous and non-Indigenous students in 2014 is smaller in Queensland than in 
Australia as a whole. This applies to all test areas in all year levels, across the three measures — NMS, U2B 
and MSS.  

From 2013 to 2014, Queensland Indigenous state school students experienced improvement in 10 of the 20 
test areas for NMS, and for 3 of these the improvement was greater than 5 percentage points. Improvement 
of Indigenous state school students was greater than for non-Indigenous state school students for all 10 of 
these test areas. The greatest improvement was in Year 9 numeracy (12.7 percentage points).  

Similarly, there was improvement for Queensland Indigenous state school students in eight of the 20 test 
areas for MSS and this was greater than for non-Indigenous state school students for three of these eight 
test areas. The greatest improvement was in Year 9 Numeracy (12.4 scale score points). 

From 2013 to 2014, Queensland Indigenous state school students experienced improvement in 8 of the 20 
test areas for MSS. For 3 of these, the improvement was greater than 10 scale score points, and for another 
3 of these it was greater than 5 scale score points. The greatest improvement was in Year 9 Numeracy (12.4 
scale score points).  

Figures 11-13 show the percentage of students at or above the NMS in reading, writing and numeracy in the 
following categories: Queensland Indigenous students, Indigenous students attending Queensland state 
schools and Australian Indigenous students KPI. 
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Figure 11: NAPLAN 2008/2011 –14 Reading comparative data: Queensland state school Indigenous students, all Queensland 
Indigenous and all Australian Indigenous KPI  

 
 
Figure 12: NAPLAN 2011–2014 Persuasive Writing comparative data: Queensland state school Indigenous students, all Queensland 
Indigenous and all Australian Indigenous KPI   
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Figure 13: NAPLAN 2008/2011 –14 Numeracy comparative data: Queensland state school Indigenous students, all Queensland 
Indigenous and all Australian Indigenous KPI   

 
 
Source: Data is drawn from NAPLAN – National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy National Report  

Figures 14-16 show the percentage of students at or above the NMS in reading, writing and numeracy in the 
following categories: Queensland Indigenous students, Australian Indigenous students, all Queensland 
students and all Australian students 

Figure 14: NAPLAN 2008/2011–2014 Reading comparative data: Queensland Indigenous, Australian Indigenous, all Queensland and 
all Australian students KPI  
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Figure 15: NAPLAN 2011–2014 Persuasive Writing comparative data: Queensland Indigenous, Australian Indigenous, all Queensland 
and all Australian students  KPI  

 
 
Figure 16: NAPLAN 2008/2011–14 Numeracy comparative data: Queensland Indigenous, Australian Indigenous, all Queensland and 
all Australian students  KPI  

 

 
Source: Data is drawn from NAPLAN – National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy National Report 
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The Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA), the Trends in International Mathematics and 
Science Study (TIMSS), the Progress in International Reading Literacy Study (PIRLS) and the International 
Computer and Information Literacy Study (ICILS) provide information about Queensland's relative 
performance internationally, and against other Australian jurisdictions. 
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Every three years, PISA collects information on the achievement of a sample of students aged 15 years, and 
contextual information about the students, teachers and schools. It is part of an ongoing Organisation for 
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) program of monitoring and reporting trends in 
performance over time. The PISA assessment domains are mathematical literacy, reading literacy and 
scientific literacy, with an assessment focus in 2012 of mathematical literacy. Approximately 7,200 
Queensland students from 132 schools participated, the fifth time Queensland has participated in these 
triennial tests. Queensland’s rank among Australian jurisdictions using the average scores was fourth in both 
mathematical literacy and science literacy, and fifth in reading literacy. The proportion of Queensland 
students performing at or above proficiency level five was 15 per cent for mathematical literacy, 12 per cent 
for scientific literacy and 11 per cent for reading literacy. In 2012, two additional PISA assessments of 
problem solving and financial literacy were conducted. Queensland’s rank in problem solving using average 
scores was fifth, and 16 per cent achieved at or above proficiency level five. There is no jurisdictional 
analysis information available for financial literacy. 

TIMSS and PIRLS are designed to inform educational policy and practice, and to provide an international 
perspective on teaching and learning in each of the respective assessment domains. For TIMSS, this is 
mathematics and science at Year 4 and Year 8, conducted every four years. PIRLS measures reading 
performance at Year 4, which is conducted every five years. In TIMSS 2011, 65 per cent and 66 per cent of 
Year 4 students achieved the intermediate benchmark in mathematics and science respectively, while for 
Year 8 students, the intermediate benchmark was achieved by 58 per cent of students in mathematics and 
69 per cent in science. In PIRLS 2011, 70 per cent of students achieved the intermediate benchmark in 
reading. 

ICILS is the first international comparative study of student preparedness for study, work and life in the 
information age. Year 8 students from approximately 320 schools across Australia participated in the ICILS 
testing for the first time in November 2013. Approximately 5320 students across 50 Queensland schools 
were sampled in this assessment. The 2013 ICILS report was released in November 2014 and reported 
Australia’s rank as second out of the 14 countries that meet the sampling requirements. Queensland’s rank 
among Australian jurisdictions using the average score was eighth and was equal to Germany, the sixth 
highest ranking nation. There are five nationally agreed proficiency levels, ranging from the lowest level, 
‘Below Level 1’ to the highest level, ‘Level 4’. Queensland had the lowest proportion of students achieving at 
Levels 3 and 4 (27 per cent) compared to 34 per cent for the nation. 

Senior schooling 

School education: Years 10 to 12 

Queensland’s compulsory schooling requirement means that all young people must remain in school until 
they finish Year 10 or turn 16 years of age, whichever comes first. The compulsory participation phase 
requires all young Queenslanders to be engaged in education or training for a further two years or until they 
have attained one of the following: 

• the age of 17 years  
• a QCE, Queensland Certificate of Individual Achievement (QCIA) or Senior Statement 
• a Certificate III vocational qualification (or higher). 

Young people who are working at least 25 hours a week can leave education or training to enter the 
workforce during this period. Queensland's compulsory participation requirement meets the strengthened 
participation requirements mandated at a national level through the National Partnership Agreement on 
Youth Attainment and Transitions. To support the compulsory participation phase, the department provides 
young people with opportunities to set education and career goals, and to work towards those goals in a 
broad range of education settings, including school, TAFE and other training. 

In Queensland, as part of the commitment to improving young people's attainment and transitions, 15- to 
19-year-olds not at school are entitled to a government-subsidised training place (subject to admission 
requirements and course availability). The department remains committed to improving young people's 
attainment and transitions to ensure that education and training entitlements, such as subsidised training 
places, are accessed by young people.  

The number of students enrolled in Years 10 to 12 in state schools increased by 1.9 per cent between 2012 
and 2014, to 102,204 full-time students in 2014. There have been steady increases in recent years, with 
students enrolled in Years 10 to 12 increasing by 4.1 per cent since 2009. 
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The apparent retention rate of students from Years 10 to 12 is demonstrated in Figure 17. The apparent 
retention rates are a broad but limited indicator of young people's participation in secondary school education 
or its equivalent. It is only one measure of positive engagement for young people, who may choose to 
participate in a range of school, training or work options. The 2014, Year 10 to 12 apparent retention rate for 
all Queensland schools (85.9 per cent) was higher than for Australia overall (82.5 per cent). In 2014, the 
apparent retention rate for female students in Years 10 to 12 in all Queensland schools was higher, at 87.6 
per cent, than male students, at 84.2 per cent. In Queensland, 60.5 per cent of Year 10 to 12 students 
attended a state school. 

Figure 17: Apparent retention rates of Queensland and Australian students in Years 10 to 12, 2009–14 

 
 
Source: ABS, Schools, Australia 
 
Note: 
• Queensland state and non-state school students compared with Australian state and non-state school students. 

Indigenous participation at school 

The department is committed to closing the gap in Year 12 or equivalent attainment, and has strategies to 
retain Indigenous senior students at school. Figure 18 demonstrates that the Queensland Indigenous student 
Year 10 to 12 apparent retention rate of 70.5 per cent in 2014 was still above the national figure of 60.4 per 
cent. The number of Queensland Indigenous young people in Years 10 to 12 in 2014 increased by more 
than 500 students, when compared to the previous year. 
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Figure 18: Apparent retention rates for Indigenous students in Years 10 to 12 in Queensland and Australia, 2009–14  

 
 
Source: ABS, Schools, Australia 
 
Note: 
• Queensland state and non-state school Indigenous students compared with Australian state and non-state school Indigenous 

students. 

School-based apprenticeships and traineeships 

School-based apprenticeships and traineeships (SATs) support student career choices and are available in a 
range of fields, including primary industries, retail, business, aged care, construction, engineering, health, 
hospitality, tourism, automotive and arts. SATs provide high school students, typically in Years 11 and 12, 
with: 

• a pathway to transition from school to employment after school  
• the opportunity to incorporate employment with training towards a recognised qualification 
• credit towards their QCE. 

Many students can complete a school-based traineeship while at school, depending on the vocational 
qualification and when they commence. A school-based apprenticeship allows students to achieve up to 
one-third of an apprenticeship while at school, providing a head start into a full-time or part-time 
apprenticeship and trade career. National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER) figures reflect 
that Queensland continues to be a national leader in the uptake of SATs. Queensland consistently accounts 
for around half of all SAT commencements in Australia. The number of SAT commencements in Queensland 
is projected to be 8000 in 2014–15. 
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Figure 19: Number of school-based apprenticeship and traineeship commencements 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training 
 
Notes: 
• Includes only new commencements. 
• The 2014–15 data are projected results. 

In 2014, 13.5 per cent of students had completed or were completing a SAT at the end of Year 12. This 
represented an increase on the 2013 figure of 11.4 per cent of Year 12 students.  

Figure 20: Number of school-based apprenticeship and traineeship completions KPI
 

 
 
Source: Department of Education and Training 
 
Notes: 
• The 2014–15 data are projected results. 
• Completions are for those who commenced training as a SAT. 
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Figure 21 shows the percentage of Queensland students completing Year 12 with a VET qualification has 
trended upwards over the past six years, from 56.9 per cent in 2009 to 63.2 per cent in 2014. However, from 
2013 to 2014, there was a decline of 4.1 percentage points. 

Figure 21: Proportion of Year 12 Queensland students with a VET qualification 

 
Source: Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority (as at 19 February 2015) 

The proportion of Queensland 20- to 24-year-olds who completed Year 12 (or equivalent) or attained a 
Certificate II or above decreased from 87.6 per cent in 2013 to 85.0 per cent in 2014 (see Figure 22). Given 
the margin of error these results are statistically similar to the Australian figures over the same period (85.9 
per cent to 86.3 per cent).  

Figure 22: Proportion of 20- to 24-year-olds having attained Year 12 or equivalent or Certificate II or above  

 
Source: ABS Education and Work Australia May 2014 (Catalogue No. 6227.0) (Additional Datacube) 
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Indigenous school-based apprenticeships and traineeships 

SATs continue to provide valuable learning opportunities for Indigenous students, supporting pathways to 
employment or further education and training. Figure 23 shows that a projected 680 Indigenous students will 
have commenced a SAT in 2014–15, which is 40.9 per cent less than the 1150 commencements in 2010–
11. The number of SATs completed by Indigenous students in 2014–15 is displayed in Figure 24. 

Figure 23: Number of Indigenous school-based apprenticeship and traineeship commencements 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 
Notes: 
• Includes only new commencements 
• The 2014–15 data are projected results.  
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Figure 24: Number of Indigenous school-based apprenticeship and traineeship completions 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training 
 
Notes: 
• Completions are for those who commenced training as a SAT. 
• The 2014–15 data are projected results. 

Proportion of Year 12 students awarded Certification 

The QCE is Queensland’s senior schooling qualification administered by the QCAA. The QCE offers 
flexibility in students’ learning options, including: 

• senior school subjects 
• VET 
• SATs 
• recognised workplace and community learning 
• university subjects undertaken while at school. 

The QCE provides young people with a valuable passport to further education, training and employment. 
The QCE indicates to employers that an individual has achieved a significant amount of learning at a set 
standard and a pattern which meets literacy and numeracy requirements. 

In 2014, 91.3 per cent of all Year 12 students were awarded a QCE (see Table 8) KPI. 

Table 8: Proportion of all Queensland students awarded a Queensland Certificate of Education by the end of Year 12 KPI
 

Measure 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 
State school students awarded a QCE by the end of 
Year 12 

75.2% 79.5% 82.5% 86.3% 90.7% 

All students awarded a QCE by the end of Year 12 81.0% 84.0% 86.1% 88.6% 91.3% 
Source: Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority (as at 16 June 2015) 
 
Notes: 
• Proportion of Year 12 students awarded ‘Certification’ will replace (1) the ‘Proportion of Year 12 students awarded a QCE and (2) 

the ‘Number of students awarded a QCIA’. The new measure is more inclusive: it represents the number of students that were 
awarded either a QCE or a QCIA as a proportion of the number of Year 12 students. 

The QCIA recognises and reports the learning achievements of students who have completed at least 12 
years of education. The certificate provides students with impairments or difficulties in learning with a 
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summary of their skills and knowledge that they can present to employers and training providers. In 2014, 
644 state school students received a QCIA. 

Year 12 outcomes 

The 2014 Year 12 outcomes report, released by the QCAA, shows that Queensland’s Year 12 students are 
completing high school with the skills and qualifications to follow rewarding work, further education and 
training pathways. In 2014, 96.0 per cent of Year 12 students in state schools were completing or completed 
a SAT or were awarded QCE, International Baccalaureate Diploma (IBD) or VET qualifications, compared 
with 95.9 per cent for all schools KPI. 

Overall Positions (OPs) provide a statewide rank order of students from 1 (highest) to 25 (lowest). OPs show 
how well students have performed in their senior studies when compared with the performances of all other 
OP-eligible students in Queensland. The IBD is an internationally recognised pre-university level qualification 
that allows subjects to be accelerated and graduating students to study at Australian tertiary institutes, as 
well as overseas universities. 

OPs and IBDs are used for entrance into tertiary education courses. In 2014, of all OP and IBD students, an 
increased percentage of 75.7 per cent at state schools achieved an OP of 1 to 15 or an IBD, compared with 
a steady percentage of 79.4 per cent at all schools. See Figure 25 KPI . 

Figure 25: Proportion of Year 12 Queensland OP-eligible or International Baccalaureate students with an OP 1 to 15 or an International 
Baccalaureate Diploma (state and all schools) KPI

 

 
 

Source: Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority (as at 16 June 2015) 
 
Note: 
• IBD award has only been included in this data since 2008. 

Using Year 12 state school student outcomes as a measure, in 2013, the gap between Indigenous and non-
Indigenous Year 12 students who received an OP, QCE, QCIA, IBD or VET qualification, or who undertook a 
SAT, was 5.4 per cent. In 2014, the equivalent gap was 3.4 per cent, indicating that this gap has narrowed 
recently KPI. 

Senior assessment and tertiary entrance review 

In June 2013, the department engaged the Australian Council of Educational Research (ACER) to conduct a 
major independent review of Queensland senior assessment and reporting and OP tertiary entrance 
arrangements. ACER’s final report was published on 28 September 2014. The independent reviewers 
recommended a number of new proposals designed to meet the needs of an evolving twenty-first century 
educational environment. The report will inform a Queensland Government position on future senior 
assessment and tertiary entrance arrangements. 
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Queensland Year 12 destinations 

The department undertakes the Next Step survey of students who completed Year 12 during the previous 
year from state, Catholic and independent schools. Results identify the future employment, study and life 
choices that these students are making. The results of the survey also give an insight into how well schools 
are preparing students for adult life, and help to formulate policy and develop services. The survey showed 
86.9 per cent of young Queenslanders were engaged in education, training or employment six months after 
completing Year 12 in 2013 KPI. 

Figure 26: Main destinations of Year 12 completers, Queensland, 2010–14  

 

Source: 2010–2014 Next Step survey 
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Figure 27: Proportion of students who, six months after completing Year 12, were participating in education, training or employment  KPI 

 
Source: 2010–2014 Next Step survey 
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Results of the Next Step survey provide information about post-school destinations of Indigenous students 
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Figure 28: Main destinations of Indigenous Year 12 completers, Queensland, 2010–14 

 
Source: 2010–2014 Next Step survey 

Student support 

Inclusive education 

Inclusive education ensures that schools are supportive and engaging places for all school community 
members. It builds communities that value, celebrate and respond to diversity. It is underpinned by respectful 
relationships between learners and school community members. It is supported by student-centred 
collaborative relationships with parents and communities through communication, learning partnerships, 
participation and consultative decision-making.  

Inclusive education means that every day in every classroom, every state school student is learning and 
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• provides high-quality education for all students  
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• views difference as a resource to support learning  
• ensures that all school community members feel safe and free from discrimination, bias and 
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• promotes locally negotiated responses to student, family and community needs through effective 

community engagement processes and cross-agency collaboration 
• ensures that inclusive education practices are embedded in all departmental policies and 

initiatives.  

Students with disability 

The department ensures that all students with disability can access and participate in high-quality education. 
A broad range of support services, including specialist teachers and teacher aides, therapy, nursing and 
guidance services are available in primary, secondary and special schools. 
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Targeted funding is allocated to schools not directly to students, and principals are responsible for the 
resources provided to support educational programs of all students in their school.  

To support schools to identify and address barriers to student learning, the More Support for Students with 
Disabilities National Partnership has developed the Quality Schools, Inclusive Leaders (QSIL) program to 
deliver capability development for principals and school leadership teams that focuses on whole-school 
inclusive practices including: 

• school-wide consistency of curriculum and pedagogical practices that best cater for students 
with disability  

• capability of school leaders to instructionally lead all processes of adjusted learning for all 
students 

• understanding and application of Disability Standards for Education, 2005 (DSE) 
• provision of meaningful and continuous learning engagement for all students as a key strategy to 

enhance school-wide standards of behaviour. 

As Table 9 demonstrates, the department supports a growing number of students with disability each year. 

Table 9: Summary data – students with disability 
Students with disability 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Number of students with disability1 identified as 
needing specialist support enrolled in state 
primary and secondary schools 

21 334 22 568 23 423 24 097 26 947 

Number of students in special schools2 3 521 3 677 3 796 3 951 4209 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 
Notes: 
1. Full-time enrolments as at November of each year. 
2. Includes Prep students attending a special school. 
 
Table 10: Summary data – schools supporting students with disability 

Students with disability 2011 2012 2013 20142 2015 
Number of state schools providing special 
education programs (SEP)1   

567 600 609 617 630 

Number of state schools and campuses 
supported through SEPs (stand-alone and 
cluster arrangements) 

942 986 1057 1063 1061 

Number of state special schools3  43 43 43 43 43 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 
Notes: 
1. Schools with multiple SEPs have been counted only once. Special schools that also provide a SEP are not included in the ‘Number 

of state schools providing SEP’ figure (in 2014 there are 12 such special schools).  
2. Official school counts are reported in August of each year. The 2014 count is a preliminary figure as at 16 May 2014. 
3. During 2010, the Mater Hospital School, the Royal Brisbane Hospital School, the Barrett Adolescent Centre and the Tennyson 

Special School, previously classified as special schools, were reclassified as special purpose schools. This reduced the special 
school count by four. The 43 special schools include Innisfail State College - Diverse Learning Centre, a special campus of Innisfail 
State College. 

Youth Support Coordinator Initiative 

The Queensland Government supports all young people to complete their education in order to enhance 
opportunities for further education and sustainable employment. The Youth Support Coordinator Initiative 
supports at-risk secondary school students to stay at school or make a successful transition to further 
education, training or employment. 

Students in out-of-home care 

The department makes a significant contribution to the wellbeing of students in out-of-home care who can 
face additional challenges in their schooling. The Department of Communities, Child Safety and Disability 
Services provides some additional funding under the Education Support Funding Program to improve the 
educational outcomes of students in out-of-home care. Departmental staff work cooperatively with the 
student, child safety officers, carers, specialist support staff and others with an interest in the wellbeing of 
individual students to develop education support plans. The department has provided enhanced functionality 
in OneSchool for the recording and tracking of students in out-of-home care that require an education 
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support plan and is working with the Department of Communities, Child Safety and Disability Services to 
improve the quality and timeliness of the information recorded.  

Support for students from English as an additional language or dialect backgrounds 

English as an additional language or dialect (EAL/D) students are those whose main language of proficiency 
is a language or dialect other than Standard Australian English (SAE), and who require additional support to 
assist them to develop proficiency in SAE. The department’s P–12 curriculum, assessment and reporting 
framework specifies how schools provide for EAL/D students by: 

• identifying and monitoring their development of English language proficiency  
• supporting their learning as specified in a whole-school approach to student learning. 

In 2014–15, the department provided more than 235 FTE teachers and almost 3145 teacher aide hours per 
week to support EAL/D students.  

The department recognises that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students are often learners of SAE as 
a second language. The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Languages Statement supports schools to 
understand and value the language backgrounds of Indigenous students in our schools. The statement 
recognises that an increased awareness of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students' languages will 
contribute towards greater learning outcomes for students.  

The After Hours Ethnic Schooling (AHES) program is managed by the department and consists of 
community-based, not-for-profit organisations which provide classes in a number of community languages 
and cultures that make up Queensland’s multicultural diversity. The AHES program is recognised as a 
complementary provider of language education. In 2014, there were 33 funded AHES establishments 
teaching 15 languages to 3697 students. In 2015, there are 32 funded AHES establishments teaching 16 
languages to 4488 students. 

Isolated students (distance education) 

Half of Queensland's state schools are located in rural and remote areas. These schools cater for 
approximately one-quarter of all students in the public education system. The department supports students 
from regional and remote Queensland areas through innovative delivery models and options, such as: 

• seven state schools of distance education (SDE) 
• digitised workbooks that can be used in hardcopy, offline and online, including delivery through 

student courses available through 24/7 access to The Learning Place 
• The Learning Place, which provides all staff and students with 24/7 access to a range of 

innovative eSpaces, web tools and high-quality educational resources 
• regional technology managers. 

Australian Curriculum resources have been adapted by the SDE for use by distance education teachers and 
home tutors to use with their students. These independent learning materials are specifically designed to be 
self-contained to support online or offline usage by SDE students, parents and home tutors. These materials 
have been updated to include guide sheets to support home tutors with the ‘new’ language of the Australian 
Curriculum, step-by-step instructions and answer sheets to model appropriate student responses. They also 
identify core and non-core activities to enable delivery of the required content within a given timeframe. 

Youth in detention centres 

The department provides education and training programs to students in youth detention centres, including 
VET courses. 

Home education 

Home education is a recognised and lawful alternative for educating children in Queensland. At the 2014 
August census, there were 1379 children registered for home education. Further information about home 
education in Queensland is available at www.education.qld.gov.au/parents/home-education/index.html.  
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International engagement 

The Department of Education and Training International branch has continued to mitigate external pressures 
affecting international education and training to remain competitive in the current global financial 
environment by delivering high-quality programs. During 2014–15, the department: 

• supported EAL/D needs of international students by delivering approximately $2.085 million in 
funding to Queensland state schools  

• attained an overall 97 per cent satisfaction rate in 2014 from full-fee-paying international 
students in state schools regarding overall study experience  

• enrolled 1575 international FTE students holding a 571 Student Visa in Queensland state 
schools. These students participated in Education Queensland International (EQI) programs 
across the state 

• enrolled 1161 FTE dependants of adult students studying in Queensland training and higher 
education institutions in Queensland state schools  

• secured 20 long term (one year) study abroad students from Ritsumeikan School, Japan 
• secured an intercontinental video conferencing pilot program between three Japanese schools 

with counterpart Queensland state schools (Cavendish Road State High School, Robina State 
High School and Kelvin Grove State College) 

• successfully partnered with Austrade Thailand to secure a student exchange program between 
Corinda State High School and the Kajonkietsuksa School in Phuket, Thailand 

• held the largest share of Australia’s international school market for its International Student 
program for Germany (61.5 per cent), Italy (50.7 per cent), Brazil (64.5 per cent), Norway (80.7 
per cent), and Mexico (59 per cent) as compared to other private and public education providers 
in Queensland and other states (Source: Australian Education International year-to-date 
international student enrolment data – May 2015).  

Study tours and professional visit programs 

Professional visit programs provide an opportunity for international delegates to obtain professional and 
educational knowledge, to increase career potential, as well as professional and personal growth. These 
visits provide an excellent opportunity for networking with Queensland professionals who demonstrate 
world’s best practice. From 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015, Education Queensland International (EQI) hosted 
109 groups incorporating 1432 international delegates from 14 different countries under EQI professional 
visit programs. From 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015, EQI hosted 431 groups incorporating 11,847 international 
program participants from nine different countries under EQI study tour programs. 

 
Great people 

Principals’ Capability and Leadership Framework 

The department’s Principals' Capability and Leadership Framework describes the leadership knowledge, 
skills and behaviours required of principals to effectively lead an explicit school improvement agenda in 
Queensland small, medium and large schools. 

A trial of the principal and deputy principal’s annual performance review process is taking place in term two 
2015, with full implementation to occur in term three 2015. The annual performance review process for 
principals and deputy principals has undergone significant consultation with the Queensland Teachers’ 
Union. 

                                  Targeted strategies 
Build principal leadership capability by providing differentiated coaching for 
principals and more regular feedback 

Lift the quality of instruction by supporting teachers to understand their practice 
through professional feedback, rewarding high performance and encouraging 
collaboration 

 Great  
people 
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Great teachers = Great results 

Great teachers = Great results was a five-year action plan introduced by the former Queensland Government 
for Queensland schools which aimed to build on the strength of Queensland’s existing school funding model 
and focus on the most important piece of the education system – our teachers. The plan focused on two 
areas:  

• professional excellence in teaching – elevating teaching standards across the board, rewarding 
high performance and positioning the highest-performing teachers where they are needed most 

• boosting school autonomy – empowering and enabling school leaders and teachers to drive 
outcomes for students, including stronger discipline. 

A modified program remains active under the current government to support the development and capability 
of our teachers and school leaders.  

The modified program includes: 

• introducing an accredited mentor program for beginning teachers to learn from experienced 
high-performing teachers in the classroom 

• introducing a structured Annual Performance Review (APR) process to ensure every school 
teacher and leader is performing at their best 

• creating 300 new master teacher positions to ensure quality teachers are working where they  
are needed most 

• providing master teachers in primary schools with an early years resource package to boost 
literacy and numeracy outcomes 

• enhancing disciplinary powers across the state schooling system and developing implementing 
an action plan to strengthen discipline in state schools. 

During 2014-15 the department: 

• commenced implementation and use of the APR process for teachers, aligned closely to the 
Australian Professional Standards for Teachers 

• completed a trial in approximately three schools in each region for phase one of the APR 
process for principals and deputy principals 

• developed eight Foundation Leadership Development Guides designed to support current and 
aspiring principals engaging in the APR process to develop leadership capability 

• trained more than 1300 teachers as mentors for beginning teachers  
• matched all beginning teachers with mentors 
• had more than 300 master teachers working across the state to research and identify high-yield 

strategies for teaching literacy and numeracy 
• amended legislation to increase principal powers and streamline disciplinary processes. 

 
Engaged partners 

Parent and community engagement 

The Parent and Community Engagement Framework continues to guide schools in planning and monitoring 
their parent and community engagement. The framework supports schools at the local level to communicate 
and actively engage with parents and community members to improve learning outcomes for students. The 
framework is available online at www.education.qld.gov.au/schools/parent-community-engagement-
framework/.  

                                  Targeted strategies 
Empower families to be engaged in their child’s learning and the school 
community by improving access to information about their child and their 
school 

Develop partnerships that contribute to improving student engagement and 
learning outcomes  

Build autonomy by strengthening engagement with school communities in local 
decision-making  

 

Engaged 
partners 
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Working with the non-state education sector 

The non-state education sector is an essential part of Queensland's education system. It offers Queensland 
students and parents a diverse choice of educational philosophies and religious affiliations. The department 
maintains strong links and works collaboratively with the non-state sector in key schooling areas, such as: 

• implementing the Australian Curriculum 
• implementing the transfer of Year 7 to secondary 
• administering recurrent and capital funding to the non-state sector, which includes non-state 

schools and community-based organisations for students with special needs  
• monitoring and developing policy and legislation that underpins the sector's sustainability  
• providing secretariat support to the Non-State Schools Accreditation Board in accrediting and 

monitoring non-state schools 
• providing secretariat support to the Non-State Schools Eligibility for Government Funding 

Committee to enable the committee to perform its statutory functions, including making 
recommendations to the Minister on non-state school eligibility for government funding.  

Non-state education students 

During 2014, the non-state school sector supported approximately one-third of Queensland’s school 
students. See Table 11 for the number of students attending Queensland non-state schools. Through 
participation in the cyclical review program, usually once every five years, non-state schools are able to 
demonstrate their compliance with statutory requirements for accreditation. Further details about non-state 
schools, and the cyclical review process, are available through the independent Non-State Schools 
Accreditation Board annual report. 

Table 11: Number of students in Queensland non-state schools 

Students in Queensland non-state schools 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Primary (Prep–Year 7) 131 443 135 099 139 105 142 023 143 992 

Secondary (Year 8–Year 12) 107 715 109 035 110 564 112 444 113 816 

Total  239 158 244 134 249 669 254 467 257 808 

Source: ABS, Schools, Australia 
 
Note: 
1. Primary and secondary enrolments include ungraded students. Full-time enrolments as at August of each year. 

 

 
High standards 

School Curriculum 

Australian Curriculum 

The Australian Curriculum sets out the core knowledge, understanding, skills and general capabilities 
important for all Australian students. Throughout 2014–15, the department worked closely with the QCAA 
and all schooling sectors to plan, prepare and support the implementation of the Australian Curriculum in all 
Queensland schools, from Prep to Year 10.  

In 2014–15, support for all Queensland schools to implement the Australian Curriculum was provided 
through the Curriculum into the Classroom curriculum planning and support package consisting of:  

                                    Targeted strategies 
Improve learning outcomes through consistent curriculum and analysis of 
student data to inform whole-of-school and individual improvement strategies  

Use external review to inform the support and intervention needed to lift 
performance of schools and the system 

Review the state school resourcing framework to support autonomy and focus 
on learning outcomes 

Provide safe and supportive learning environments for staff and students  

 
High 

standards 
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• whole school plans, year level plans, unit plans and lesson plans, along with assessment tasks, 
marking guides, model responses and resources for teachers and students 

• examples of multi-level planning materials  
• examples of Prep to Year 2 curriculum planning and classroom practice materials to support 

students with disability. 

In 2015–16, further support will be provided for schools to implement additional aspects of the Australian 
Curriculum.  

Queensland Curriculum  

During the transition to the Australian Curriculum, Queensland teachers continue to teach, assess and report 
using the Queensland Curriculum for Australian Curriculum learning areas that schools have not yet 
implemented.  

Daniel Morcombe Child Safety Curriculum 

The department, in partnership with the Daniel Morcombe Foundation, developed the Daniel Morcombe 
Child Safety Curriculum. The curriculum is aligned with existing curriculum frameworks and was developed in 
collaboration with stakeholders including Queensland Child Safety Ambassadors Bruce and Denise 
Morcombe. The curriculum consists of classroom lessons across three phases of learning: Prep to Year 2, 
Years 3 to 6 and Years 7 to 9. It is available to all Queensland schools and aims to teach children about 
personal safety and awareness, including cybersafety and phone safety, by focusing on three key safety 
messages: recognise, react and report. 

Further information about the curriculum, including resources for parents, is available on the department’s 
website at www.education.qld.gov.au/parents/school-life/child-safety-curriculum.html. 

P–12 curriculum, assessment and reporting framework 

The P–12 curriculum, assessment and reporting framework specifies the expectations for Queensland state 
schools in providing curriculum, assessment and reporting.  

The framework reflects the state schools' strategy for 2014 to 2018, Every student succeeding, as part of a 
commitment to provide a world-class education for all students. It is based on the assumption that every 
student can learn and that responding to the particular learning needs of students is central to teaching. The 
framework is a key reference for all state school principals, staff and school communities. It is accompanied 
by supporting documents that inform schools' delivery of a quality curriculum that optimises learning for all 
students from Prep to Year 12. 

In 2014–15, the framework outlined the expectations for implementing the Australian Curriculum and 
providing the remaining Queensland Curriculum in Prep to Year 10, and for providing the Queensland 
Curriculum in Years 11 and 12. 

Teaching and Learning Audits and Discipline Audits 

In 2014, the department conducted Teaching and Learning Audits in 1065 Queensland state educational 
institutions. To ensure a consistent and evidence-based audit process, the Teaching and Learning Audit and 
Discipline Audit instruments, were used to provide high-quality feedback on key curriculum, teaching, 
learning and assessment practices in each school.  

In 2015, Teaching and Learning Audits and Discipline Audits have been superseded by the work of the 
School Improvement Unit. 

School Improvement Unit 

The School Improvement Unit was formed in October 2014 and commenced its program of four-yearly 
tailored, school reviews in Term 1 2015, following a series of trials. Using the National School Improvement 
Tool review teams undertake data analysis and fieldwork in order to assess current activity and suggest 
areas of future school improvement.  
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In Term 1 and Term 2, 171 school reviews were completed. Over this same period the School Improvement 
Unit also trained 321 principals as school reviewers, engaging over 100 in school reviews. 

The school review findings are being used across the system: by schools, to inform their school improvement 
journey and four-year planning process; by regions, to better assist individual schools and inform decisions 
around region-wide support services; and by the system to gather and share effective practice, and inform 
decisions around system-wide support services. 

Positive schools and students 

Strengthening discipline in schools 

All students have a right to learn in classrooms free from disruption and poor behaviour and teachers a right 
to teach in a safe and supportive school environment. The department ensures that Queensland state 
schools provide positive, safe and supportive learning environments for all students and staff.  

In 2014–15 principals worked with teachers, parents and school communities to establish high expectations 
and undertake targeted interventions, where required. At times, state schools use school disciplinary 
measures (suspensions, exclusions and cancellations of enrolment) to address unacceptable student 
behaviour. Queensland state schools record any unacceptable behaviour that results in a School Disciplinary 
Absence (SDA). Table 12 provides a summary of state SDAs during 2014. 

Table 12: School disciplinary absences by reason of absence, 2014 

Reason 
  

Short suspension Long suspension Exclusion Cancellation Charge suspension 

Total 
incidents  

Avg. rate 
per 1000 
students 
per term 

Total 
incidents  

Avg. rate 
per 1000 
students 
per term 

Total 
incidents  

Avg. rate 
per 1000 
students 
per term 

Total 
incidents  

Avg. rate 
per 1000 
students 
per term 

Total 
incidents  

Avg. rate 
per 1000 
students 
per term 

Absences 799 0.4 14 0.0 9 0.0 - - 0 0.0 

Other conduct 
prejudicial to 
the good 
order and 
management 
of the school 
(including 
serious 
conduct) 9218 4.4 492 0.2 304 0.1 - - 6 0.0 
Persistently 
disruptive 
behaviour 
adversely 
affecting 
others 5710 2.7 167 0.1 116 0.1 - - 0 0.0 
Physical 
misconduct 20 262 9.7 734 0.4 409 0.2 - - 2 0.0 
Property 
misconduct 3444 1.7 151 0.1 92 0.0 - - 0 0.0 

Refusal to 
participate in 
the program 
of instruction 3727 1.8 55 0.0 26 0.0 1901 0.9 0 0.0 
Substance 
misconduct 
involving an 
illicit 
substance 334 0.2 238 0.1 423 0.2 - - 1 0.0 
Substance 
misconduct 
involving 
tobacco and 
other legal 
substances 2117 1.0 86 0.0 39 0.0 - - 0 0.0 

Verbal or 
non-verbal 
misconduct 12 736  6.1 284 0.1 107 0.1 - - 0 0.0 

All reasons 58 347 28.0 2221 1.1 1525 0.7 1901 0.9 9 0.0 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
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Notes: 
• School disciplinary absence (SDA) rates of less than 0.05 are rounded to 0.0. 
• A dash (-) indicates that a reason is not applicable to the SDA type. 
• The SDA data presented comprises the total of short suspensions (1–5 days), long suspensions (6–20 days), suspensions with 

recommendation for exclusion, and cancellations of enrolment. 
• The enrolments used to calculate the SDA rates for 2013 were based on February, August and November 2013 enrolment data.  
• The information is displayed in terms of aggregate incident counts and the average rate of SDAs per 1000 students per term. The 

data does not represent the outcomes of any related appeal decisions.  
• Incidents: count of incidents resulting in an SDA during 2013. This does not represent the number of students who received a 

disciplinary absence as a student can receive more than one during the year. 
• Average rate per 1000 students per term: an effective average number of SDA incidents per 1000 students per term for the 

reporting period. Due to rounding, discrepancies may occur between sums of the component items and totals in the average rate 
per 1000 figures.  

Improving the educational environment and student wellbeing 

During 2014–15, the department continued to improve the educational environment, and student wellbeing, 
through implementing of the Learning and Wellbeing Framework for all Queensland state schools. The 
framework is available online at www.det.qld.gov.au/initiatives/learningandwellbeing/. 

Table 13 provides a summary of directives issued under the Education (General Provisions) Act 2006. 

Table 13: Summary of directions and orders – Queensland schools 

Type of direction or order 

Directions or orders 
given to personnel 
other than children  

2014–15 

Directions or orders 
given to children 

2014–15 

State and non -state schools  

Prohibition from entering premises of all state educational institutions and non-
state schools for up to one year — section 352  

Nil Nil 

State schools  

Direction about conduct or movement — section 337 123 5 

Direction to leave and not re-enter — section 339 8 0 

Prohibition from entering premises for up to 60 days — section 340 14 0 

Prohibition from entering premises for more than 60 days but not more than one 
year — section 341 

1 0 

Review of direction — section 338:   

• the number of review applications made  5 2 

• the number of directions confirmed  4 2 

• the number of directions cancelled  1 0 

Prohibition from entering premises of all state education institutions for up to one 
year — section 353 

0 0 

Non-state schools   

Direction about conduct or movement — section 346 8 4 

Direction to leave and not re-enter — section 348 15 2 

Prohibition from entering premises for up to 60 days — section 349 6 0 

Prohibition from entering premises for more than 60 days but not more than one 
year — section 350 

1 0 

Review of direction — section 346–347: 0 0 

• the number of review applications made 0 0 

• the number of directions confirmed 0 0 

• the number of directions cancelled 0 0 

Source: Department of Education and Training  
 
Note: 
1. Sections refer to the Education (General Provisions) Act 2006, Chapter 12, Parts 6–8.  
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Independent Public Schools 

The Independent Public Schools (IPS) initiative aims to increase autonomy in decision making and remove 
layers of management to improve outcomes for students. In 2014, the department entered into a four-year 
IPS Agreement with the Australian Government. Under this agreement, 250 IPS will be established in 
Queensland by 2017 (120 state-funded and 130 co-funded). This agreement totals $12.88 million. 

Following an expression of interest process, 50 schools were selected to be IPS in 2015. The list of IPS is 
available online at www.education.qld.gov.au/schools/independent-public-schools/ips-schools.html#ips2015. 

 
 

Solid partners Solid futures 

In 2014–15 the department continued to deliver and expand on Solid partners Solid futures initiatives that 
benefit Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Queenslanders. The Queensland Government will develop and 
launch a new Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander education strategy and action plan in 2016. 

Solid partners Solid futures aimed to ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students were enrolled, 
engaged and achieving in school; and progressing at the same rate as non-Indigenous students. Significant 
actions continue to be implemented (details below). 

Solid Pathways 

Solid Pathways supports Queensland’s high-achieving Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students through 
school with a pathway to tertiary study. The program, currently being implemented in Metropolitan, Darling 
Downs South West, North Coast and South East regions, builds on reading and numeracy strengths of high 
achieving Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students, and in the Metropolitan Region, students in out-of-
home care through online weekly critical and creative thinking lessons, university experience days and 
university camps. 

Teaching Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander EAL/D learners Cross-jurisdictional Project  

Queensland continues to lead the Teaching Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander EAL/D learners Cross-
jurisdictional Project, a collaborative project with New South Wales, the Northern Territory and Western 
Australia. The project aims to support jurisdictions to build the capacity of teachers to effectively teach 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students who have a first language other than Standard Australian 
English (SAE) and who are in the process of developing proficiency in SAE (EAL/D learners). To date, 
Queensland has led the development of: 

• the Capability Framework – Teaching Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander EAL/D learners. The 
framework explicitly outlines the knowledge and practice that teachers need to teach these 
learners, and describes the practice across career stages, from graduate to lead teacher. It 
aligns with and supports implementation of the Australian Professional Standards for Teachers. 
The framework was launched at the buunji 2013 National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Education Conference 

• a national audit of programs and approaches for teaching Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
EAL/D learners. 

Queensland is also leading the preparation of the final deliverable under this project – a website that will 
provide information and resources to support teachers in using the capability framework. 

                                     Targeted strategies 
Monitor the progress of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students and 
proactively case manage students needing additional support  

Develop the skills and knowledge of our staff in culturally appropriate teaching 
and learning strategies  

Create learning partnerships between schools, parents and communities to meet 
student needs 

 
Solid partners 
Solid futures 
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Transition Support Service 

The Transition Support Service assists Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students to make the transition 
from the primary phase of schooling in their remote home communities to secondary schooling in large 
metropolitan or urban areas. The department supported students from Cape York and Palm Island while they 
studied away from home at secondary boarding schools. During 2014, more than 500 students were case 
managed by the Transition Support Service. In 2014, 133 Year 6 and 7 students gained placements and 
together with another 292 Year 8–12 students, were supported to transition to 30 partner boarding schools 
and residential facilities throughout Queensland. Of these students, 70 per cent were retained at boarding 
schools and 57 per cent of those who returned to their community were supported to re-engage in state 
schooling. Transition support officers assist students and their families to select, apply to and enrol at 
secondary school and assist students to manage transition challenges while attending boarding school. 

Strong futures for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students 

In 2014, just over 56,600 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander full-time students were enrolled in Queensland 
schools – which is nearly one-third (29.6 per cent) of Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander student 
population. More than three-quarters (83.9 per cent) of Queensland’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
full-time students were enrolled in Queensland state schools in 2014 – making up 9.2 per cent of all 
Queensland state school students. 

The number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students enrolled in Queensland state schools continues 
to increase. Over the past six years (from 2009 to 2014) Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander enrolments 
grew by 20.7 per cent, compared with 6.4 per cent for all students. In 2014, approximately 32,500 students 
(68.5 per cent) of state school Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students were enrolled in state primary 
year levels, and just over 14,600 students (30.8 per cent) were enrolled in state secondary year levels.  

There were just over 360 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students (0.8 per cent) enrolled in special 
schools. Queensland had the highest number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students enrolled in 
Year 12 state schools in Australia during 2014, with more than 1980 students. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Education Action Plan 

The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Education Action Plan 2010–2014 committed all governments in 
Australia to a unified approach to closing the gap in education outcomes between Indigenous and non-
Indigenous students. Under the action plan, each state and territory identified focus schools to ensure that 
those Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students most in need benefit from education reforms. There 
were 207 state focus schools identified in Queensland.  

A new national strategy will be developed during 2015. 

Indigenous Education Grants 

Indigenous Education Grants provide support to schools to implement the Closing the Gap Education 
Strategy. These grants are provided to support Indigenous school students to be enrolled, engaged and 
achieving in school and progressing at the same rate as non-Indigenous students.  

Cape York Aboriginal Australian Academy 

The Cape York Aboriginal Australian Academy is a unique partnership between Cape York Institute and the 
department to improve the educational outcomes of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students in three 
Cape York communities. The program has been extended until the end of 2015. 

 



Training and Skills   
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Our performance indicators 

• Participation and completions in training  
• Graduate and employer satisfaction  
• Graduates in employment or further education and training  
• Outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Queenslanders 

Service standards 

Table 14: Service standards – Training and skills 

Service standards Notes 
2014–15 

Target/est. Actual 

VET outcomes 

Proportion of all attempted competencies successfully completed KPI  90% 93.4% 

Proportion of Queenslanders with higher qualifications KPI 1,2 58% 59.1% 

Proportion of graduates in employment or further study KPI  1,3 87% 87.3% 

Number of completions KPI :     

• apprenticeships 4 11 000 11 300 

• traineeships 4 24 000 17 500 

• School-based Apprenticeships and Traineeships (SATs)  5 500 5 200 

Cost and satisfaction 

Proportion of graduates satisfied with the overall quality of their training KPI  1,3 89% 88.2% 

Proportion of employers satisfied with graduates of KPI : 1   

• nationally-accredited training  85% 81.2% 

• apprenticeships and traineeships  83% 77.8% 

Average cost per competency successfully completed KPI 5 $690 $496 

Source: Queensland State Budget 2014–15 Service Delivery Statements and State Training Agency Clearing House Database 
 
Notes: 
1. Confidence intervals for agreement estimates derived from sample survey responses need to be considered when interpreting 

relative performance. 
2. Sourced from the ABS Survey of Education and Work, Australia, 6227.01 - Table 1.11, Proportion of Persons with a Non-school 

qualification at Certificate III level or above, (persons aged 25–64 years) 2014. 
3. Sourced from the annual National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER) Student Outcomes Survey 2014. 
4. Apprenticeship and traineeship measures include school-based apprenticeships and traineeships (SATs). 
5. Variance between the 2014–15 target estimate and 2014–15 estimated actual is primarily due to a higher than expected number of 

successful competencies following implementation of contestability.  
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Our achievements 
 

 
Successful learners 

Developing skills is fundamental to Queensland's economic prosperity. It is a key driver of productivity and 
economic growth, and is central to shaping our human capital and community capacity.  

According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Survey of Education and Work, the proportion of 
Queenslanders aged 25 to 64 years with Certificate III or higher qualifications was 59.1 per cent in 2014, an 
increase from 54.1 per cent in 2010. 

Figure 29: Proportion of 25 to 64 year olds with Certificate III or higher qualifications 

 

Source: ABS Survey of Education and Work Australia 2014 6227.0 (Catalogue No. 62270) 

The department supports a range of programs to stimulate increased participation within the state’s VET 
sector. The 2014-15 Annual VET Investment Plan outlined the government’s $615 million investment in skills 
for priority industries through a suite of training programs. These include the User Choice program that 
supports apprenticeship and traineeship training; Certificate 3 Guarantee that enables eligible 
Queenslanders to gain their first post-school qualification; and Higher Level Skills program for individuals 
seeking to increase their skills through a priority certificate IV, diploma, advanced diploma or industry-
endorsed skills set. In 2014–15, the department increased the skills of around 256,300 Queenslanders. In 
addition, VET participation in schools can count towards a student’s QCE and encompasses a range of 
training options for school students in secondary school (Years 10 to 12), including: 

• courses delivered at school 
• SATs 
• courses offered at a TAFE institute or by another training organisation.  
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                                     Targeted strategies 
Deliver the Certificate 3 Guarantee providing access to subsidies for training up 
to and including the first Certificate III qualification in priority skilling areas  

Improve student choice through better information about training and career 
options to gain qualifications that lead directly to employment  

Support disadvantaged learners through the Community Learning Program 

 
Successful  

learners 
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In 2014–15, around 19,100 new apprenticeships are projected to have commenced in Queensland. This is 
substantially higher than the previous year, the level of commencements remains stronger than at any time 
before 2005–06, reflecting the impacts of changing economic conditions.  

Queensland’s apprenticeship and traineeship activity continues to compare favourably with the nation as a 
whole. Queensland’s share of Australia’s apprentices and trainees is greater than its share of national 
employment, and has been for over 10 years. Additionally, there is around one apprentice employed for 
every eight tradespeople in Queensland, a ratio that is consistent with the national average. 

Figure 30: Number of apprentice and trainee commencements 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training – Contract of Training Database (DELTA) 
 
Notes: 
• The 2014–15 data are projected results. 
• Apprenticeships and traineeships include school-based apprenticeships and traineeships (SATs). 

In 2014–15, it is projected that 11,300 Queenslanders will have completed apprenticeships and 17,500 
Queenslanders will have completed traineeships.  

Figure 31: Number of apprentice and trainee completions KPI 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training – Contract of Training Database (DELTA) 
 
Notes: 
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• The 2014–15 data are projected results. 
• Apprenticeships and traineeships include school-based apprenticeships and traineeships (SATs). 

Vocational education and training reform 

Queensland is investing in skills and training that increases participation in the workforce and provides 
communities with the skills they need. In 2014–15, major initiatives include: 

• reinstated the Skilling Queenslanders for Work initiative 
• Restoring TAFE Queensland as the premier public provider of VET in Queensland  
• the launch of the Queensland Skills Gateway, a comprehensive new website which has made 

choosing a career, course and provider easier  
• the merger between Central Queensland University and the Central Queensland Institute of 

TAFE to establish the state’s first dual sector entity. 

Skilling Queenslanders for Work 

Skilling Queenslanders for Work represents an investment of $240 million over four years to support up to 
32,000 Queenslanders back into work through a suite of targeted skills and training programs. In 2015–16, 
$60 million will be available to provide skills, training and jobs for up to 8000 disadvantaged Queenslanders. 
There are six programs that make up the Skilling Queenslanders for Work initiative: 

• Community Work Skills – funding to community-based organisations and local councils to create 
jobs and deliver customised support and training services to gain nationally recognised skills and 
qualifications 

• Ready for Work – funding to community-based organisations and school parents and citizens’ 
and parents and friends’ associations to deliver basic job preparation and employability skills 
courses for up to six to eight weeks to unemployed youth aged 15-24 years 

• Get Set for Work – funding to community-based organisations to deliver intensive employment 
and training assistance over 12 months to 15- to 19-year-old early school leavers and 
disadvantaged youth 

• Youth Skills – funding to community-based organisations to assist 15- to 19-year-olds subject to 
court orders or bail to undertake nationally recognised training and provide integrated learner 
support 

• Work Start incentives – rewards private sector employers with a one-off $2000 payment, after a 
qualifying period, if they employ a Queenslander in an apprenticeship or traineeship who has 
participated in a Community Work Skills, Get Set for Work, Ready for Work or Youth Skills 
project 

• First Start – provides wage subsidies to local councils to employ additional trainees for  
12 months. 

Community Learning  

Community Learning was a strategic intervention program that provided a supported pathway for 
Queensland’s disadvantaged learners to participate in and complete vocational qualifications up to and 
including Certificate III. Community Learning has now ceased, with the Skilling Queenslanders for Work 
initiative providing targeted skills and training programs to assist disadvantaged learners.  

The program had a responsive funding model that supports partnerships between registered training 
organisations (RTOs) and community-based organisations. There have been two fully-contestable funding 
rounds for 2014-15. 

For 2014–15, 78 projects worth $10.6 million were approved to deliver supported training places to 5,094 
disadvantaged learners with approximately 60 per cent of participants gaining employment on completion. 
These projects use community-based training to deliver nationally recognised qualifications and 
competencies across Queensland in a diverse range of industries including: 

• community services  
• construction 
• primary industries 
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• transport and distribution 
• hospitality 
• retail and business. 

User Choice program 

The User Choice program provides a public funding contribution towards the cost of training and assessment 
for eligible Queensland apprentices and trainees. The program works in conjunction with the Commonwealth 
Australian Apprenticeships System, under which apprentices and trainees (also known in some jurisdictions 
as ‘Australian Apprentices’) enter into legally binding training contracts with their employers and receive 
structured training to achieve a nationally-recognised qualification. The Queensland User Choice program 
provides greater flexibility for apprentices, trainees and their employers to select a preferred RTO from a list 
of pre-qualified suppliers for the delivery of accredited training to meet their specific needs. 

Certificate 3 Guarantee 

The Certificate 3 Guarantee was introduced in 2014–15 and gives eligible Queenslanders the opportunity to 
complete their first post-school Certificate III qualification in a priority industry area to gain a job or improve 
their employment status. The Certificate 3 Guarantee gives students and employers more flexibility to 
choose a qualification and the provider that best meets their individual needs. 

VET graduate results 

Queensland's VET sector continues to strive to address the needs of Queensland's economy, achieving 
strong results in producing job-ready graduates. The VET system continued to deliver vocational programs 
that led to successful student outcomes, particularly the gaining of qualifications.  

Figure 32: Publicly-funded Australian Qualifications Framework Certificate I or above qualifications awarded 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training – Training System Information 
 
Note: 
• The dip in 2012–13 was associated with the cessation of National Partnership Productivity Places Program funding with no 

immediate replacement. 
• The increases in Certificate III qualifications for 2013–14 and 2014–15 is associated with the introduction of the Certificate 3 

Guarantee. 
 
Table 15: Total number of VET qualifications awarded – Certificate I or above qualification levels 

2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 2013–14 2014–15 

86 441 110 391 121 169 92 329 97 048 116 944 

Source: Department of Education and Training – Training System Information 
 
Note: 
• For consistency of reporting with other jurisdictions, the total number of VET qualifications awarded only includes Certificate I or 

above qualification levels. In annual reports prior to 2012–13, all reported completions, regardless of level (including those below 
Certificate I), were reported. 
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In 2014–15, 99,433 Certificate III and above qualifications were completed, an increase of nearly 27.0 per 
cent compared to the 78,276 completions reported in 2010–11 KPI. 

Supporting Women Scholarships 

The Supporting Women Scholarships program provided opportunities for women of all ages and 
backgrounds to gain qualifications in high priority and skills shortage areas that have been traditionally male-
dominated. The scholarships were available for VET and university study from the Certificate IV level through 
to postgraduate qualifications in the following fields: 

• agriculture and environmental studies 
• architecture and building 
• earth sciences 
• engineering 
• information technology. 

In 2014-15 $4.3 million was invested to support 256 successful scholarship recipients. 

The demand for scholarships has been overwhelming since the program’s implementation in 2012, with each 
funding round well oversubscribed. In total, 502 scholarships have been awarded over the course of three 
annual funding rounds, for funding totalling $8.306 million.  No further scholarships will be offered now that 
the programs’ target has been met. 

Industry Partnerships Strategy 

The Industry Partnerships Strategy was introduced in 2014–15 to provide an opportunity for industry and 
employers to partner with government to support the development of their existing or future workforce, and to 
address specific skills priorities that are not effectively delivered through the demand-driven skills market. 

In 2014–15, 17 projects were approved across the state with funding totalling $3.2 million to assist 2895 
participants across a range of industries, including Business Services, Community Services and 
Construction. 

Industry Pre-apprenticeship Program 

The Industry Pre-apprenticeship Program was introduced in 2014–15 to provide entry-level participants with 
industry endorsed training and support enabling them to transition into priority trade apprenticeships. 

In 2014–15, seven projects were approved with funding totalling $700,787 to support the training and 
transition of 337 participants. 

Trade Skills Assessment and Gap Training program 

The Trade Skills Assessment and Gap Training program was introduced in 2014–15 with the aim of 
developing the skills of experienced individuals who can demonstrate substantial competency in a chosen 
trade qualification, providing Queensland employers with further opportunities to capitalise on competitive 
local, national and global market conditions. 

In 2014–15, the department approved funding totalling $5.5 million for 15 pre-qualified suppliers to upskill 
1188 participants. 

Recognition of Prior Learning 

Recognising an individual's skills and experience using Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) assessment is 
one of the department's strategies to efficiently and effectively address Queensland's future skills needs. 
RPL and credit transfer are processes of qualifying individuals effectively, saving time and resources by 
negating the need for people to retrain in skills and knowledge they already possess. In 2014, 10.4 per cent 
of all full-year training equivalents in Queensland were assessed through RPL, up from 9.8 per cent in 2010. 
The Queensland proportion of RPL is 4.7 percentage points above the national average. 
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In July 2013, an online skills identification tool was also implemented to provide Queenslanders with a self-
guided tool that assists individuals to recognise and formalise their existing skills. In 2014, 5438 individuals 
accessed the new site and a total 1717 of these individuals completed the online process and downloaded a 
report that assists them to engage in a formal RPL process and move into further education and training.  

Apprenticeship Pledge 

The Queensland Apprenticeship Pledge (QAP) was implemented to promote additional apprenticeship 
opportunities.  The QAP was launched as an employer incentive scheme, with a target of 6000 additional 
apprenticeship opportunities to be pledged by employers.  

Funding of $36 million was allocated to provide incentive payments of up to $6000 to eligible employers for 
each additional apprentice taken on and retained. 

The target of 6000 new apprenticeship pledges was achieved at the end of 2014 and the incentive program 
has now been finalised.   

To complement the provision of incentives for employers to take on additional apprentices, a new payroll tax 
rebate was introduced from 1 July 2015 to make it more affordable for employers to hire an apprentice or 
trainee.  

Apprentice retention and completion 

The Vocational Education, Training and Employment Act 2000 was repealed and the Further Education and 
Training (FET) Act 2014 was enacted as of 1 July 2014. The FET Act introduced a new regulatory framework 
for apprenticeships and traineeships which replaced a complex decision-making framework with a simplified 
model based on resolution of the majority of matters by consent. 

The introduction of the FET Act has allowed the department to work with the existing network of Australian 
Apprenticeship Centres to provide a one-stop shop for the majority of apprentice and trainee related activity. 

The department’s regional network continues to provide support to apprentices, trainees and employers 
through workplace visits and stakeholder engagement activities.  

Indigenous participation in vocational education and training 

In 2014–15, Indigenous students represented 6.1 per cent of total publicly-funded VET students, compared 
to 5.5 per cent representation in 2013–14.  
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Figure 33: Number of Indigenous students in the publicly-funded VET system 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training 

The number of Indigenous students in the publicly-funded VET system reflects what is happening in the 
overall VET system in Queensland. The trends in qualifications awarded to Indigenous persons reflect the 
department's commitment to higher-level qualifications. Figure 34 demonstrates how completion of 
Certificate III or above qualifications increased 35.3 per cent from 3166 in 2010–11, to 4285 in 2014–15.  

Figure 34: Number of VET qualifications awarded to Indigenous students in Queensland 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training 
 
Note: 
• For consistency of reporting with other jurisdictions, the total number of VET qualifications awarded only include Certificate I or 

above qualification levels. In annual reports prior to 2012–13 all qualification levels were reported. 
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Indigenous participation in apprenticeships and traineeships 

The department continues to encourage Indigenous Queenslanders to engage in all training pathways, 
including apprenticeships and traineeships. In 2014–15, some 2600 Indigenous people are anticipated to 
have commenced apprenticeship and traineeship training.   

Figure 35: Number of Indigenous apprentice and trainee commencements 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training 
 
Notes: 
• The 2014–15 data are projected results.  
• Apprenticeships and traineeships include school-based apprenticeships and traineeships (SATs). 
 

In 2014–15, it is projected that 1400 Indigenous Queenslanders will have completed apprenticeships or 
traineeships. The year on year changes in completions counts since 2010-11 are consistent with trends 
observed for all apprentice and trainee activity. 
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Figure 36: Number of Indigenous apprentice and trainee completions 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training 
 
Notes: 
• The 2014–15 data are projected results. 
• Apprenticeships and traineeships include school-based apprenticeships and traineeships (SATs). 
 

During 2014, 92.0 per cent of Indigenous apprentices and trainees successfully completed all competencies 
attempted. This is slightly lower than the rate of 95.4 per cent for all apprentices and trainees. 

Table 16: Proportion of Indigenous apprentices and trainees completing all modules/competencies 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Successful completion of all modules/competencies 91.4% 92.4% 91.5% 91.8% 92.0% 

Source: Department of Education and Training 
 

 
Great people 

Satisfaction with VET services 

Surveys conducted by the NCVER have revealed the majority of students and employers are satisfied with 
VET training services and products in Queensland. Results of the Student Outcome Survey show that VET 
graduates' satisfaction with their training remains high at 88.2 per cent KPI. 
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                                    Targeted strategies 
Promote flexibility and industry responsiveness of Queensland’s registered 
training organisations  

 

Great  
people 
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Table 17: Proportion of graduates satisfied with the overall quality of their training, 2010–14 KPI 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Queensland 88% 89% 89% 87% 88% 

Australia 88% 89% 89% 87% 88% 

Source: Student Outcome Survey – NCVER 

Results of the last Survey of Employers' Use and Views of the VET System, conducted in 2013, showed 
Queensland on par with national performance. An estimated 81.2 per cent of employers utilising nationally-
accredited training were satisfied with their experience KPI.  

Table 18: Level of employer satisfaction with nationally-accredited training KPI 

 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 

Queensland 73% 88% 84% 91% 81% 

Australia 81% 82% 86% 89% 83% 

Source: Employers' Use and Views of the VET System – NCVER (biennial survey) 

High quality accessible higher-education 

Higher education institutions in Queensland make a significant contribution to economic growth, developing 
social capital and helping to build community capacity within the state. The department's role is to: 

• manage the administration of state-establishing legislation for Queensland universities  
• foster and maintain university and government relations  
• influence appropriate policy responses to higher education issues through national forums.  

The Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency is the national regulator of the higher-education 
sector. 

 

 
Engaged partners 

Independent industry advice 

The Ministerial Industry Commission (MIC) was established in November 2013 to provide a link between 
industry skills needs and investment in vocational education and training. The MIC, comprised of members 
from business, industry and academic sectors, was chaired by the former Assistant Minister for Technical 
and Further Education. 

In 2015, the government committed to establish Jobs Queensland as an independent statutory body to 
provide industry advice to government on skills demand and long-term workforce planning. As a result, the 
MIC has been dissolved from 30 June 2015. 

Jobs Queensland will allow for a focussed effort on long-term workforce planning and engagement with a 
broad range of industries, centred on identifying the skills and development needs of industry sectors across 
Queensland. 

Jobs Queensland will reinstate an independent avenue for industry to have a voice on the priorities for skills 
demand and workforce planning into the future. This will increase economic productivity by enhancing the fit 
between skills and future jobs and provide a measured industry-led approach to improving the 
responsiveness of skills development to industry skills demand. 

The department will continue to engage and consult with industry on skills and workforce priorities. 

                                 Targeted strategies 
Support partnerships with industry through the Ministerial Industry Commission 
to identify skilling needs and prioritise training  

Work with employers and industry to increase apprenticeship commencements, 
streamline and simplify processes for employers and develop more flexible 
training pathways  

 
Engaged 
partners 



 

 
 
Department of Education and Training | Annual Report 2014–15 78 
 

Apprentice and Trainee Portal 

The Apprentice and Trainee Portal, myApprenticeship, provides a single access point whereby apprentices 
and trainees can securely view information regarding their apprenticeship or traineeship, such as training 
contract details and results. The site went live on 1 July 2014.  

Queensland Skills Gateway 

Skills Gateway is a single site for consumers to search for courses, qualifications, programs, available 
subsidies and training providers under the various programs funded by the Queensland Government. The 
site went live on 1 July 2014. 

Black Business Finder 

The Black Business Finder (BBF) is part of a national database hosted by the Industry Capability Network 
(ICN).The ICN Gateway database contains more than 70,000 businesses or suppliers nationally and has 
access to project opportunities worth $400 billion. The BBF section of this database currently lists over 400 
Indigenous businesses operating in Queensland, employing over 6600 workers of which more than 3300 are 
Indigenous.  

The BBF maximises participation by Indigenous businesses in major projects. The online database provides 
opportunity for these businesses to participate in private and government supply chains and will enable 
private and public sector procurement personnel to identify Indigenous business capabilities across 
Queensland for potential tendering and contracting opportunities. This, in turn, will encourage the growth of 
the Indigenous business sector and increase Indigenous employment. The BBF database is available online 
at www.bbf.org.au/. 

Influencing Australian Government employment services 

The department is continuing to influence the Australian Government’s delivery of employment services by 
providing advice on Queensland labour market conditions and working to improve the interface between 
training and employment services for all Queensland jobseekers.  

The Interagency Group on Employment and Training continues to meet and work in partnership to achieve 
Queensland and Australian Government policy objectives around workforce participation and improving 
educational, training and productivity outcomes, with a particular focus on those who are disadvantaged in 
the labour market. 

 
High standards 

Rescuing TAFE 

In April 2015, the government committed to restoring Queensland’s reputation as a quality training provider 
by investing $34 million over three years in TAFE to restore its status as Queensland’s premier public 
provider of VET. This will be achieved by: 

• creating new FTE teaching and support positions 
• investing in student support services 
• providing subsidised foundation skills courses for disadvantaged learners 
• investing to increase the number of courses available through VET in schools 
• providing to expanded and improved regional support programs 
• subsidising second-chance training 
• providing for training in emerging innovative industries, as designated by Jobs Queensland 

                                  Targeted strategies 
Enhance monitoring of registered training organisations and market intervention 
to ensure better training outcomes that link directly to employment  

 
High  

standards 
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• introducing legislation to Parliament to abolish the Queensland Training Assets Management 
Authority (QTAMA) and returning the assets to the department. 

In addition, $5 million under the Rescuing TAFE commitment will be invested by government to establish a 
fully independent Training Ombudsman, to provide a single point of contact for consumers to navigate the 
VET system and make it easier for stakeholders to progress their concerns through the most appropriate 
agency. The Training Ombudsman will have a focus on enhancing the provision of quality VET in 
Queensland. 

Overseas Qualification Unit 

The Queensland Overseas Qualification Unit (QOQU) assesses formal qualifications gained overseas by 
comparing these qualifications to Australian Education Awards. The QOQU forms part of a national network 
of overseas qualifications units, with one in most states and territories. During 2014–15, the QOQU fielded 
681 emails, received 1001 applications and assisted 765 overseas-qualified Queenslanders by facilitating 
their pathway to employment and further study. Additionally, the QOQU publishes information on the 
department’s website which was accessed by over 15,529 customers. 

Maintaining a quality VET system 

The VET Quality Framework (VQF) remains critical in protecting the interests of all students undertaking VET 
in Australia. It includes a set of national standards, which ensures nationally consistent, high quality training 
and assessment services for VET participants. In September 2014, a revised set of standards was agreed by 
the Council of Australian Governments’ Industry and Skills Council and these were subsequently introduced 
on 1 January 2015. All registered training organisations (RTOs) in Australia must comply with these 
standards as a condition of their registration. The Australian Skills Quality Authority (ASQA) regulates RTO 
compliance with the standards. 

The department maintains contract compliance oversight of funded training delivered by RTOs with 
Pre-qualified Supplier agreements. A memorandum of understanding with ASQA underpins the sharing of 
information to identify opportunities to improve and streamline risk-based regulation and to encourage a 
sector-wide culture of quality compliance by RTOs. 

Training and skills research  

The department undertakes statistical analysis and research services that focus on effective transitions from 
school, training and higher education to employment. Disadvantaged learners (including young people, early 
school leavers and Indigenous Queenslanders) may find these transitions difficult because they lack the 
necessary combination of education, training and skills formation that enables them to participate fully in the 
labour market. Higher participation rates in work provides significant benefits to the Queensland economy in 
improving wellbeing, providing higher incomes and increased labour productivity. The department’s research 
provides an evidence base for policy development and enhancing service delivery. 

  

Solid partners Solid futures 

In 2014–15, the department continued to deliver and expand on existing Solid partners Solid futures 
initiatives that benefit Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Queenslanders. 

Solid partners Solid futures aimed to ensure that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students make 
successful transitions from school to training, further study or employment, and from training or further study 
into employment. 

                                   Targeted strategies 
Increase qualifications for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students in priority 
skill areas through strategies that include fee relief, mentoring and support  

Improve employment outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
through the Indigenous Training Strategy  

 
Solid partners 
Solid futures 
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Under the Queensland Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Economic Participation Plan, $1 million is being 
invested each year for four years to fund training projects that will help Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people undertake and complete training that leads to jobs.  

In 2014–15, four consultation meetings were held with employers, industry bodies and key government 
agencies. The meetings were a means of turning ideas into action – ensuring employer views were heard 
and building strong relationships between business and government to improve outcomes for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander students. 

The Queensland Government will develop and launch a new Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander education 
strategy and action plan in 2016. 

Indigenous Training Strategy 

The Indigenous Training Strategy was introduced in 2014–15 to support projects that address areas of 
failure in the demand-driven skills market, align with identified economic activity and lead to jobs, have 
industry and local community support, and support training participation for remote communities. 

A key element of this strategy is the Strategic Indigenous VET Partnership between the department and the 
Department of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships to improve training and employment 
outcomes for Indigenous Queenslanders. Through the partnership, DET will fund training and related costs 
to help Indigenous people gain the necessary skills for identified jobs. 

Under the Strategic VET Partnership in 2014–15, eight projects were approved, with funding totalling 
$926,178, to assist 334 participants across a range of industry sectors, including building and construction, 
community services, retail and health. 

In 2014–15, 23 projects were approved under the Indigenous Training Strategy across the state with funding 
totalling $2.9 million to assist 1049 participants across a range of industry sectors, including community 
services, hospitality and primary industries. 

 



 Support services  
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Our achievements 
 

 
Successful learners 

Our infrastructure 

Progressive infrastructure and modern equipment form the basic foundation for the delivery of world-class 
education services. The department's infrastructure program funds new facilities to deliver additional 
services and upgrades to existing facilities essential to keep pace with technological change and new 
teaching and training practices. The department's current infrastructure across the state includes: 

• 1234 state schools 
• 26 environmental and outdoor education centres 
• one sports education centre 
• 153 early childhood facilities. 

Major investment in education infrastructure during 2014–15 included: 

• $111.9 million to complete the implementation of Year 7 as the first year of secondary schooling 
from 2015, as part of the Flying Start reform, including $24 million to continue the long term Year 
7 component of the Brisbane State High School redevelopment, to be completed for start of 
school 2016 

• $33.4 million to commence the redevelopment of Brisbane State High School, including $24 
million delivered under the Flying Start program 

• $10.2 million of the $28.8 million total infrastructure component to complete the implementation 
of the Building our Future Schools Fund to invest $115 million over four years to provide 
improved infrastructure and planning for government and non-government schools 

• $21.1 million to complete the new secondary school at Highfields 
• $8.7 million to continue Stage 2 at new Mackay Northern Beaches State High School 
• $12.2 million to complete Stage 2 at Pimpama State Secondary College 
• $45.4 million to replace and enhance facilities at existing schools 
• $4 million of Australian Government funding to commence the upgrade and build 13 new training 

facilities for schools under the Trade Skills Centres Program in Queensland 
• $5.1 million to continue the redevelopment of the Southport Campus at Gold Coast Institute of 

TAFE  
• contribution of $49 million from the Capital Works Program to the South East Queensland (SEQ) 

Schools Public Private Partnership Project, with a new primary school in Pimpama and a new 
secondary school in Burpengary open for start of school in 2015. 

In 2014–15 the department introduced a statewide prioritisation framework to enable an equitable and 
transparent process for prioritising capital works projects to ensure that any funding the department receives 
is directed to the areas of greatest need. An Infrastructure Governance Framework was developed which 
established financial risk management by preventing adhoc changes to works outside of formal approval 
processes, as well as transparency and probity that manages funding pressures. The Infrastructure 
Governance Framework consists of an Infrastructure Investment Prioritisation Committee (to prioritise the 
many projects competing for funding) and an Infrastructure Investment Board (to endorse the proposed 
program of prioritised works). 

                                     Target strategies  
Strengthen learning outcomes through: 

• collaborative policy development, which is future focused and improves 
outcomes  

• investment, which is planned and targeted to maximise value and drive 
efficiency 

• fit-for-purpose and future-focused infrastructure  

• contemporary, cost efficient ICT 

• reducing red tape  

 
Successful  

learners 
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Statewide planning for Queensland schools 

The Queensland Schools Planning Commission’s aim is to help streamline and coordinate the processes for 
the planning, establishment and expansion of government and non-government schools across Queensland. 

The department continued to work with the Queensland Schools Planning Commission in 2014–15 to 
strategically plan for school infrastructure throughout Queensland. The Commission has analysed 
projections for school-aged populations and released findings for where future schools could be needed 
across Queensland over the next two decades. The findings are presented via demand maps which are 
available at www.education.qld.gov.au/schools/schools-planning-commission/.  

The cross-sectoral, consultative demand mapping activities initiated by the Queensland Schools Planning 
Commission will continue in 2015–16, to ensure the findings remain up to date with changes in 
demographics and population projections. 

Queensland Schools Public Private Partnership Project 

The department entered into a contract with the Plenary School Consortium, to design, construct, 
commission, partly finance, maintain and provide facilities management services for 10 new schools (eight 
primary and two secondary schools) in rapidly developing areas of South East Queensland (i.e. Brisbane, 
Gold Coast, Ipswich and the Moreton local government areas) until 2043. 

The 10 new schools will cater for 10,800 students during peak periods of enrolment and employ up to 540 
teachers and 130 non-teaching staff. The project is also expected to generate 1700 jobs a year during the 
five-year construction phase. 

Construction of Stage 1 of the first two schools: a high school at Burpengary (Years 7-12) and a primary 
school at Pimpama (P-6) commenced in February 2014 and was completed for the start of the 2015 
academic year. 

Construction of Stage 1 of the next four schools (P-6) is underway at Caboolture West, Griffin, Pallara and 
Ripley Valley, and they are expected to be completed for the start of school in 2016. 

South East Queensland Schools Public Private Partnership Project 

New schools are being built through the South East Queensland (SEQ) Schools Public Private Partnership 
Project, to meet the needs of an increasing SEQ population. In April 2009, the department entered into a 
contract with the Aspire Schools Consortium to design, build and maintain seven new schools in the high-
growth areas of the Sunshine Coast, Western Corridor, Gold Coast and Redlands. As at 30 June 2015: 

• core construction for each of the seven schools has been completed 
• planning is underway for Stage 3 at Peregian Springs State School, a 10-classroom block, which 

is expected to be completed in time for start of school 2016. 

Asset maintenance 

Well maintained facilities support student learning outcomes and the quality of the education and training 
experience offered in schools. Refurbishing and maintaining departmental assets is critical to ensure that 
those assets support contemporary service delivery. The department delivers both general and special 
maintenance programs to ensure that early childhood, school and housing facilities are repaired and 
maintained to meet the requirements of the asset base. 

The Advancing our School Maintenance (AoSM) initiative invested an additional $200 million ($100 million 
each for the 2012–13 and 2013–14 financial years) to reduce the pre-existing maintenance liability of 
approximately $300 million in Queensland state schools. The Fixing our Schools Fund continued the 
momentum of addressing outstanding maintenance items by injecting a further $100 million into school 
maintenance in 2014–15.  

As a part of the AoSM initiative, schools are now provided the choice to engage contractors directly to deliver 
planned and routine breakdown maintenance works, allowing for greater savings to be achieved to complete 
further maintenance in schools. Building and Asset Services continues to deliver high-risk maintenance 
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services including service maintenance, asbestos removal, management of asbestos incidents and 
emergency and disaster response maintenance, to all schools. 

DET began pilots to improve program delivery, achieve value for money and provide better outcomes for 
schools. These include: developing a facilities management approach to delivering urgent repair and 
planned maintenance across a cluster of schools in the Roma area; developing a three-year renewal 
program of work for Roma State College focused on improving learning spaces at the school; and delivering 
better learning spaces at Cairns West State School by combining previously discrete programs of work into 
one overall package. 

Early childhood education centres and school facilities 

During 2014–15, the department's total net expenditure for early childhood education centre and school 
maintenance was $202 million. This comprised: 

• $2 million for early childhood education centres  
• $86.4 million for the School Annual Maintenance Program  
• $80.8 million for the Fixing Our Schools initiative 
• $16 million for the innovation fund 
• $7 million to address fire hydrant compliance  
• $9.8 million for targeted maintenance. 

Staff accommodation 

The department maintains 626 owned-facilities and leases 1718 facilities for accommodation at a cost of 
$29.1 million in leasing costs. Of the owned and leased facilities, 252 are located in remote indigenous 
communities. These facilities provide a total of 2344 units of accommodation. The provision of suitable and 
safe employee accommodation is a very high priority for the department.  

In 2014–15 the department allocated: 

• $2 million for the construction of a new duplex on Mornington Island 
• $3.7 million for general accommodation upgrades on owned housing stock 
• $4.2 million for employee housing planned- and unplanned-maintenance on DET-owned housing 

stock.  

On 1 July 2014, the management of Government Employee Housing for the whole of government was 
transferred to and managed by the Department of Housing and Public Works (DHPW). 

The decision included the transfer of ownership of all employee housing assets of all departments to DHPW, 
with the exception of operational housing. Operational housing was defined as ‘dwellings that are located on 
or attached to an operational facility of a nature that would restrict the ability of the accommodation to be 
readily used by a wider group of government agencies’. 

In accordance with this decision, the department transferred 1333 units of accommodation to DHPW on  
1 July 2014, and retained ownership of 626 units of accommodation. 

Our information technology 

Digital strategy 2014–17 

The digital strategy focuses on supporting business solutions and better educational outcomes through 
improved delivery of high quality, cost effective, contemporary ICT. 

This technology-enabled business transformation facilitates a strong focus on the learning needs of 
Queenslanders, and positions the organisation to meet the following goals: 

• delivering digital services through effective and efficient ‘as a service’ partnerships 
• streamlining business processes to reduce administrative overheads and provide services 

through the customer’s channel of choice 
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• bridging the digital divide through improved access to teaching and learning resources, 
regardless of location, and improving information management skills and support for staff 

• providing safe and secure ICT environments that support a personalised and collaborative digital 
experience 

• empowering local decision-making through access to timely, well-defined and accurate 
information with enhanced capability to share information between other government agencies 
and our partners. 

Bring your own device technical solutions 

During 2015, the department has developed a technical solution to assist schools who have chosen to run a 
bring your own (BYO) program. The technical solution: 

• checks BYO devices for appropriate anti-virus software 
• allows BYO devices to automatically connect to school networks 
• gives schools the ability to manage BYO devices so they can be isolated to prevent file-sharing 
• secures school wireless networks and restricts unauthorised access 
• offers simple yet secure sign-on for web browsing and web-based apps through transparent 

proxy authentication. 

Computers for teachers 

All permanent teachers in Queensland state schools who work two or more days a week are allocated a 
computer to support their teaching. In 2014–15, the department maintained a fleet of 40,474 laptops and 
provided 9743 additional and replacement laptops to school teachers. 

This year the program expanded choice for schools. Schools can now choose between a standard laptop, 
ultra-thin laptop, MacBook Air, MacBook Pro or a Microsoft Surface. All devices are supported by the service 
centre with a dedicated help line for busy principals. 

Messaging and collaboration program – Office 365 

All Queensland state schools now benefit from using a new email and calendaring system, Office 365. 
Online communication in schools is enhanced with the modern, flexible and efficient messaging and 
calendaring features. 

The migration of schools to Office 365 commenced in October 2014 and was completed by the end of May 
2015, with more than 25 million items — such as emails, contacts and calendar events — moved into the 
new system. 

Online learning systems 

The department added mobile application support to the online learning management system in the form of 
Blackboard mobile learn. Mobile learn allows staff and students to access the department’s online course 
content through mobile devices such as iPhones, iPads and android devices. Staff and students can access 
features as tasks, course content, grades, media, blogs and discussions. 

Curriculum into the Classroom (C2C) 

C2C units have continued to be produced and enhanced to support the delivery of the Australian Curriculum 
in Queensland schools. A modified version of the materials is available for the non-government school 
sectors through the National Online Learning System – Scootle. 

OneSchool 

OneSchool is the department’s school management system. OneSchool supports schools in student 
management, curriculum and learning management, finance and asset management, resource 
management, and performance, reporting and analysis.  
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During 2015, the department: 

• developed a student dashboard that provides teachers with all the information for each student 
in their class. Teachers are able to access individual subject results for the last two years, 
NAPLAN results, behaviour and attendance records 

• enhanced reporting capabilities in OneSchool including integrating students with disabilities 
reporting into OneSchool 

• integrated Individual Curriculum Plans (ICPs) to enable teachers to easily tailor a student's 
requirements based on their learning needs 

• delivered training across 41 OneSchool topics via face-to-face workshops. 

Service centre 

The number of service requests managed by the service centre has continued to increase. 

By June 2015, an average of up to 232 jobs were submitted each day, peaking at 572 jobs in one day via 
Service Centre Online and processed by ICT Support. The ability for staff to lodge a job online has improved 
efficiencies and reduced response times. 

Wireless upgrade project 

The increasingly sophisticated use of laptops by students and eLearning materials in schools has driven the 
requirement for network access that could not be met by traditional cabling infrastructure. 

The wireless upgrade project is a co-contribution scheme between schools and corporate services that 
provides for wireless access points, licensing and ensuring school infrastructure is fit for requirements. To 
date, over 90 per cent of all Queensland schools have opted to participate in this program. Twenty-five 
schools have had an upgrade performed in 2015, and it is expected that 350 schools will be upgraded in 
2016. 

NBN services 

National Broadband Network (NBN) services have been implemented in a further 17 schools across 
Queensland, making the current total 34 schools. This service provides faster Internet connectivity and 
improved user experience of core systems, such as OneSchool and the Learning Place. NBN services are 
faster in most situations than existing technologies and present a cost saving to schools. The department will 
continue to work with NBN to ensure schools are migrated to these new services with minimum impact. 

Online safety 

During 2014–15, the department’s cyber-safety team has continued to provide schools with advice and 
support in investigating and managing school and staff reputation management issues, online safety 
concerns and incidents involving inappropriate online behaviours. The team responded to 339 incidents in 
2014–15. Requests from schools for support and assistance in the use and misuse of social media have 
broadened from predominately involving students to issues affecting the online reputations of schools and 
individual staff.  

Approximately 95 per cent of the assistance provided to schools related to the misuse of social media such 
as Facebook and Instagram. The department has developed cyber-safety resources to assist schools in 
involving their school communities in promoting the safe and responsible use of online technologies. These 
resources can be found online at www.qld.gov.au/education/schools/health/cybersafety.  

During 2014–15, the team has provided significant support to schools through the delivery of online and 
face-to-face sessions on online safety awareness and maintaining a positive digital footprint, and has 
delivered a total of 149 sessions to an audience of 14,383 students, staff and parents. 
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Operational security 

Throughout September 2014, an IT security campaign was run to boost staff and students’ understanding of 
IT security and its potential issues. 

The department-wide campaign highlighted the many important elements of IT security by: 

• sending 16,000 IT security posters to all state schools, regional and corporate offices across 
Queensland 

• distributing 6000 Secure September-branded ‘viruses are not just on your hands’ hand sanitisers 
to staff 

• presenting an IT security-themed web conference program to more than 400 registrants — most 
of whom registered on behalf of a classroom full of students 

• pushing a favourites link to the iSecurity website to 340,000 department-owned workstations 
• using various communications messaging and marketing strategies to generate 21,275 page 

views on the iSecurity website. 

The operational security team was heavily involved in the preparation for the G20 summit, for which the 
department was recognised as best prepared agency by Queensland Government Chief Information Officer.  
Preparation included reducing the department’s exposure to external hacking and cyber-attacks by 
decommissioning all department Joomla websites, which do not enjoy the same security benefits as other 
platforms used by the department. 

Online services to schools 

The department has entered into a number of standing offer arrangements to supply online tools to support 
schools and business units. These include: online booking systems, library solutions, instructional software 
and survey systems. This enables schools to purchase these online tools at a discounted rate with the 
knowledge that these systems have undergone comprehensive departmental testing to ensure suitability for 
school use. 

Red Tape Reduction Strategy 

The department’s Red Tape Reduction Strategy: 

• focuses on making it easier for our customers to deal with us and improving our customer focus 
through streamlined internal processes 

• provides consistency of approach and avoids duplication 
• outlines red tape reduction principles, responsibilities and projects. 

 

Great people 

The department has one of the largest workforces in the state government. As at 30 June 2015, DET had 
83,984 employees, constituting approximately 65,706 full time equivalent (FTE). 

                                         Target strategies  
Promote a high performance culture to attract, retain and develop a quality, 
agile, skilled and professional workforce 

Empower leaders to be customer focused, high performing, innovative and 
accountable  

 

Great  
people 
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Figure 37: Location of the department’s workforce, 2014–15 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 

Around 95 per cent of DET’s workforce is based in a school. 

There are 1758 FTEs providing corporate services to the department, representing 2.7 per cent of the total 
workforce. 

Main occupational groups in ECEC are: 

• public servants 89.6 per cent 
• senior officers 8.3 per cent 
• SES officers 2.1 per cent. 

Main occupational groups in DET education (which includes corporate services staff who also provide 
services to DET training) are: 

• school teachers 64.8 per cent 
• teacher aides 14.8 per cent 
• public servants 12.1 per cent 
• senior officers 0.2 per cent 
• SES officers 0.1 per cent. 

Main occupational groups in DET training and skills are: 

• public servants 88.5 per cent 
• senior officers 8.6 per cent 
• SES officers 2.9 per cent. 

DET’s workforce consists of: 

• 70.3 per cent permanent 
• 20.5 per cent temporary 
• 9.2 per cent casual staff or on contract. 

The department’s staff numbers are based on Quarter 2 Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information 
(MOHRI) point-in-time data.  

The average age of departmental employees is 45 years, compared to 44 years across the Queensland 
Public Sector (see Figure 38). Queensland's average state school teaching age is 43 years. 
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Figure 38: The department’s age profile, 2014–15 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  

The staff retention rate for 2014–15 was 94.6 per cent, and the annual separation rate was 5.4 per cent. 

In the 2014 School Opinion Survey, 95.4 per cent of school staff, including principals, agreed that their 
school was a good school.  

The Working for Queensland Employee Opinion Survey conducted in April–May 2015 showed a high score 
of 85 per cent for job satisfaction and engagement across all employees of the department KPI.  

The 2015 Working for Queensland Employee Opinion Survey Report is available online at 
www.psc.qld.gov.au/publications/workforce-statistics/workforce-statistics.aspx#wfqeos2014report. 

Strategic workforce planning  

The One HR Plan 2015–18 establishes a clear focus for the department. It is designed to promote a high 
performance culture through strengthening our workplace practices, while empowering our leaders to be 
high performing, innovative and accountable. Fostering a culture of collaborative empowerment, our teams 
are focused on working together as a connected system to put customers first and deliver what matters. This 
One HR Plan 2015–18 is available at http://deta.qld.gov.au/publications/strategic/other/workforce09-11.html. 

Attracting new employees 

The department acknowledges the need to attract and retain a high-quality workforce in schools and the 
corporate sector to deliver world-class education and training services for Queensland. In 2014–15, the 
department employed more than 1707 graduates to permanent teaching positions, and created an additional 
1080 teachers and teacher aide positions to meet enrolment growth in Queensland state schools and 
support students with disabilities.  

Strategies were implemented during 2014–15 to attract and retain frontline staff, build capability, and value 
people in the early childhood, education and training workforce, including: 

• continuing five Teacher Education Centres of Excellence to better prepare high-calibre 
preservice teachers  

• continuing the expanded Remote Area Teacher Education Program, the community-based 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander teacher education program, which supports Aboriginal 
people and Torres Strait Islander people in remote communities in gaining professional 
qualifications 
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• continuing the Beyond the Range Professional Experience Grants initiative, providing preservice 
teachers with support to undertake professional experience in rural and remote schools  

• implementing the Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) Teaching 
Scholarship program for final year undergraduate teachers to assist regions in meeting 
workforce demand for specialist teachers in high-demand curriculum areas and locations across 
Queensland 

• continuing the Step into Teaching scholarship, supporting talented professionals to undertake 
postgraduate teaching studies complementing their existing undergraduate degree in high-
demand areas, such as mathematics, physics and chemistry 

• continuing grant programs to assist high-achieving Year 12 school leavers to undertake an 
approved initial teacher education program at a Queensland Higher Education Institute 

• continuing the Pearl Duncan teaching scholarships to assist aspiring teachers who identify as 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander to complete an initial teacher education program 

• continuing support of scholarship programs that support and increase the presence of qualified 
and registered teachers in the ECEC sector 

• continuing to provide targeted incentives to teachers to work in rural and remote school locations 
through the Remote Area Incentive Scheme 

• continuing an incentive scheme to attract and retain early childhood teachers in hard-to-staff 
services offering an approved Kindergarten program 

• redeveloping the ‘Make a Difference. Teach’ marketing campaign, promoting teaching as a 
career of choice and employment opportunities across the state and across all sectors  

• launching the ‘Teach. Rural’ and Teaching in Junior Secondary marketing and communication 
campaigns 

• launching a dedicated ‘Make a Difference. Teach’ social media presence with Facebook, 
Instagram, LinkedIn and Twitter 

• progressing the implementation of the Fresh Start strategy which focuses on: 
o attracting the highest quality applicants into the teaching profession  
o ensuring that they have the essential skills, knowledge and experience  
o supporting their transition from preservice to beginning teacher.  

During 2014–15, the department further supported service delivery in state schools by: 

• providing the equivalent of an additional 13.5 FTEs for teachers to provide relief across one-
teacher schools from the start of the 2014 school year 

• allocating 1080 teachers and teacher aides to meet enrolment growth and to support students 
with special needs in Queensland state schools. An additional 6527 teacher aide hours per week 
were also provided to primary schools to increase teacher aide support in their Prep classes. 

Employee induction 

Induction is an essential element of professional development, assisting employees to develop their 
performance and provide high-quality service. The DET Induction Strategy outlines our model for best-
practice employee induction, which is provided locally and supported by regional offices and online 
resources including: 

• DET induction website 
• online mandatory induction program 
• induction guidelines for Queensland state schools, central and regional offices 
• induction planners for a wide range of employee groups 
• principals' induction website and resources.  

Additional online resources to support the induction of beginning teachers are under development. 

During 2014–15 the department developed a Principal Induction Program, a two-day central office face-to-
face induction which aims to assist newly appointed first time principals to build their awareness, knowledge 
and capability in key leadership and management areas within the organisational context. 

By engaging all new employees in consistent, contextualised induction programs, the department ensures 
they receive the information needed to develop their performance and provide high-quality service. 
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Flying Start HR Project 

During 2014–15, the department successfully completed the movement of Year 7 into high school from the 
beginning of the 2015 school year under the Flying Start for Queensland children reforms. The Flying Start 
HR Project delivered key projects and initiatives related to the workforce under the Flying Start reforms, 
including the: 

• launch of the Junior Secondary Connect Program to support permanent primary teachers 
transitioning to a secondary school in 2015 

• establishment of a candidate pool of more than 7000 teachers for Junior Secondary settings in 
2015, through a targeted marketing and communication campaign. 

Improving teacher quality 

Great teachers = Great results was a five-year action plan introduced by the former Queensland Government 
for Queensland schools which aimed to build on the strength of Queensland’s existing school funding model 
and focus on the most important piece of the education system – our teachers. The plan focused on two 
areas:  

• professional excellence in teaching – elevating teaching standards across the board, rewarding 
high performance and positioning the highest-performing teachers where they are needed most 

• boosting school autonomy – empowering and enabling school leaders and teachers to drive 
outcomes for students, including stronger discipline. 

A modified program remains active under the current government to support the development and capability 
of our teachers and school leaders.  

For more information on Great Teachers = Great Results and achievements during 2014–15, please refer to 
Great teachers = Great results in the School Education section of this annual report. 

A Fresh Start: improving the quality and preparation of teachers for contemporary Queensland schools 
strategy is the Queensland Government’s response to the Teacher Education Taskforce Report and 
demonstrates a renewed commitment to addressing issues with teacher supply, initial teacher education and 
effective supervision, mentoring and induction. During 2014–15, the department achieved the following 
through the Fresh Start strategy: 

• established formal agreements between schooling sectors and Queensland’s nine higher 
education institutes offering initial teacher education programs in order to strengthen 
professional experiences for preservice teachers 

• developed a common Professional Experience Reporting Framework to assist in identifying high 
potential graduates for recruitment purposes, and to assist supervising teachers and mentors to 
provide feedback to preservice teachers about their performance 

• developed the Statement of Graduate Expectations to ensure preservice teachers are aware of 
the skills, knowledge and attributes required for a high performing beginning teacher 

• worked with the Queensland College of Teachers to strengthen governance processes to 
support implementation of the Accreditation of initial teacher education programs in Australia: 
standards and procedures within Queensland. 

Prep teacher-aide initiative 

The Prep teacher-aide four-year initiative gives Queensland’s Prep children the best start to their education 
and supports frontline teachers in doing what they do best. The program commenced in 2013 and targets 
Prep classes in areas of greatest need, including low socio-economic and rural and remote communities. 

In 2013 and 2014, 176 schools with 538 preparatory classes were preselected to benefit from 4500 
additional teacher-aide hours every week. In 2015, the third year of this initiative, a further 127 schools with 
471 preparatory classes were preselected to benefit from the third allocation of 2250 additional teacher-aide 
hours every week. The schools allocated additional Prep teacher-aide hours in 2015 are listed on the 
department’s website at www.education.qld.gov.au/staff/development/employee/teacheraide/prep-teacher-
aide.html. 
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Restart Teaching 

Restart Teaching is a QCT accredited 30-hour professional development program. The program is designed 
for teachers who do not meet recency of practice (have completed less than 100 days of teaching in the five-
year period of registration). Restart Teaching helps returning teachers to understand the current curriculum 
frameworks, teaching and learning practices, and legislative and legal responsibilities that are central to their 
work with students in contemporary school settings. In 2014–15, the Restart Teaching program was 
completed by 81 participants. 

Performance and development frameworks 

During 2014–15 the department continued to support the personal and professional growth of all employees 
through the provision of performance and development frameworks for staff at all levels of the organisation. 

Teaching workforce 

Teachers engage in the Annual Performance Review process, which is underpinned by the Australian 
Teacher Performance and Development Framework. This is the mechanism for teachers, through which 
performance and development conversations and planning occur to ensure continual improvement in 
teaching. The Australian Professional Standards for Teachers support the process. 

The Australian Teacher Performance and Development Framework and Australian Professional Standards 
for Teachers are available online at www.aitsl.edu.au/. 

Non-teaching workforce 

The department’s Developing Performance Framework provides a process for non-teaching, non-executive 
employees (including principals) to clarify what is expected of them in their role, identify their performance 
and development goals and career aspirations, and access support and relevant professional development. 
The framework is supported by: 

• Public Service Commission's Capability and Leadership Framework  
• Principals' Capability and Leadership Framework  
• Deputy Principals’ Capability and Leadership Framework  
• Head of Programs’ Capability and Leadership Framework 
• mentoring and coaching initiatives. 

Executive workforce 

Executives engage in the Executive Performance and Development process, which is informed by the Public 
Service Commission’s Executive Performance and Development Framework.  

Developing our leaders 

The department continued to coordinate, support and strengthen the continuing professional and leadership 
development of all DET employees during 2014–15. Current and aspiring leaders developed their leadership 
capability through various programs and initiatives that fostered executive, school and public sector 
leadership including: 

• nine executives engaging in the Executive Capability and Development Initiative 
• 36 executives attending Public Service Commission Executive leadership development offerings 
• delivering an Executive Coaching Program to 25 DET executives 
• participating in the Leadership Capability and Development (LCAD) Initiative coordinated by the 

Public Service Commission 
• continuing the Take the Lead Program to strengthen school leadership across Queensland, 

including structured professional learning opportunities that aim to raise participant awareness of 
the expectations of the role, and to develop skills and capabilities to perform highly in the role. 

• delivering the Leading Change Program, to enhance change management capability within 
secondary school leadership teams in preparation for the transition of Year 7 into high school 
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• announcing the Principals’ Leadership Agenda 2015, outlining self-directed and targeted 
learning opportunities and development offerings, to ensure every principal continues to grow 
and learn 

• supporting implementation of capability and leadership frameworks through the Developing 
Performance process 

• developing performance team leader capability through online courses and practical 
performance conversations workshops 

• delivering the Inspiring Leadership Program for AO6 to AO8 employees 
• delivering the Working SMARTer Program for AO2 to AO5 employees  
• maintaining a Workplace Coaches Register, comprising 23 trained internal workplace coaches. 

Improving attendance   

The department continues to monitor and implement strategies to improve the rate of employees’ 
attendance. The department's overall attendance rate for 2014–15 was 95.8 per cent which exhibits a 
minimal decrease from 96.0 per cent recorded in the previous (2013–14) year. 

Figure 39: Attendance rate for Queensland state school teachers – by age group, 2014–15  

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  
 

Note: 
• The rate is based on total absent hours divided by available working hours using MOHRI methodology to allow for comparison to 

the QPS absenteeism rate. 

Early retirement, redundancy, retrenchment and voluntary separation 

During the period, 26 employees received voluntary early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment 
packages at a cost of $1,452,784.17, excluding accrued leave payments. Employees who did not accept an 
offer of a redundancy were offered case mangement for a set period of time, where reasonable attempts 
were made to find alternative employment placements. 

 
Engaging Partners 

Engagement across our service sectors, with the community, industry and all levels of government is at the 
core of our success. As we already provide services using a range of mixed models, we will continue to work 
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with our partners to ensure corporate services alignment across the state to strengthen quality, facilitate 
better coordination, consistency and effectiveness.  

Long term schooling strategies 

In September 2014, 400 delegates, including parents, teachers, principals, education stakeholders and 
Members of Parliament, attended the Queensland Education Accord Summit to map out a 30-year education 
vision. A draft accord was released for public consultation on 2 December 2014. Views and feedback 
provided as part of the education accord process will inform the development of future long-term schooling 
strategies. 

QParents 

QParents is a web and mobile app that gives state school students’ parents secure online access anywhere, 
anytime, to a clear snapshot of their child’s schooling information. QParents was successfully trialled by 96 
state schools in 2014–15, enabling those parents to: 

• view attendance details, behaviour records, report cards, timetables, invoices and a history of 
payments online 

• submit explanations for past absences and notify the school of upcoming absences online 
• pay school invoices online 
• update student details online, including residential and postal address, as well as medical 

conditions. 

Websites for Schools 

The Websites for Schools initiative offers state schools a solution for creating and managing a public 
website. During 2014–15, the Websites for Schools initiative launched approximately 60 websites, bringing 
the current total to more than 1340 sites.  

The QSchools smartphone application integrates with Websites for Schools and has been downloaded more 
than 44,700 times over the year. QSchools provides an additional tool for schools to keep the school 
community engaged through the promotion of news, events and newsletters. The QSchools app has been 
enhanced with central and school-based push notification services. The app and school website were pivotal 
in supporting the communication between schools and their communities during the north and central 
Queensland weather events in early 2015. 

One-stop Shop 

The department supports the whole-of-government One-stop Shop through delivery of  public-facing services 
and engagement points through online (qld.gov.au), phone (13QGov) and in person (counter service). 
Information relating to 135 departmental services is now being published online and through related phone 
scripts. A further 134 departmental transactional services were also identified and researched, with plans to 
deliver them through One-stop Shop in the coming financial year. 

 
High Standards 

                                        Target strategies  
Drive improved performance through a focus on business improvement and 
innovation 

Strengthen evidence-informed decision-making using performance data, 
research, review and evaluation 
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Research and evaluation 

The department works with universities and subject-matter specialists to undertake independent research in 
key areas of policy priority and client service delivery, and to evaluate the impact and effectiveness of major 
programs and initiatives. 

The department’s Evaluation Strategy 2012–16 demonstrates the department’s commitment to accountability 
and performance improvement to strengthen service delivery. The department undertakes evaluations 
through a phased process with formal governance throughout to provide assurance on the quality and 
credibility of the evaluation. Findings of evaluations are available online at www.det.qld.gov.au/publications/ 
strategic/evaluation/. 

Code of Conduct and public sector ethics 

The department maintains a positive ethical culture, demonstrating strong ethical leadership and ensuring 
employees are aware of their ethics-related rights and obligations. All employees are required to comply with 
the ethical principles, values and standards set out in the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, (the Ethics Act) the 
requirements of the Code of Conduct for the Queensland Public Service and the department’s Standard of 
Practice. 

The ethics principles and values contained in the Ethics Act, the Code of Conduct and the Standard of 
Practice are reflected in the department’s human resource and other management practices, administrative 
procedures, policy instruments and plans, with which employees are also required to comply. The 
department’s planning is aligned to the ethics principles set out in the Ethics Act, with a clear line of sight 
from the department’s strategic plan to operational planning and individual performance planning. 

During the reporting period, the department provided all employees with access to appropriate Code of 
Conduct, public sector ethics and ethical decision-making education and training via online and face-to-face 
modalities, regional training was facilitated locally, utilising resources developed by the department’s Ethical 
Standards Unit. Newly appointed employees take this training at induction, and others at regular intervals of 
no more than twelve months post-induction.  

Better workplace relations 

The department has continued to openly communicate and consult with staff, stakeholders and the unions 
that represent its workforce. The department is committed to resolving issues locally to ensure ongoing 
successful delivery of services across Queensland. The department participates in the State Government 
Departments Certified Agreement 2009, and is currently responsible for the following enterprise bargaining 
agreements: 

• Department of Education, Training and Employment State School Teachers' Certified Agreement 
2012  

• Department of Education and Training Teacher Aides' Certified Agreement 2011  
• Department of Education and Training (Education) Cleaners' Certified Agreement 2011  

Workforce diversity 

Diversity and equity principles and practices are in place across our workforce. Programs are also 
implemented to recruit potential staff from the equal employment opportunity groups, and develop the 
careers of current departmental staff from diverse backgrounds. The department’s Diversity Online Training 
Program boosts understanding about anti-discrimination, disability awareness, Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander cultural awareness, multicultural awareness and gender equity. The department also promotes 
diversity in the workplace by encouraging participation in celebrations of national and international events 
such as National Reconciliation Week and International Women’s Day, and by advertising the Queensland 
Multicultural Awards among employees. 
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Organisational safety and wellbeing 

Creating a culture that supports and fosters safe and healthy working and learning environments is a priority. 
During 2014–15, the department: 

• initiated a review of the department’s health, safety and wellbeing management system to 
ensure compliance with specified legislative and department policy requirements 

• developed and delivered workplace health, safety and wellbeing strategies to manage key risk 
areas 

• supported state schools with the Curriculum Activity Risk Assessment OneSchool module 
upgrade 

• delivered training for industrial technology and design (ITD) teachers through two-day workshops 
incorporating theory and practical components. Courses were delivered in Cairns, Townsville, 
Sunshine Coast, Toowoomba and Metropolitan locations 

• released five department specific ITD online courses and resources to support staff skills and 
knowledge. These provide nationally recognised units of competency for staff 

• conducted more than 1000 audiometric assessments in line with the department’s hearing 
conservation program, including service delivery to schools in Metropolitan, Far North and 
Darling Downs South West regions, and delivered individual healthy hearing education and 
strategies for risk management 

• undertook occupational noise monitoring for staff working in schools officer roles 
• implemented program and training enhancements to the MyHR Workplace Health and Safety 

online incident recording system, and online curriculum risk management training, so as to 
enhance usage and usability by school and other staff 

• established a contract for all deparment employees to have access to external employee 
assistance counselling, manager assistance and on site trauma support services. In addition, 
external assistance counselling is also available to immediate family memebers of department 
staff 

• enhanced the existing employee seasonal influenza flu vaccination program by establishing 
arrangements with three providers 

• reviewed the existing processes for responding to and supporting employees with psychological 
injury claims 

• partnered with the University of Queensland to facilitate staff participation in a research project 
assessing the effect of workplace-based exercise in reducing neck pain in the workers 

• facilitated workplace rehabilitation, return-to-work and early intervention programs for injured/ill 
employees.  

The department's WorkCover claims during 2014–15 totalled 3337 claims. 

Since 2012, the department has achieved a 21 per cent reduction in the average days taken for employees 
returning to work. This has been achieved through effective partnerships with WorkCover Qld and treating 
doctors, as well as through engagement and early intervention. This illustrates the success of the 
department’s return to work strategies, which are modelled on research supporting the principle of recovery 
at work. 
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Figure 40: The rate of WorkCover claims – per 100 FTE 

 
Source: Department of Education and Training  

Further information is available on the department’s Creating Healthier Workplaces website at 
www.education.qld.gov.au/health. 

Complaints management system 

The department has a robust and contemporary complaints management system (Resolve) for managing the 
employee misconduct, student harm complaints, employee complaints and some complaints that are 
categorised as ‘customer complaints’ under s.219(A) of the Public Service Act 2008 (the PSA). This system 
provides for timely, efficient and detailed case management of matters received and links internal and 
external reporting and monitoring agencies. The system also allows for the detailed analysis of complaints 
data that in turn further supports DET’s positive ethical culture, assists in reducing instances of employee 
wrong-doing in the workplace, and improves service delivery to clients. 

Through this system, misconduct-related complaints which, if proven, could result in disciplinary action are 
registered, assessed, investigated and/or managed locally whilst being monitored centrally. 

Alongside Resolve, an electronic complaints referral platform, iRefer is the department’s preferred lodgement 
tool for misconduct-related complaints. An enhanced version of iRefer was released in late 2014, making 
complaints lodgement easier, faster and more efficient. 

Both the Resolve and iRefer systems will be further enhanced during 2015–16, with a focus on meeting 
customer needs and streamlining transactions, to achieve greater efficiencies, enhanced capabilities and an 
improved user interface. 

The department’s ‘customer complaints’ under s219A of the PSA can be obtained from the open data 
website www.data.qld.gov.au. 

Stakeholder satisfaction with ICT resources 

Results from the 2014 School Opinion Survey showed that 94.1 per cent of students agreed that they used 
computers and other technologies at their school for learning, while 95.7 per cent agreed that they can 
access computers and other technologies at their school for learning. Additionally, 91.5 per cent of students 
agreed that they were encouraged to use computers and other technologies at their school for learning, and 
93.9 per cent agreed that they enjoyed using computers and other technologies at their school for learning. 

Of the school staff who responded to the survey, 92.6 per cent agreed that they can access necessary 
information and communication technologies to do their job at their school and 90.8 per cent agreed that 
information and communication equipment is well maintained in their school. Additionally, 95.8 per cent of 
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teaching staff agreed that they have the required skills to use the necessary information and communication 
technologies to do their job in their school. 

Corporate Procurement Plan 2014–18 

The department’s Corporate Procurement Plan 2014–18 supports the principles of the Queensland 
Procurement Policy. The plan outlines a number of key initiatives aimed at strengthening governance 
arrangements, building the procurement function, and implementing business systems to improve process 
efficiency and enhance procurement analysis and reporting capabilities. The department's procurement plan 
is available online at www.det.qld.gov.au/procurement/. 

Internal Audit 

Internal Audit assesses the effectiveness and efficiency of departmental financial and operational systems 
and activities, as well as provision of assistance and identification of deficiencies in risk management. The 
Head of Internal Audit reports to the Director-General, and also to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (ARMC) which meets quarterly, and operates with due regard to Queensland Treasury's Audit 
Committee Guidelines. Internal Audit operates in accordance with its charter, which was developed to 
comply with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009.  

Internal Audit delivers an annual plan approved by the Director-General. During 2014–15, Internal Audit 
completed: 

• 474 school audits including independent public schools 
• 28 general audits 
• eight information systems audits.  

Internal Audit also audited several financial acquittals, and provided adhoc advice on a wide range of issues, 
including information systems.  

An external quality assessment review of Internal Audit is carried out in accordance with the above 
international standards.  

Achievements of Internal Audit during 2014–15 included: 

• completion of a comprehensive risk-based Annual Audit Plan providing professional and timely 
advice to management and clients, including assurances over projects 

• enhancing internal audit reporting and collaboration with management, to address department 
risks using pragmatic solutions 

• supporting departmental reform through completion of a program of regional audits focussed on 
governance and service delivery processes 

• enhancements to data analytics to broaden the scope of computer assisted audit techniques to 
identify and report exceptions to management in an efficient manner 

• participation in the department’s Fraud and Corruption Control Committee to enhance 
governance and accountability frameworks to mitigate the risk of fraud, and proactively detect 
fraud through targeted data analytical procedures 

• participation in key department working groups to contribute to risk identification and mitigation 
perspectives 

• consistent receipt of positive feedback on the audit and advisory services from client satisfaction 
surveys 

• following up Queensland Audit Office (QAO) audit recommendations to assess progress and 
completion. 

External scrutiny 

The Auditor-General is responsible for the annual audits of public sector clients, including DET. The Auditor-
General provides Parliament with independent assessment of activities in the public sector. Information 
about Auditor-General, and other significant external audits and reviews of the department during the  
2014–15 financial year, is available in Appendix 4. 
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Public interest disclosure 

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2010 (PID Act) aims to promote the public interest by facilitating the 
disclosure of wrongdoing or danger in the public sector. The department recognises the important role 
disclosers play in contributing to an ethical workplace culture and is committed to encouraging a positive 
reporting environment by ensuring PIDs are dealt with in a thorough and timely way and by offering support 
and protection to anyone who makes a disclosure in accordance with the PID Act. 

The department publishes all policies and procedures relating to PIDs on its website. In addition, a range of 
fact sheets to assist individuals to make a PID under the PID Act have also been developed. The factsheets, 
along with the relevant policies and procedures, are available on the department’s Policy and Procedure 
Register at www.ppr.det.qld.gov.au/corp/hr/management/Pages/Making-and-Managing-a-Public-Interest-
Disclosure-under-the-Public-Interest-Disclosure-Act-2010-(Qld).aspx. 

The Queensland Ombudsman is the oversight agency responsible for monitoring the management of PIDs. 
The department is required, under the Public Interest Disclosure Standard No 1, to provide Queensland 
Ombudsman with information, in electronic form, about the receipt, management and outcome of all PIDs 
received. 

Managing asbestos-containing material in DET facilities 

The department’s Asbestos Management Plan provides the operational context for and provides clarity 
regarding the roles and responsibilities in the management of asbestos and any incidents that may arise. 
The department also continued asbestos management and awareness training to all staff responsible for the 
management of sites where facilities have assumed or confirmed asbestos-containing materials. The training 
covers the department's policy for the management of asbestos in the department’s facilities, asbestos 
management procedures and information about the Built Environment Materials Information Register. This 
training will be ongoing and delivered through regional institute inductions. Further information about 
asbestos management can be found online at www.education.qld.gov.au/asbestos. 

Risk management and business continuity 

The Australian/New Zealand and International Standard for Risk Management (AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009), 
underpins the department’s risk management framework and processes, which involve understanding of the 
impact of uncertainty on the achievement of the department's objectives. The department’s Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework is available at www.det.qld.gov.au/corporate/enterprise-risk-management.html. 

Business continuity planning aligns with the Standard for Business Continuity – Managing Disruption-Related 
Risk (AS/NZS 5050:2010) and ensures the department is well prepared to maintain critical services following 
adverse disruptive events. The department’s Business Continuity Management Framework is available at 
www.det.qld.gov.au/corporate/business-continuity.html.  

Response to Tropical Cyclone Marcia 

In February 2015, Tropical Cyclone Marcia hit the Queensland coast line as a Category 5 system. This event 
affected a number of schools across a large geographical area and required the support of school, regional 
and central office staff, school communities and community organisations, stakeholders and partner 
agencies to support our students, staff, schools and communities to recover. 

The department’s response and recovery to this event included: 

• implementation of the department Incident Control Centre to provide operational management of 
the event 

• partnering with Building and Asset Services to open five evacuation centres – Mt Murchinson 
State School, Jambin State School, Murgon State School, Yeppoon State High School Cyclone 
Shelter, Emu Park State School 

• deploying two disaster recovery trailers and technicians within 48 hours of the cyclone to provide 
ICT for 13 schools 

• increased information on the employee assistance program and leave entitlement to affected 
regions 

• placing additional infrastructure services staff to the affected areas. 
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The department reviewed its response to Tropical Cyclone Marcia in 2015 to improve and refine our 
processes so that we can strengthen our systems for the future. A senior working party has been formed to 
oversee the implementation of the recommendations. The department has commenced implementing the 
recommendations and is reviewing the CEO’s Directive regarding Temporary Closure of State Instructional 
Institutions in Emergency Situations and the existing emergency management materials. This work will 
continue in 2015–16. 

Information systems and recordkeeping 

All DET records are 'public records' as defined under the Public Records Act 2002. Physical and electronic 
records are necessary for business operations, accountability requirements, and to meet community 
expectations. The department applies whole-of-government information policies and standards to 
departmental records, and continues to progressively implement the requirements of Information Standard 
40: Recordkeeping. Effective document and records management provides: 

• reliable access to information assets 
• informed decision-making 
• cost-effective use of information resources 
• business continuity 
• compliance with legislation 
• compliance with departmental policies and procedures. 

The department uses an electronic Document and Records Management System (eDRMS) to manage its 
documents and records. The eDRMS assists departmental officers in corporate areas to effectively manage 
all types of corporate records. To promote effective recordkeeping and use of the DET eDRMS, staff have 
access to content available on the department’s intranet including comprehensive recordkeeping training tips 
and fact sheets. Recordkeeping awareness is also promoted through the compulsory Keys to Managing 
Information courses, available to all staff. 

In 2014–15, the department: 

• reviewed it’s recordkeeping policies 
• in collaboration with Queensland State Archives, reviewed the Retention and Disposal 

Schedules for early childhood education and care, education, and VET records 
• commenced implementing the General Retention and Disposal Schedule for Administrative 

records version 7, released by Queensland State Archives in March 2014. 
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Appendix 1 – Executive Management Board  
The Executive Management Board profiles below reflect members as at 30 June 2015. 

Dr Jim Watterston  
Director-General, Department of Education and Training (Chair) 

Dr Jim Watterston brings more than 30 years’ experience in education to his role as  
Director-General of the Department of Education and Training (DET), a position he has held since 2013. 

He has previously worked as a classroom teacher, principal and regional director and has led a suite of 
reforms to make schools better through senior executive positions including Deputy Secretary of the School 
Education Group in Victoria’s Department of Education and Early Childhood Development, and Director-
General of the Department of Education and Training in the Australian Capital Territory.  

With a focus on empowering staff to succeed, Dr Watterston is working with DET to boost participation and 
quality in early childhood education, improve the performance of schools and deliver a more responsive 
vocational education and employment sector.  

He is currently National President of the Australian Council for Educational Leaders and Chair of the 
Australian Education, Early Childhood Development and Youth Affairs Senior Officials Committee 
(AEEYSOC). 

Annette Whitehead 
Deputy Director-General, Policy, Performance and Planning 

Ms Annette Whitehead is responsible for driving a strategic approach to the portfolio’s policy development 
across early childhood, schooling, tertiary education, training and employment, and Indigenous education, at 
a whole-of-government and national level.  

She oversees performance monitoring and reporting, governance and planning, legislative reform and the 
management of grants programs for non-state education. Her division also regulates home education, the 
registration of education providers to international students, and supports the Non-State School Accreditation 
Board and the Australian Music Examination Board.  

Annette has held strategic leadership positions in diverse portfolios including, ageing, disability, child care 
and the Department of the Premier and Cabinet, and has extensive experience in developing and driving 
social policy initiatives, planning, program development and legislative reform. 

Patrea Walton 
Deputy Director-General, State Schools 

Ms Patrea Walton leads the State Schools Division which caters for over 500,000 Queensland students in 
1234 state primary, secondary and special schools. Patrea is responsible for school performance and school 
operations and the development of programs and frameworks for Indigenous education and international 
education. 

Patrea was appointed as the Deputy Director-General responsible for state schools, on 30 August 2013. 
Patrea has a strong background in the education sector as a principal, a supervisor of schools, an Assistant 
Director-General, a leader of the Flying Start reforms and, more recently, as the Chief Executive Officer of 
the former Queensland Studies Authority.
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Geoff Favell 
A/Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills 

Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills, Mr Geoff Favell was responsible for overseeing DET's training 
and skills functions, including overseeing government’s investment in training, ensuring a quality vocational 
education and training sector with informed consumers. 

Geoff has 30 years’ experience in the Queensland Public Sector with senior roles across the employment, 
industrial relations and training portfolios in metropolitan and regional centres. He has extensive experience 
in VET investment, market strategy, contract management, corporate strategy, program delivery and the 
apprenticeship and traineeship system. 

Gabrielle Sinclair  
Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and Care 

Ms Gabrielle Sinclair was appointed as the Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and Care in 
May 2014. Gabrielle is responsible for providing strategic leadership in the development and implementation 
of the innovation policy, funding and regulatory frameworks that shape the vibrant early childhood education 
and care sector in Queensland.  

Gabrielle commenced her career as an early years teacher and has held senior executive positions in a 
number of portfolios, including infrastructure, planning, local government and corrective services. Gabrielle 
returned to the department in January 2010 and brings with her extensive experience in strategic policy, 
corporate strategy, operations and program delivery. 

David O’Hagan 
A/Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services 

David O’Hagan is responsible for the department's corporate procurement, finance, human resources, 
information technologies, and infrastructure services functions. 

Prior to his current role, David’s has been Assistant Director-General Information and Technologies, Director 
Enterprise Platform. David is also a former primary school teacher and education consultant and has over 35 
years' experience in the department. 

Jeff Hunt 
Deputy Director-General, Queensland State School Resourcing 

Jeff Hunt is responsible for investigating ways to simplify and streamline resourcing arrangements for state 
schools in Queensland to maximise the impact on student outcomes. 

Prior to his current role, Jeff has been Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services; Assistant Director-
General, Corporate Strategy and Performance; Executive Director, Performance Monitoring and Reporting; 
and Director, Workforce Modelling and Resourcing. Jeff is also a former preschool and primary school 
teacher and primary principal, and has over 27 years' experience in the department. 

Adam Black  
Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance Officer 

As Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance Officer, Mr Adam Black provides strategic 
financial advice to the department’s executive, overall leadership to the department’s finance functions and 
has responsibilities under section 77 of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 (Qld). 

Adam has over 20 years’ experience in the Queensland Public Sector and has been the department’s Chief 
Finance Officer since 2009. Prior to Adam’s appointment in DET, he served as Chief Finance Officer in 
another Queensland government department. During his time with DET, Adam has also worked in senior 
finance roles in both regional and central offices within DET.  

Adam is a Fellow Certified Practising Accountant and a Chartered Accountant. 
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Appendix 2 – Governance committees  

Executive Management Board (EMB) 

Purpose The EMB supports the Director-General to positively position 
the Department of Education and Training for the future, 
including setting and reviewing the strategic direction, priorities, 
and performance of the organisation to enable the efficient and 
effective achievement of outcomes for Queensland. 
The EMB is supported by the Strategic Leadership and 
Implementation Committee and the Budget Committee. 

Membership • Director-General (Chair)
• Deputy Director-General, Policy, Performance and Planning
• Deputy Director-General, State Schools
• Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills
• Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and

Care
• Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services
• Deputy Director-General, State School Resourcing
• Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance

Officer
Significant achievements 2014–15 • Set the key direction and priorities of the department

• Led the department’s implementation of the incoming
government’s commitments

• Developed, reviewed and approved major strategy and
policy

• Provided sound budget and investment decisions.

Strategic Leadership and Implementation Committee (SLIC) 

Purpose The SLIC provides advice to the EMB to support integrated and 
effective service delivery across the Department of Education 
and Training. 

Membership • Director-General (Chair)
• Deputy Director-General, Policy, Performance and Planning
• Deputy Director-General, State Schools
• Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills
• Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and

Care
• Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services
• Deputy Director-General, State School Resourcing
• Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance

Officer
• Assistant Director-General, State Schools Performance
• Assistant Director-General, Indigenous Education
• Assistant Director-General, Strategic Policy and

Intergovernmental Relations
• Assistant Director-General, Strategy and Performance
• Assistant Director-General, Human Resources
• Assistant Director-General, Infrastructure Services
• Assistant Director-General, Information and Technologies

and Chief Information Officer
• Assistant Director-General, Training and Skills Investment
• Regional Director, Central Queensland
• Regional Director, Darling Downs South West
• Regional Director, Far North Queensland
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• Regional Director, Metropolitan
• Regional Director, North Coast
• Regional Director, North Queensland
• Regional Director, South East
• Executive Director, Office of the Director-General

Significant achievements 2014–15 • Provided oversight and supported the integrated and
effective delivery of services across the department

• Ensured the department’s strategic direction, priorities and
policies and overall performance expectations are reflected
in operational plans.

Budget Committee  

Purpose The Budget Committee provides advice to the EMB regarding 
strategies to develop, review and monitor current and future 
operating budgets, ensuring efficient and effective allocation of 
resources to achieve key departmental and government 
priorities. 
Budget issues are included as a standing agenda item at EMB 
meetings. 

Membership • Director-General (Chair)
• Deputy Director-General, Policy, Performance and Planning
• Deputy Director-General, State Schools
• Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills
• Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and

Care
• Deputy Director-General, State School Resourcing
• Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services
• Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance

Officer
• Executive Director, Office of the Director-General

Significant achievements 2014–15 • Ensured a balanced 2014–15 internal budget
• Reviewed and approved the department’s FTE (full-time

equivalent) and Capital Works Program
• Supported the department’s 2014–15 Mid-Year Review

response and 2015–16 budget submission
• Supported the department’s contribution to the State Budget

Papers
• Reviewed the department’s budget process and established

the Strategy and Investment Forum
• Monitored divisions’ and regions’ financial performance

against allocations on a monthly basis
• Conducted the Mid-Year Review to ensure emerging

financial issues were appropriately addressed
• Continued to monitor the five-year budget plan to ensure the

five-year budget remains balanced.

Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) 

Purpose The ARMC provides independent audit and risk management 
advice to the Director-General, as per requirement of Section 35 
of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009. 
The Fraud and Corruption Control Committee reports through 
the ARMC as a sub-committee. 

Membership • Karen Prentis, External Member (Chair) – paid $605.00 per
meeting from July 2014 to February 2015 and $759.00 per
meeting from March 2015 to June 2015

• Director-General
• Deputy Director-General, Policy, Performance and Planning
• Deputy Director-General, State Schools
• Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills
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• Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and
Care

• Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services
• Deputy Director-General, Queensland State School

Resourcing
• Lesley Lalley, External Member – paid $605.00 per meeting

from March 2015 to June 2015
Significant achievements 2014–15 • Reviewed and endorsed the department’s financial

statements
• Noted the Chief Finance Officer Statement of Assurance for

the year ended 30 June 2014
• Approved the 2014–15 Audit Plan
• Evaluated the quality, and facilitated the practical discharge,

of the internal audit function, particularly in respect of
planning, monitoring, and reporting and assisting in the
recruitment of a new Head of Internal Audit

• Continued to follow-up audit recommendations
• Considered audit recommendations by the Queensland

Audit Office, including performance audit recommendations
• Monitored internal audit performance measures
• Monitored increased security risks, particularly in relation to

cyber security and internal controls employed in response to
the G20 Summit in November 2014

• Noted the annual review of the Enterprise Risk
Management Framework and Business Continuity
Framework

• Noted the corporate risk reports for 2014–15.

Fraud and Corruption Control Committee (FCCC) 

Purpose The FCCC provides advice to the ARMC regarding strategies to 
champion, oversee, monitor and coordinate the various fraud 
and corruption mitigation mechanisms in effect in the 
Department of Education and Training. 

Membership • Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services (Chair)
• Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance

Officer
• Assistant Director-General, Human Resources
• Assistant Director-General, Strategy and Performance
• Head of Internal Audit

Significant achievements 2014–15 • Implemented the department’s 2014-15 Fraud and
Corruption Control program

• Continued to oversee the investigation duration through the
review of Regional Case Status Reports

• Developed a two-year rolling work plan
• Supervised the development and implementation of the

department’s inaugural Fraud Awareness Week campaign
• Reviewed internal reports, including:

o Fraud and Corruption Risk Assessment reports
o Fraud and Corruption Control Audit reports
o Internal Audit Computer-Assisted Audit Techniques

Strategy updates
o Fraud and Misappropriation Case Status reports

• Assessed the adequacy of the department’s responses to
identified issues.
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Appendix 3 – Statutory bodies and portfolio entities  

Australian Music Examination Board (AMEB)  

Objective/function AMEB was constituted by agreement between the Ministers for Education of 
Queensland, New South Wales and Tasmania and the Universities of 
Melbourne, Adelaide and Western Australia. 

Constituting Act Not applicable. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

Included in the financial statements of this report. 

Cost to DET Nil. 

Achievements 2014–15 AMEB examined approximately 18,500 candidates in music and speech and 
drama in 98 centres across the state. Primary and secondary school children 
made up 95.5 per cent of candidates.  
At the Annual Presentation of Awards and Diploma Concert in March 2015, 
135 candidates were awarded their diplomas in music, speech and drama.  
In November 2014, AMEB launched a new series of Piano Grade Books and 
released its revised Theory of Music syllabus. From 2015, AMEB is 
progressively releasing recorded accompaniments to support syllabuses up to 
Grade 3. 

 

Aviation Australia  

Objective/function In 2001, Aviation Australia Pty Ltd was established by DET, and the former 
Department of State Development, Trade and Innovation to provide aviation 
training. 

Constituting Act Not applicable. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

Included as a note in the financial statements of this report. 

Cost to DET Nil. 

Achievements 2014–15 Aviation Australia provided DET-funded training for students in a range of 
aviation industry qualifications including: 
• 53 Certificate IV in Aeroskills: Mechanical 
• 14 Certificate IV in Aeroskills: Structures 
• 23 Certificate IV in Aeroskills: Avionics. 
Aviation Australia provides employment services for aviation companies and 
individuals, including apprenticeship placement services in the aviation 
industry. Aviation Australia also provides fee-for-service training to Australian 
and international students in non-technical qualifications, such as cabin crew. 

 

Grammar schools  

Objective/function A school that has been established in accordance with the Grammar School 
Act 1975, and has met the accreditation criteria prescribed by the Education 
(Accreditation of Non-State Schools) Act 2001. 

Constituting Act Grammar Schools Act 1975. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

The following boards table their own annual report: 
• Board of Trustees of the Brisbane Girls’ Grammar School 
• Board of Trustees of the Brisbane Grammar School 
• Board of Trustees of the Ipswich Girls’ Grammar School 
• Board of Trustees of the Ipswich Grammar School 
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• Board of Trustees of the Rockhampton Girls’ Grammar School 
• Board of Trustees of the Rockhampton Grammar School 
• Board of Trustees of the Toowoomba Grammar School 
• Board of Trustees of the Townsville Grammar School. 

Cost to DET Costings are outlined in the individual annual reports. 

Achievements 2014–15 Achievements are outlined in the individual annual reports. 
 
Non-State Schools Accreditation Board  

Objective/function The functions of the Non-State Schools Accreditation Board include the 
accreditation of new non-state schools, and monitoring the ongoing compliance 
of non-state schools with the legislated requirements for accreditation. 

Constituting Act Education (Accreditation of Non-State Schools) Act 2001. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

The Non-State Schools Accreditation Board tables its own annual report. 

Cost to DET Costings are outlined in the board’s annual report. 

Achievements 2014–15 Achievements are outlined in the board’s annual report. 

 

Non-State Schools Eligibility for Government Funding Committee  

Objective/function The Non-State Schools Eligibility for Government Funding Committee is an 
independent committee of the Non-State Schools Accreditation Board. The 
funding committee assesses applications for government funding eligibility for 
non-state schools, and makes recommendations to the Minister. 

Constituting Act Education (Accreditation of Non-State Schools) Act 2001. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

Expenditure related to the funding committee is included in the annual report 
tabled by the Non-State Schools Accreditation Board. 

Cost to DET Costings are outlined in the board’s annual report. 

Achievements 2014–15 Achievements are outlined in the board’s annual report. 

 

Parents and Citizens’ Associations (P&Cs)  

Objective/function P&Cs play an important role in education service delivery through their 
promotion of parent participation and encouragement of collaboration between 
parents, students, school communities and non-government entities to foster a 
commitment to achieving the best educational outcomes for children and 
young people. P&Cs Qld is the peak parent body which represents the 
interests of state school P&C associations throughout Queensland. 

Constituting Act P&Cs are regulated under the Education (General Provisions) Act 2006. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

P&Cs Qld audited financial statements, and reports from regional and state 
committees, are presented to the state annual general meeting in the 
President’s report. 

Cost to DET In 2014–15, DET paid $302,336 (GST inclusive) to P&Cs Qld under the terms 
of a partnership agreement. This increases each year in line with the 
Consumer Price Index.  
DET provides a grant to new P&Cs in the amount of $4000 per new school. 
DET also funds the P&Cs Qld Voluntary Workers insurance premium. In 2015, 
this amount was $37,485 (GST inclusive). 
In 2014-15 P&Cs Qld received $110,000 (GST inclusive) under a variation to 
the terms of the partnership agreement with DET to develop a pilot 
professional development program for school councils of Queensland state 
schools. 

Achievements 2014–15 Achievements include: 
• the 2014 State Conference held on the Gold Coast 
• online resources and the new P&Cs Qld website released to support P&C 

Associations and parents on principal selection panels 
• new communications channel introduced to support executive members 
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• a P&Cs Qld App was developed which is available from the Apple App 
store and Google Play 

• networking, workshops and professional development events provided for 
principals, P&C members and executive members 

• a Parent Engagement Research project underway in partnership with DET 
and the University of Queensland. 

 
Duke of Edinburgh’s International Award State Advisory Committee   

Objective/function The Queensland State Award Committee provides strategic guidance for the 
delivery of The Duke of Edinburgh’s International Award and Bridge Award 
programs and promotes the awards through industry and community networks. 

Constituting Act Not applicable 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

Not applicable 

Cost to DET Not applicable 

Achievements 2014–15 Achievements included: 
• assisting the State Award Office to meet National Award Authority strategic 

initiatives, including through their active engagement at award events held 
in Brisbane in November 2014 attended by His Royal Highness Prince 
Edward 

• providing strategic guidance about partnership development and 
sponsorship opportunities in order to grow the award programs in 
Queensland 

• promoting the award programs to their networks, schools and the wider 
community. 

 

Queensland Indigenous Education Consultative Committee (QIECC)  

Objective/function The QIECC provides independent advice to the Queensland and Australian 
governments on issues relevant to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
education, training and employment, based on consultations with Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples and communities. 

Constituting Act Indigenous Education (Targeted Assistance) Act 2000 (Cth) (to 31 December 
2014). 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

Financial reports were provided to the Australian Government to 31 December 
2014. 

Cost to DET QIECC was funded by the Australian Government until 31 December 2014, 
with in-kind secretariat support provided by DET. Since 1 January 2015, the 
QIECC has been fully funded by the state. 

Achievements 2014–15 Community consultation and youth forums were held in Charleville, St George 
and Roma in August 2014, with follow-up meetings in all three centres in 
November 2014. Further youth consultation and engagement sessions were 
held in Caboolture, Logan and Ipswich in May-June 2015. 
The QIECC has held five business meetings during 2014–15 in Roma (August 
2014) and Brisbane (September and December 2014, and March and June 
2015). 

 

Queensland College of Teachers (QCT)  

Objective/function The QCT is an independent statutory body established to regulate the teaching 
profession in Queensland. 

Constituting Act Education (Queensland College of Teachers) Act 2005. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

The QCT tables its own annual report. The QCT must develop a budget for 
each financial year and provide the budget to the Minister for approval. 

Cost to DET Costings are outlined in the QCT annual report. 

Achievements 2014–15 Achievements are outlined in the QCT annual report. 
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Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority (QCAA)  

Objective/function The QCAA (replacing the Queensland Studies Authority) is an independent 
statutory body established to help schools and early childhood education 
providers achieve quality learning outcomes for their students, and to provide 
accurate records of student achievement, with functions including: 
• the development and approval of school syllabuses and Kindergarten 

guidelines 
• testing, including delivering the NAPLAN test 
• moderation of senior school subjects 
• issuing certificates of achievement and statements of results 
• ranking school students for tertiary entrance. 

Constituting Act Education (Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority) Act 2014. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

The QCAA tables its own annual report. The QCAA must develop a budget for 
each financial year and provide the budget to the Minister for approval. 

Cost to DET Costings are outlined in the QCAA annual report. 

Achievements 2014–15 Achievements are outlined in the QCAA annual report. 

  

TAFE Queensland  

Objective/function TAFE Queensland was established as an independent statutory body on  
1 July 2013 to operate on a not-for-profit basis as Queensland’s public provider 
of vocational education and training (VET). 
TAFE Queensland performs its functions in a commercially successful manner 
that is responsive to the needs of industry, students and the general 
community. 

Constituting Act TAFE Queensland Act 2013. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

TAFE Queensland tables its own annual report. 

Cost to DET Costings are outlined in the TAFE Queensland annual report.  

Achievements 2014–15 Achievements are outlined in the TAFE Queensland annual report. 

 

The Building and Construction Industry Training Fund (BCITF) (Qld) trading as 
Construction Skills Queensland  

Objective/function The BCITF was established on 1 January 1999 to assist in the acquisition and 
enhancement of the knowledge, skills, training and education of workers in the 
building and construction industry. 
On 1 September 2005, the company revised its constitution to establish the 
Minister as sole shareholder. 

Constituting Act Not applicable. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

BCITF financial statements are published on the Construction Skills 
Queensland website www.csq.org.au. 

Cost to DET Nil. 

Achievements 2014–15 A statement of activities undertaken by the BCITF is outlined in its Annual 
Training Plan which is published on the Construction Skills Queensland 
website www.csq.org.au. 

 

Universities  

Objective/function Queensland’s seven public universities that provide higher education across 
the state include: 
• Central Queensland University 
• Griffith University 
• James Cook University 
• Queensland University of Technology 
• University of Queensland 
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• University of Southern Queensland  
• University of the Sunshine Coast. 

Constituting Act Each Queensland university has its own constituting Act. 
• Central Queensland University Act 1998 
• Griffith University Act 1998 
• James Cook University Act 1997 
• Queensland University of Technology Act 1998 
• University of Queensland Act 1998 
• University of Southern Queensland Act 1998 
• University of the Sunshine Coast Act 1998. 

Financial reporting 
arrangement 

Each public university tables its own annual report. 

Cost to DET Costings are outlined in the individual annual reports. 

Achievements 2014–15 Achievements are outlined in the individual annual reports. 
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Appendix 4 – External scrutiny  

Queensland Audit Office (QAO) reports to Parliament 

Reports to Parliament tabled in the 2014–15 financial year are available at www.qao.qld.gov.au/reports-
tabled-in-2014---15-financial-year.  

Report to Parliament No. 1 for 2014–15: Results of audit: Internal control systems 

The QAO tabled this report in Parliament on 11 July 2014. This report summarises the results of initial 
control evaluations and selective testing of the financial reporting controls that operated within the 21 
government departments during 2013–14. The report identified a range of significant control weaknesses 
across a number of departments relating to their control environment, information systems and control 
activities.  

Report to Parliament No. 4 for 2014–15: Results of audit: State public sector entities for 2013–14 

The QAO tabled this report in Parliament on 25 November 2014. The report summarises the 2013–14 state 
public sector entity audits for all 21 agencies. The report includes favourable comments on the preparation of 
financial statements but makes comment on progress made and continued efforts to shorten the time 
required for financial statement reporting across the sector. Section 3.4 includes topical issues QAO sees for 
the department. Appendix A includes a summary of the audit results for the former Education, Training and 
Employment ministerial portfolio and portfolio entity. 

Report to Parliament No. 7 for 2014–15: Results of audit: Queensland state government financial 
statements 2013–14 

The QAO tabled this report in Parliament on 9 December 2014. This report provides further information on 
the results of the Queensland State Government audit beyond the independent audit opinion. It contains 
insights into the Total State Sector’s and General Government Sector’s financial performance in 2013–14, its 
position at the end of the year, and factors impacting on the financial sustainability of the state. 

Report to Parliament No. 11: 2014–15 Maintenance of public schools 

The QAO tabled this report in Parliament on 26 March 2015. It includes recommendations made by the QAO 
following examination of whether the asset maintenance programs were well planned and achieved their 
objectives. The report identified recommendations for improvement in the management of asset 
maintenance using a portfolio perspective, assessment of the maintenance procurement methods, 
enhancement in the understanding of maintenance standards across stakeholders and balancing 
preventative and condition-based maintenance activities. 

Report to Parliament No. 12: 2014–15 Oversight of recurrent grants to non-state schools   

The QAO tabled this report in Parliament on 26 March 2015. It includes recommendations made by the QAO 
following examination of the effectiveness of the oversight of the recurrent grant payments to non-state 
schools. The report recommended the Non-State Schools Accreditation Board improve the guidance 
provided to schools for the student census and adopts a more robust risk-based verification framework over 
the census data. The report also recommended that DET establishes assurance mechanisms for student 
data provided by the Board.  

Report to Parliament No. 15: 2014–15 Results of Audit: Education Sector Entities 2013-14 

The QAO tabled this report in Parliament on 5 May 2015. It includes recommendations made by the QAO 
following the results of audits of Queensland’s 95 education sector entities which have a financial year end of 
31 December. The entities audited include seven public universities, 73 university-controlled entities, eight 
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grammar schools and seven other entities. The report indicates that all financial statements in the education 
sector comply with the relevant Commonwealth and State legislative requirements and Australian accounting 
standards. An 'emphasis of matter' was raised in the audit reports of 17 of the university-controlled entities 
reflecting that the statements had been prepared for a special purpose for specific users rather than a 
general purpose for many users.  

External reviews  

Coronial Inquest into the death of Indianna Rose Hicks 

The Coroner delivered his findings on 12 December 2014. The findings included a recommendation that 
approved providers of early childhood education and care services should ensure they have documented 
sleep and rest and supervision policies incorporating best practice principles. The department sent 
information to all approved providers to advise of this recommendation, and has updated its website to 
provide information related to safe sleeping. 

In addition, the Coroner recommended amending the Education and Care Services National Regulations to 
require approved providers to have a written policy and procedure relating to sleep and rest. This 
recommendation is being considered as part of the review of the National Partnership Agreement on the 
National Quality Agenda for Early Childhood Education and Care and final agreement is being  sought from 
Education Council in late 2015. 

Queensland Ombudsman – audit of complaints management system 

In October 2014 the Queensland Ombudsman delivered his report on the audit of the department’s 
complaints management system. The audit measured compliance against legislative requirements and 
recognised standards and was limited to the systems for handling customer complaints about state 
schooling. The audit found that the department has established processes for managing complaints at the 
school, regional and central office levels based on the state schools complaints management procedure; 
however a number of system improvements are required to assist the department to meet its legislative 
obligations. The department continues to implement a number of initiatives in response to the audit 
recommendations. 

Report to Parliament No. 42: Review of state school attendance rates 

In November 2014, the Education and Innovation (Parliamentary) Committee tabled Report No. 42 – Review 
of state school attendance rates in Parliament. The Committee had previously considered attendance rates 
in 2012 when it reviewed a report by the Auditor-General of Queensland in relation to how well the 
Department was performing in achieving stated targets to improve attendance. The Committee subsequently 
released a report Review of Auditor-General’s Report 1 - Improving student attendance, in August 2012. The 
report released in November 2014 delivers on the intent stated in the 2012 report to review attendance rates 
again. 
 
The Committee acknowledged the efforts of the Department to improve attendance rates and made further 
recommendations for improvement. As at 30 June 2015, four of these recommendations have been 
completed and seven continue to be implemented. 
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Glossary

A 
Apprenticeship A system of training, regulated by law or custom, which combines on-the-

job training and work experience with formal off-the-job training, while in 
paid employment. 

AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 An international standard which provides principles and generic guidelines 
on risk management. 

AS/NZS 5050:2010 A standard which describes the application of the principles, framework 
and process for risk management, as set out in AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009, 
to disruption-related risk. 

Australian Curriculum, 
Assessment and Reporting 
Authority 

National body responsible for the development of the Australian 
Curriculum from Kindergarten to Year 12 and a national assessment 
program and national data collection and reporting. 

Australian Curriculum The national curriculum being developed for students in K (Prep) to Year 
12 covering subject areas outlined in the Melbourne Declaration (2008). 

Australian Music 
Examination Board (AMEB) 

Provides a graded system of examinations in music, speech and drama, 
as well as syllabuses, educative services and other publications, to 
teachers, examiners and candidates. 

Australian Qualifications 
Framework 

A comprehensive nationally-consistent framework incorporating all 
qualifications recognised in post-compulsory education throughout 
Australia. The framework identifies six levels in the VET sector: Certificate 
I, Certificate II, Certificate III, Certificate IV, Diploma and Advanced 
Diploma. 

Aviation Australia The Centre of Excellence established by the government in 2001 to 
provide skills development for the aviation and aerospace industries. 

 

C 
Centres of Excellence A partnership between industry and government to provide a proactive, 

coordinated response to skills shortages and to meet labour market 
needs. The current centres of excellence service the aviation, mining, 
building and construction, manufacturing and engineering, and energy 
industries. 

Council of Australian 
Governments (COAG) 

The peak intergovernmental forum in Australia. COAG comprises the 
Prime Minister, state premiers, territory chief ministers and the President 
of the Australian Local Government Association. It initiates, develops and 
monitors the implementation of policy reforms that are of national 
significance and which require cooperative action by Australian 
governments. 

  

E 
Education Queensland 
International (EQI) 

The trading name for the department's international activities. EQI 
operates within DET International (DETi), within the State Schools division 
of the department. DETi is the key coordination point for international 
activity, both within Queensland and where the department exports its 
education and training expertise. EQI is a registered education provider on 
the Commonwealth Register of Institutions and Courses for Overseas 
Students (CRICOS). 

Education Support Funding 
Program 

Funds made available by the Department of Child Safety to DET to assist 
students across the state, Catholic and independent schooling sectors. 
Assistance must be linked to goals identified through the education 
support planning process. Education Support Plans are the trigger for 

Glossary 
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identifying appropriate strategies to address priority education needs for 
these students. 

 

F 
Full-time equivalents (FTEs) A representative number that is calculated by assessing the hours worked 

over the financial year by all full-time and part-time employees, and 
converting this to a corresponding number of employees as if all staff were 
full-time. 

 

I 
Indigenous A person of Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander origin 
Information and 
communication technologies 
(ICT) 

An umbrella term that describes the use of all technologies in the 
manipulation and communication of information.  

International Baccalaureate 
Diploma (IBD) 

An internationally recognised, two-year curriculum that prepares 16 to 19 
year-old students for university. Students receive credit for subjects 
studied in the program at leading universities around the world, reducing 
the time required to complete a Bachelor degree. 

  
K 
Key performance indicator 
(KPI) 

Tracking indicator used to measure the achievement of outputs against 
goals. 

Kindergarten program An education program planned and delivered by a qualified early 
childhood teacher for children in the year prior to Prep for at least 15 
hours per week, 40 weeks a year. Government-approved Kindergarten 
programs are available in a range of settings, including community 
Kindergarten services, Kindergarten services operated by non-state 
schools, long-day care services, and selected schools in discrete 
Indigenous communities. 

 

N  

National Assessment 
Program - Literacy and 
Numeracy (NAPLAN) 

Annual tests conducted nationally in Years 3, 5, 7 and 9 covering reading, 
writing, spelling, grammar and punctuation, and numeracy. The results 
provide information for teachers and schools on individual student 
performance on a national basis. This is used to identify areas of strength 
and where further assistance may be required. NAPLAN tests are part of 
a collaborative process between states and territories, the Australian 
Government and non-government schools sectors. 

National Centre for 
Vocational Education 
Research (NCVER) 

Australia's principal provider of VET research and statistics. 

National Minimum Standard 
(NMS) 

Nationally-set standards against which the results of NAPLAN tests are 
compared. For each year level, a minimum standard is defined and 
located on the common underlying scale. Band 2 is the minimum standard 
for Year 3; Band 4 is the minimum standard for Year 5; Band 5 is the 
minimum standard for Year 7; and Band 6 is the minimum standard for 
Year 9. 

National Partnership 
Agreement 

An agreement between the Commonwealth and the states and territories 
to facilitate coordination, monitoring and delivery of strategies to improve 
service delivery. 

National Quality Framework 
(NQF) 

The overarching regulatory system for approved early childhood education 
and care services across Australia. The NQF is based on a principle of 
continuous quality improvement and since 2012 introduced a quality 
assessment and rating system and improved staffing standards. 

Non-English speaking 
backgrounds 

An equity and diversity group identifying people who have migrated to 
Australia and whose first language is a language other than English. 
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O 
OneSchool An automated system in all Queensland state schools which, when fully 

implemented, will provide teachers, administrators and principals with 
secure easy access to information about students, curriculum, 
assessment and progress reporting, school facilities and school finance. 

Operational plan Translates agency objectives into the services (outputs) that it will provide 
to its clients, and the standards for those services (performance 
measures). 

Overall Position (OP) A student's statewide rank based on overall achievement in QCAA-
approved subjects. It indicates how well the student has done in 
comparison to all other OP-eligible students in Queensland. Students who 
want an OP must study 20 semester units of QCAA subjects, including at 
least three subjects for four semesters each, and must sit the Queensland 
Core Skills test. 

 

P 
Parents and Citizens' 
Association (P&C) 

A group of community-minded parents and citizens who take on a more 
formal role to assist a school by providing feedback on school policies and 
activities, additional resources to be used to enhance student learning, 
and providing parents with extra opportunities to be involved in their child's 
education. 

Portfolio The department or group of departments for which a Minister is 
responsible. 

Prep A full-time, non-compulsory program that replaced Preschool. It runs five 
days a week and follows the established school times and routines. 
Taking a play and inquiry-based approach to learning, Prep is offered at 
every Queensland state school and selected independent and Catholic 
schools. 

Pre-Prep Refer to Kindergarten program. 
Public-private partnership  A mutually beneficial partnership between the public and private sectors 

aimed at achieving value for money and the provision of services that 
would otherwise be wholly funded by the public sector. 

 

Q 
Queensland Curriculum and 
Assessment Authority 
(QCAA) formerly Queensland 
Studies Authority (QSA) 

The Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority (QCAA) replaced 
the Queensland Studies Authority (QSA) on 1 July 2014 as the statutory 
body responsible for providing Kindergarten to Year 12 syllabuses and 
guidelines, and assessment, testing, reporting, certification and tertiary 
entrance services to Queensland schools. 

Queensland Curriculum, 
Assessment and Reporting 
(QCAR) Framework 

The Queensland Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting (QCAR) 
Framework informs the learning programs for all state school students in 
Years 1 to 9. 
 

 

R 
Recognition of Prior Learning 
(RPL) 

The recognition of competencies currently held, regardless of how, when 
or where the learning occurred. A person's skills and knowledge acquired 
through previous formal or informal education and training, work or life 
experience may be used to grant status or credit in a subject or module. 

Registered training 
organisation (RTO) 

An organisation registered to deliver and assess nationally recognised 
vocational education and training (VET). 

 

S 
School-based 
apprenticeships and 
traineeships (SATs) 

Pathways for Year 10, 11 and 12 students combining senior studies, VET 
and employment. 
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Service Delivery Statement 
(SDS) 

Budget papers prepared on a portfolio basis by agencies reporting to each 
minister and the Speaker. The document comprises a section for each 
departmental portfolio and one for the Legislative Assembly of 
Queensland. It is produced annually and provides budgeted financial and 
non-financial information for the budget year. The SDS sets out the 
priorities, plans and financial statements of agencies. 

Special Education Programs 
(SEP) 

A clustering of students with disabilities and specialist teachers, with 
experience or qualifications in dedicated areas of specialisation, to 
support the educational program of these students at selected schools 
within a local community. 

Strategic plan The document which provides the agency's purpose and direction. It 
outlines the department's overall objectives (including its contribution to 
whole-of-government objectives, ambitions and targets) and how it will 
know if it has achieved those agency objectives (performance indicators). 

 

T 
Technical and further 
education (TAFE) 

Provides a wide range of predominantly vocational tertiary education 
courses, under the National Training System, Australian Qualifications 
Framework or Australian Quality Training Framework. 

Trends in International 
Mathematics and Science 
Study (TIMSS) 

A project of the International Association for the Evaluation of Educational 
Achievement to collect educational achievement data in mathematics and 
science at Year 4 and Year 8 in more than 60 countries, to provide 
information about trends in performance over time. 

Traineeship A system of training regulated by law or custom which combines on-the-
job training and work experience with formal off-the-job training, while in 
paid employment. 

  

V 
Vocational education and 
training (VET) 

Post-compulsory education and training which provides people with 
occupational or work-related knowledge and skills. 
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Acronyms and abbreviations 

A 
ABS Australian Bureau of Statistics 
ACARA Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority 
ACER Australian Council of Educational Research 
AEDC Australian Early Development Census 
AEEYSOC Australian Education, Early Childhood Development and Youth Affairs Senior Officials 

Committee 
AHES After Hours Ethnic Schooling 
AMEB Australian Music Examination Board 
ANZAC Australian and New Zealand Army Corps 
AoSM Advancing our Schools Maintenance 
APR Annual Performance Review 
ARMC Audit and Risk Management Committee 
ASQA Australian Skills Quality Authority 
 

B 
BBF Black Business Finder 
BCITF Building and Construction Industry Training Fund 
BYO Bring your own 
 

C 
C2C Curriculum into the classroom 
COAG Council of Australian Governments 
 

D 
DELTA Direct Entry Level Training Administration 
DET Department of Education and Training 
DHPW Department of Housing and Public Works 
 

E 
EAL/D English as an additional language or dialect 
EATSIPEC Embedding Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Perspectives in Early Childhood 
ECEC Early Childhood Education and Care 
EDRMS Electronic document and records management system 
EMB Executive Management Board 
EQI Education Queensland International 
ERP Estimated Resident Population 
 

F 
FCCC Fraud Corruption Control Committee 
FET Further education and training  
FYTE Full-year training equivalents 
FTE Full-time equivalent 
 

Acronyms and abbreviations 
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G 
GST Goods and services tax 
 

I 
IBD International Baccalaureate Diploma 
ICILS International Computer and Information Literacy Study 
ICN Industry capability network 
ICT Information and communications technology 
IPS Independent Public Schools 
ITD Industrial technology and design 

K 
KPI Key performance indicator 
 

M 
MIC Ministerial Industry Commission 
MOHRI Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information 
MSS Mean Scale Score  
 

N 
NAPLAN National Assessment Program - Literacy and Numeracy 
NCVER National Centre for Vocational Education Research 
NBN National Broadband Network 
NMS National Minimum Standard 
NQF National Quality Framework 
 

O 
OECD Organisation for Economic and Co-operation and Development 
OP Overall Position 
 

P 
P&C Parents and Citizens’ Association 
PID Public Interest Disclosure 
PIRLS Progress in International Reading Literacy Study 
PISA Programme for International Student Assessment 
PSA Public Service Act 2008 
 

Q 
QAO Queensland Audit Office 
QCAA Queensland Curriculum and Assessment Authority 
QCAR Queensland Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting 
QCE Queensland Certificate of Education 
QCIA Queensland Certificate of Individual Achievement 
QCT Queensland College of Teachers 
QELI Queensland Education Leadership Institute 
QIECC Queensland Indigenous Education Consultative Committee 
QKLG Queensland Kindergarten Learning Guideline 
Qld Queensland 
QOQU Queensland Overseas Qualification Unit  
QPS Queensland Public Service 
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QSA Queensland Studies Authority 
QSIL Quality Schools, Inclusive Leaders 
QTAMA Queensland Training Assets Management Authority 

R 
RPL Recognition of Prior Learning 
RTO Registered training organisation 

S 
SAE Standard Australian English 
SAT School-based apprenticeship and traineeship 
SEP Special Education Programs 
SEQ South East Queensland 
SES Senior Executive Service 
SDA School disciplinary absence 
SDE School of Distance Education 
SLIC Strategic Leadership and Implementation Committee 
STEM Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics 

T 
TAFE Technical and further education 
TIMSS Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study 

U 
U2B Upper 2 bands 

V 
VET Vocational education and training 
VQF VET Quality Framework 
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Statement 4 – Statement of Cash Flows 
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Department of Education and Training 

Understanding our financial statements 
The financial statements enable readers to assess the department's financial results and cash flows for the 2014-15 financial year and 
its financial position as at the end of the financial year. 

This financial report covers the Department of Education and Training and its controlled entities. 

The Department of Education and Training is a Queensland Government department established under the Public 
Service Act 2008. 

The department is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent. 

The financial statements are composed of a number of components, including: 

• Statement 1 -Statement of Comprehensive Income 

This statement shows revenue and expenses and the results of operations for the financial year, as well as other comprehensive 
income including asset revaluation adjustments. 

• Statement 2- Statement of Financial Position 

This statement provides information concerning assets, liabilities and the department's equity at the end of the financial year. 
Assets shown as current are reasonably expected to be converted to cash, sold or consumed in the operations of the 
department in the next financial year. Similarly, current liabilities are expected to consume cash in the next financial year. 

• Statement 3- Statement of Changes in Equity 

This statement provides information on the movement of equity during the financial year. 

• Statement 4 - Statement of Cash Flows 

This statement provides information concerning sources and uses of cash during the financial year and available cash at the end 
of the financial year. 

• Statement 5 -Statement of Comprehensive Income by Major Departmental Services - Controlled 

This statement provides information on revenue and expenses for each departmental service. 

• Statement 6- Statement of Assets and Liabilities by Major Departmental Services - Controlled 

This statement provides information on assets and liabilities for each departmental service. 

The financial statements for the department that appear in this annual report are signed by Dr Jim Watterston, Director-General for the 
Department of Education and Training and Adam Black FCPA CA, Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance Officer as at 
30 June 2015. 

General information 
The principal address of the department is: 

Education House 
30 Mary Street 
Brisbane OLD 4000 

A description of the nature of the department's operations and its principal activities is included in the notes to the financial statements. 

For information in relation to the department's financial report please contact Finance Branch on 07 3513 6623, email 
FinanciaiReporting.Finance@dete.gld.qov.au or visit the departmental website at www.det.qld.gov.au 
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Department of Education and Training 

Statement 1 - Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2015 

Notes 2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

Income from Continuing Operations 

Appropriation revenue 4 7 910 179 7 604 826 

User charges 5 357 765 567 590 

Grants and other contributions 6 82 030 138165 

Interest 14945 14 012 

Other revenue 58342 35954 

Total Revenue 8 423 261 8 360 547 

Gains on disposal of assets 9170 

Total Income from Continuing Operations 8 432431 8 360 547 

Expenses from Continuing Operations 

8nployee expenses 7&8 5 544 265 5 934 253 

Supplies and services 9 1 671 555 1 549 959 

Grants and subsidies 10 541 741 258 483 

Depreciation and amortisation 480 847 506 716 

Impairment losses 5543 1 114 

Rnance/borrow ing costs 44459 43 631 

Other expenses 11 67190 66288 

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 8 355 600 8 360 444 

Operating Result from Continuing Operations 76 831 103 

Other Comprehensive Income 

Items that will not be reclassified subseguentl:r: to O~erating Result: 

Increase/( decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 19 355 556 ( 571 613) 

Total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to Operating Result 355 556 ( 571 613) 

Total Other Comprehensive Income 355 556 ( 571 613) 

Total Comprehensive Income 432 387 ( 571 510) 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which appear on the pages after Statement 6. 
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Department of Education and Training 

Statement 2 - Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2015 

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables 
Other financial assets 

Inventories 

Other current assets 

N:m-current assets classified as 

held for sale 

Total Current Assets 

Non-Current Assets 

Receivables 

Intangible assets 

A-operty, plant and equipment 

Total Non-Current Assets 

Total Assets 

Current Liabilities 
Payables . 

Interest-bearing liabilities 

Accrued employee benefits 

Other current liabilities 

Total Current Liabilities 

Non-Current Liabilities 
Interest-bearing liabilities 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 

Total Liabilities 

Net Assets 

Equity 
Contributed equity 

Accumulated surplus 

Asset revaluation surplus 

Total Equity 

Notes 

12 

13 

12 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

17 

19 

QAO 
certified statements 

2015 

$'000 

589 559 
90 900 

2690 
80 538 

763 687 

39 216 
802 903 

3 000 
64885 

16 794 631 
16 862 516 

17 665 419 

236 247 
12 581 
71 785 

30636 
351 249 

545 511 
545 511 

896 760 

16 768 659 

4 317 880 
121 821 

12 328 958 
16 768 659 

2014 

$'000 

623 020 
187 165 
25 871 

3 679 

44 093 

883 828 

51 411 

935 239 

86 217 

17 428 844 

17515061 

18 450 300 

367 870 

10 692 

122 735 

75 530 

576 827 

501 512 

501 512 

1 078 339 

17 371 961 

5 353 572 

44 987 

11 973 402 

17 371 961 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which appear on the pages after Statement 6. 

Page 4 of 55 



Department of Education and Training 

Statement 3 - Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2015 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Accumulated Surplus Contributed 
Notes Surplus (Note 19) Equity Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance as at 1 July 2013 44883 12 545 015 4 942 040 17 531 938 

Operating result from continuing operations 103 103 

Other Comprehensive Income 

Increase/( decrease) in asset revaluation surplus ( 571 613) ( 571 613) 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 44987 11 973 402 4942 040 16 960 429 

Transactions !Mth Ov.ners as Ov.ners 
- MoG changes - transfer of other assets 168 477 168 477 

-Appropriated equity injections 239 630 239 630 

- Non-appropriated equity injections 3 425 3 425 

Net Transactions !Mth Ov.ners as Ov.ners 411 532 411 532 

Balance as at 30 June 2014 44987 11 973 402 5 353 572 17 371 961 

Balance as at 1 July 2014 44987 11 973 402 5 353 572 17 371 961 

Operating result from continuing operations 76 831 76 831 

Other Comprehensive Income 

Increase/( Decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 355 556 355 556 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 121 818 12 328 958 5353 572 17 804 348 

Transactions !Mth Ov.ners as O'Miers 
- MoG changes - transfer of other assets 2(b) ( 997 044) ( 997 044) 

- Appropriated equity injections 4 ( 38 648) ( 38 648) 

Net Transactions !Mth Ov.ners as O'Miers (1 035 692) (1 035 692) 

Balance as at 30 June 2015 121 818 12 328 958 4 317 880 16 768 656 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which appear on the pages after Statement 6. 
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Department of Education and Training 

Statement 4 - Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2015 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Inflows: 

Service appropriation receipts 

User charges 

Grants and other contributions 

Interest receipts 

GST input tax credits from A TO 

GST collected from customers 

Other 

Outflows: 

8nployee expenses 

Supplies and services 

Grants and subsidies 
Rnance/borrow ing costs 

GST paid to suppliers 

GST remitted to A TO 

Other 

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Operating Activities 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Inflows: 

Sales of property, plant and equipment 

Outflows: 

Payments for property, plant and equipment 

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Investing Activities 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

Inflows: 

Borrowings and finance leases 

Equity injections 

Outflows: 

Equity w ithdraw als 

Repayments of borrowings/finance lease payments 

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Financing Activities 

Net increase/( decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash transfers from MJG restructure 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Financial Year 

Notes 

20 

2015 

$'000 

7 916 033 

370 862 

76402 

14945 

130 209 

12 093 

58409 

(5 582 724) 

(1 791 363) 

( 540 066) 
( 44 459) 

( 126 738) 

( 11 501) 

( 67 192) 

414 910 

41105 

( 347 123) 

( 306 018) 

58 093 

( 38 648) 

( 12 204) 

7 241 

116 133 

( 149 594) 

623 020 

589 559 

2014 

$'000 

7 598 505 

583 108 

134 514 

14 012 

139 669 

20 767 

36 210 

(5 901 700) 

(1 534 961) 

( 258 400) 
( 43 631) 

( 144 716) 

( 20 764) 

( 64 221) 

558 392 

17186 

( 462 019) 

( 444 833) 

6 347 

243 055 

9 667 

259 069 

372 628 

250 392 

623 020 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which appear on the pages after Statement 6. 
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Department of Education and Training 

Statement 5- Statement of Comprehensive Income by Major Departmental Services - Controlled 
for the year ended 30 June 2015 

Early Childhood School Education Training and Tertiary Total 
Education and Care Education 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Income from Continuing Operations* 

Appropriation revenue 247 399 233 997 6 793 999 6 530 002 868 781 840 827 7 910 179 7 604 826 
User charges 1 424 1 094 355 932 323 434 409 243 062 357 765 567 590 
Grants and other contributions 442 531 81183 116 668 405 20 966 82 030 138 165 
Interest - 14945 11 746 - 2 266 14 945 14 012 
Other Revenue 3 378 581 37 899 24 471 17 065 10 902 58 342 35 954 
Total Revenue 252 643 236 203 7 283 958 7 006 321 886 660 1 118 023 8 423 261 8 360 547 

Gain on disposal of assets ( 8) ( 796) 9 974 9170 

Total Income from Continuing Operations 252 635 236 203 7 283162 7 006 321 896 634 1 118 023 8 432 431 8 360 547 

Expenses from Continuing Operations* 
Employee expenses 35 625 32 042 5 467 577 5 349 815 41 063 552 396 5 544 265 5 934 253 
Supplies and services 18 953 17 132 1148 298 1 093 592 504 304 439 235 1 671 555 1 549 959 
Grants and subsidies 192 075 185 698 30 781 41 284 318 885 31 501 541 741 258 483 
Depreciation and amortisation 2 542 1 615 469 810 438 242 8495 66 859 480 847 506 716 
Impairment losses 53 ( 8) 5472 ( 260) 18 1 382 5 543 1 114 
Finance/borrow ing costs 75 22779 19 609 21 605 24022 44459 43 631 
Other expenses 612 526 64 301 63126 2 277 2 636 67190 66 288 

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 249 935 237 005 7 209 018 7 005 408 896 647 1 118 031 8 355 600 8 360 444 

Operating Result from Continuing Operations 2 700 ( 802) 74144 913 ( 13) ( 8) 76 831 103 

Operating Result from Discontinued Operations 

Operating Result for the Year 2 700 ( 802) 74144 ·--913 ____ ( 13) ----C8f- 76 831 103 

Other Comprehensive Income 
Increase/( decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 2299 ( 607) 284 281 90 527 68976 ( 661 533) 355 556 (571613) 

Total Other Comprehensive Income 2 299 ( 607) 284 281 90 527 68 976 ( 661 533) 355 556 (571613) 

Total Comprehensive Income 4999 ( 1 409) 358 425 91 440 68963 ( 661 541) 432 387 ( 571 510) 

*Allocation of revenues and expenses to corporate services (disclosure only): 
Income 
Expenses 23 318 17 340 672 572 512 549 83 653 82 405 779 543 612 294 

* All corporate overheads have been allocated across respective departmental services based on activity drivers. 

Corporate services functions include: finance and administration, procurement. human resources, payroll, staff training, information technology, records management, legal services, property acquisition and 
management, policy development and executive service. The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which appear on the pages after Statement 6. 

Page 7 of 55 



Department of Education and Training 

Statement 6 - Statement of Assets and Liabilities by Major Departmental Services - Controlled 
as at 30 June 2015 

Early Childhood Education School Education Training and Tertiary General Not Attributed Total 
and Care Education 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - 589 559 623 020 589 559 623 020 
Receivables 2 117 2 042 85469 105 745 3 314 79 378 - 90 900 187 165 
Other financial assets - 25 871 - 25 871 
Inventories - - 2 690 2 674 - 1 005 - 2690 3 679 
Other current assets - - 78 413 39 008 2 125 5 085 - 80 538 44 093 

2 117 2 042 166 572 147 427 5439 111 339 589 559 623 020 763 687 883 828 
Non-current assets classified 
as held for sale - 9 900 10 226 29 316 41 185 - 39 216 51 411 

Total Current Assets 2 117 2 042 176 472 157 653 34 755 152 524 589 559 623 020 802 903 935 239 

Non Current Assets 
Receivables - - - 3 000 - - 3 000 
Intangible assets - 63 223 77 761 1 662 8 456 - - 64885 86 217 
Property, plant and equipment 85157 66 676 16114105 16 281 144 595 369 1 081 024 - 16 794 631 17 428 844 

Total Non-Current Assets 85157 66 676 16177 328 16 358 905 600 031 1 089 480 - 16 862 516 17515061 

Total Assets 87 274 68 718 16 353 800 16 516 558 634 786 1 242 004 589 559 623 020 17 665 419 18 450 300 

Current Liabilities 
Payables 1 227 3 085 180 577 260 488 54443 104 297 - - 236 247 367 870 
Interest-bearing liabilities and derivative - - 10 454 8 779 2127 1 913 - - 12 581 10 692 
Accrued employee benefits 189 427 69 937 96 326 1 659 25 982 - 71 785 122 735 
Other current liabilities 2974 27487 26 949 175 48 581 - 30 636 75 530 

Total Current Liabilities 4390 3 512 288 455 392 542 58 404 180 773 - - 351 249 576 827 

Non Current Liabilities 
Interest-bearing liabilities and derivative - 324 731 278 605 220 780 222 907 - - 545 511 501 512 

Total Non Current Liabilities - - 324 731 278 605 220 780 222 907 - - 545 511 501 512 

Total Liabilities 4 390 3 512 613186 671 147 279 184 403 680 - 896 760 1 078 339 

Please note that the department has systems in place to allocate assets and liabilities by departmental services. 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which appear on the pages after this statement. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

1. Objectives and Principal Activities of the Department 
The Department of Education and Training is committed to ensuring Queenslanders gain the education and skills they need -from 
kindergarten through school to vocational education, university and lifelong learning- to contribute to the community and share in the 
state's economic prosperiiy. The department is a diverse organisation, with one of the largest workforces in the state, providing 
services through three broad service delivery areas 

Early childhood education and care; 

School education; 

Training and tertiary education. 

The department is funded for the departmental services it delivers principally by parliamentary appropriations. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(a) Statement of Compliance 

The Department of Education and Training has prepared these financial statements in compliance with section 42 of the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2009. 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements, and have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. In addition, the financial statements comply with Treasury's Minimum Reporting 
Requirements for the year ending 30 June 2015, and other authoritative pronouncements. 

With respect to compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, the Department of Education and Training has 
applied those requirements applicable to not-for-profit entities, as the Department of Education and Training is a not-for-profit 
department. Except where stated, the historical cost convention is used. 

{b) The Reporting Entity 

The financial statements include the value of all revenue, expenses, assets. liabilities and equity of the department. In addition, the 
Department of Education and Training also controls the following entities: 

Aviation Australia Pty Ltd 

BCITF (Qid) Limited 

Queensland Education Leadership Institute 

As the financial transactions and balances of the above entities are immaterial in the context of the department, they have not been 
consolidated into the departmental statements. Each of these entities is a reporting entity in its own right - their audited financial 
statements are included in their respective annual reports. Full details of these controlled entities are disclosed in Note 24. 

Machinery of Government (MoG) changes reported in Statement 3- Statement of Changes in Equity for 2014-15 relate to: 

$151.409 million to TAFE Queensland. 

$416.174 million to Queensland Training Assets Management Authority 

$310.500 million to Department of Housing and Public Works for the transfer of residential properties. 

$120.153 million to Central Queensland University. 

The major departmental services undertaken by the department are disclosed in Note 3. 

(c) Administered Transactions and Balances 

The department administers, but does not control, certain resources on behalf of the Queensland State Government. It is accountable 
for the transactions involving administered resources, but does not have the discretion to deploy these resources for the achievement of 
the department's objectives. For these resources, the department acts only on behalf of the Queensland State Government. 

Administered transactions and balances are disclosed in Note 26. These transactions and balances are not significant in comparison to 
the department's overall financial performance/ financial position. 

{d) Departmental Services Revenue/Administered Revenue 

Appropriations provided under the Appropriation Act 2014 are recognised as revenue when received. 

Amounts appropriated to the department for transfer to other entities in accordance with legislative or other requirements are reported 
as 'administered' item appropriation in Note 27. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 
(e) User Charges 

User charges, fees and sales revenue controlled by the department are recognised as revenues when the revenue has been earned 
and can be measured reliably with a sufficient degree of certainty. This involves either invoicing for related goods/services and/or the 
recognition of accrued revenue. Revenue from student fees is recognised as the service is provided. User charges, fees and sales 
revenue are controlled by the department where they can be deployed for the achievement of departmental objectives. Property 
income is recognised as revenue when received. 

(f) Grants and Contributions 

Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue in the year in which the 
department obtains control over them. Control is normally obtained upon their receipt. 

Where grants are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised over the term of the funding arrangements. 

Contributed assets are recognised at their fair value. The accounting treatment for contributions of services is explained in Note 2(w). 

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on 
hand, cheques receipted but not banked at 30 June and cash in school and central office bank accounts which are used in the day-to
day cash management function of the department. 

Departmental bank accounts (excluding school bank accounts) are grouped within the whole-of-Government set-off arrangement with 
the Queensland Treasury Corporation and do not earn interest on surplus funds. Interest earned on the aggregate set-off arrangement 
balance accrues to the Consolidated Fund. 

On 14 January 2013, an overdraft facility with the Queensland Treasury Corporation was approved on the department's main bank 
account. This facility is limited to $250 million and remains in effect permanently. 

(h) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed purchase/contract price. 
Settlement on trade debtors is required within 30 days from invoice date. The collectability of receivables is assessed at balance date 
with adequate allowance made for impairment and all known bad debts written off. Increases in the allowance for impairment are 
based on loss events as disclosed in Note 12. As all loans and advances are held with other government departments or departmental 
employees, no collateral is taken. 

(i) Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale 

Non-current assets held for sale consists of those assets that management has determined are available for immediate sale in their 
present condition, for which their sale is highly probable within the next twelve months. 

In accordance with AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, when an asset is classified as held for sale, 
its value is measured at the lower of the asset's carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any restatement of the asset's value 
to fair value less costs to sell (in compliance with AASB 5) is a non-recurring valuation. Such assets are no longer amortised or 
depreciated upon being classified as held for sale. 

(j) Acquisitions of Assets 

Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current physical and intangible asset acquisitions. Cost is determined as the value 
given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use, 
including architects' fees and engineering design fees. However, any training costs are expensed as incurred. 

Where assets are received free of charge from another Queensland Government department (whether as a result of a machinery-of
Government change or other involuntary transfer), the acquisition cost is recognised as the gross carrying amount in the books of the 
transferor immediately prior to the transfer together with any accumulated depreciation. 

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than from an involuntary transfer from another Queensland Government 
entity, are recognised as assets and revenues at their fair value at the date of acquisition in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant 
and Equipment. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd} 
(k) Property, Plant and Equipment 

OAO 
certified statements 

Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to or in excess of the following thresholds are recognised for 
financial reporting purposes in the year of acquisition: 

Buildings and land improvements 
Heritage and cultural buildings 
Land 
Other (including heritage and cultural assets other than buildings) 
Items with a lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition. 

$10 000 
$10 000 

$1 
$5 000 

Items acquired during the financial year have been judged by management of the department to materially represent their fair value at 
the end of the reporting period. Land improvements undertaken by the department are included with buildings. 

(I) Revaluations of Non-Current Physical and Intangible Assets 

Land, buildings (including residential buildings and land improvements such as sports facilities), heritage and cultural assets, and 
buildings under a finance lease are measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment, AASB 13 Fair 
Value Measurement and Queensland Treasury's Non-Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. These assets are 
reported at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
impainment losses where applicable. 

In respect of the abovementioned asset classes, the cost of items acquired during the financial year has been judged by management 
of the department to materially represent their fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

Assets built privately (PPP assets) are tendered out and the fair value is calculated based on construction of the assets in a private 
market. 

Assets under a finance lease that would otherwise have been included in the classes above are also revalued on the same basis as the 
assets in the class to which they would have belonged had they not been under a finance lease. 

Plant and equipment is measured at cost in accordance with Queensland Treasury's Non-Current Asset Policies. The carrying 
amounts for such plant and equipment at cost should not materially differ from their fair value. 

Fair value for land is detenmined by establishing its market value by reference to observable prices in an active market or recent market 
transactions. The fair value of buildings and heritage and cultural assets is detenmined by calculating the depreciated replacement cost 
of the asset. The fair value of assets under a finance lease is the depreciated replacement cost of these assets. 

Where intangible assets have an active market, they are measured at fair value; otherwise they are measured at cost. 

Land, buildings, heritage and cultural assets are revalued by management each year to ensure that they are reported at fair value. 
Management valuations incorporate the results from the independent revaluation program, and the indexation of the assets not subject 
to independent revaluation each year. 

For the purposes of revaluation, the department has divided the state into 25 districts and each year's selection is chosen to ensure that 
major urban, provincial and rural characteristics were included. Districts independently valued in each year are as follows:-

2014-15 2015-16 
Cairns Coastal Torres Strait and Cape 
Central West Rom a 
Toowoomba Mackay-Whitsunday 
Brisbane Central and West Moreton West 
Gold Coast South East Brisbane 
Wide Bay West Sunshine Coast South 

2016-17 2017-18 
Tablelands-Johnstone Townsville 
Mount lsa Warwick 
The Downs Moreton East 
Brisbane North Brisbane South 
Logan-Albert Beaudesert Sunshine Coast North 
Central Queensland Wide Bay North 
Wide Bay South 

The fair values reported by the department are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximise the use of available and 
relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 

(I) Revaluations of Non-Current Physical and Intangible Assets (cont'd) 

Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, their previous valuations are materially kept up-to-date via 
the application of relevant indices. The department ensures that the application of these indices results in a valid estimation of the 
asset's fair value at reporting date. The State Valuation Service (SVS) supplies the indices used for various types of assets. These 
indices are derived from market information available to SVS. SVS provides assurance of their robustness, validity and appropriateness 
for application to the relevant assets. The results of interim indexations are compared to the results of the independent revaluation 
performed in the year to ensure the results are reasonable. This annual process allows management to assess and confirm the 
relevance and suitability of indices provided by SVS based on the department's own particular circumstances. 

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the asset revaluation surplus of the appropriate class, 
except to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in the carrying 
amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus relating to that 
asset class. 

On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the carrying amount of the asset and any 
change in the estimate of remaining useful life. 

Materiality concepts (according to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements) are considered in 
determining whether any difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of each asset class is material (in which case 
revaluation is warranted). 

Separately identified components of assets are measured on the same basis as the assets to which they relate. 

(m) Fair Value Measure 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly 
derived from observable inputs or estimated using another valuation technique. 

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. Observable 
inputs used by the department are detailed for each class of asset under Note 15. 

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are relevant characteristics of the 
assets/liabilities being valued. Significant unobservable data takes account of the characteristics of the department assets/liabilities, 
and includes internal records of recent construction costs (and/or estimates of such costs) for assets' characteristics/functionality, and 
assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and 
reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by 
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best 
use. 

All assets and liabilities of the department for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised with 
the following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals: 

• level 1 - represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical 
assets and liabilities; 

• level 2- represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than quoted prices included in 
level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

• level 3- represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs. 

None of the department's valuations of assets or liabilities are eligible for categorisation into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. There 
were no transfers of assets between fair value hierarchy levels during the period. 

More specific fair value information about the department's Property, Plant and Equipment is outlined in Note 15. 

(n) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets with a cost, or other value, greater than $100 000 are recognised in the financial statements; items with a lesser value 
are expensed. 

It has been determined that there is not an active market for any of the department's intangible assets. As such, the assets are 
recognised and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

No intangible assets have been classified as held for sale or form part of a disposal group held for sale. 

The purchase cost of software has been capitalised and is being amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the expected 
benefit to the department, namely seven to ten years. 

The major software developments held by the department are valued at cost of acquisition. These intangible assets are amortised over 
useful lives ranging from seven to ten years on creation. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 
(n) Intangible assets (cont'd) 

QAO 
certified statements 

Expenditure on research activities relating to internally-generated intangible assets is recognised as an expense in the period in which it 
is incurred. 

Rent Free Agreements and Rights of Access held by the department are recognised at the cost of acquisition. These intangible assets 
are amortised over the life of the agreement. 

The residual value for intangibles for the department is zero, as the department fully utilises any service potential provided by these 
assets. 

(o) Amortisation and Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment and lntangi~les 

Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. 

All intangible assets of the department have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight-line basis. 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the net cost or revalued amount of each asset, 
Jess its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the department. 

Assets under construction (capital work-in-progress) are not depreciated until they reach service delivery capability. Service delivery 
capability relates to when construction is complete and the asset is first put to use oris installed ready for use in accordance with its 
intended application. These assets are then reclassified to the relevant classes within property, plant and equipment. 

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned useful 
lives distinct from the asset to which they relate and are depreciated accordingly. 

It has been determined that the department controls buildings that by their nature require componentisation and the assignment of 
separate useful lives to their component parts. The three components of these buildings are: a) Fabric; b) Fit-out; and c) Plant. The 
useful lives for these assets are disclosed in the table below. 

Useful lives for the assets included in the revaluation will be amended progressively as the assets are inspected by the valuers. 

Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new depreciable 
amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset to the department. 

The depreciable amount of improvements to or on leasehold land is allocated progressively over the estimated useful life of the 
improvements or the unexpired period of the lease, whichever is the shorter. The unexpired period of leases includes any option period 
where exercise of the option is probable. 

Items comprising the department's library collections are expensed on acquisition. 

The estimated useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and, where necessary, are adjusted to better reflect the pattern of 
consumption of the asset. In reviewing the useful life of each asset, factors such as asset usage and the rate of technical and 
commercial obsolescence are considered. 

For each class of depreciable asset the depreciation and amortisation rates are based on the following useful lives: 

Class 

Buildings - Fabric 
Buildings - Fit Out 
Buildings- Rant 
Buildings - DeiTlJuntable buildings, sheds and covered areas 
Buildings- Land improvements (including sporting facilities) 
Heritage and Cultural Assets 
Rant and equipment - Computer equipment 
Rant and equipment- Office equipment 
Rant and equipment- Artefacts and curios 
Rant and equipment- M.Jsical instruments and craft equipment 
Rant and equipment - Rant and machinery 
Rant and equipment- Sporting equipment 
Rant and equipment- fv1ajor refurbishments to leasehold administrative buildings 
Leased plant and equipment 
Intangibles - Software purchased 
Intangibles - Software internally generated 
Intangibles - Other (based on contract life) 

Current useful 
life (years) 

80 
25 
25 
40 
15-80 
80 
5 
5-20 
50- 100 
20 
5-25 
10 
2- 12 
5 - 10 
7- 10 
7 - 10 
5-25 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 

(p) Impairment of Non·Current Assets 

All non-current physical and intangible assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis. If an indicator of possible 
impairment exists, the department determines the asset's recoverable amount. Any amount by which the asset's carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. 

The asset's recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement 
cost. 

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount. When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus of the 
relevant class to the extent available. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income, unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. Refer 
also Note 2(1). 

(q) Leases 

A distinction is made in the financial statements between finance leases that effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee 
substantially all risks and benefits incidental to ownership, and operating leases, under which the lessor retains substantially all risks 
and benefits. 

Where a non-current physical asset is acquired by means of a finance lease, the asset is recognised at an amount equal to the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The lease liability is recognised at the same amount. 

Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease liability and the interest expense. 

Operating lease payments are representative of the pattem of benefits derived from the leased assets and are expensed in the periods 
in which they are incurred. 

Incentives received on entering into operating leases are recognised as liabilities. Lease payments are allocated between rental 
expense and reduction of the liability. 

(r) Payables 

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the nominal amount i.e. agreed 
purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 
day terms. 

(s) Financiallnstruments 

Recognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the department becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Classification 

Financial instruments are classified and measured as follows: 

• Receivables - held at amortised cost 

Held to maturity investment (Fixed Term Deposits)- held at amortised cost 

• Payables - held at amortised cost 

• Borrowings - held at amortised cost 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, plus any transaction costs directly attributable to the borrowings, and then subsequently 
held at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of a financial instrument (or, when appropriate, a shorter period) to the net carrying 
amount of that instrument. 

Any borrowing costs are added to the carrying amount of the borrowing to the extent they are not settled in the period in which they 
arise. Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities to the extent that the department has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
until at least 12 months after reporting date. 

The department does not enter transactions for speculative purposes, nor for hedging. The department holds no financial assets 
classified at fair value through profit or loss. 

All other disclosures relating to the measurement and financial risk management of financial instruments held by the department are 
included in Note 29. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 

(t) Employee Benefits 

Employer superannuation contributions, annual leave levies and long service leave levies are regarded as employee benefits. 

Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not counted in an employees' total remuneration 
package. It is not employee benefits and is recognised separately as employee related expenses. 

Wages, Salaries, and Sick Leave 

Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at the current salary rates. 

As the department expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at 
undiscounted values. 

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to 
continue into future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability 
for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. 

As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken. 

Annual Leave 

The entitlement for annual leave includes a component for accrued leave loading for teaching staff working at schools, but does not 
include recreation leave, which is not an entitlement under their award. 

The Queensland Government's Annual Leave Central Scheme (ALCS) became operational on 30 June 2008 for departments, 
commercialised business units and shared service providers. Under this scheme, a levy is made on the department to cover the cost of 
employees' annual leave (including leave loading and on-costs). The levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable. 
Amounts paid to employees for annual leave are claimed back from the scheme quarterly in arrears. 

No provision for annual leave is recognised in the department's financial statements as the liability is held on a whole-of-government 
basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector 
Financial Reporting. Amounts payable to the ALCS fund is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Long Service Leave 

Under the Queensland Government's Long Service Leave Central Scheme (LSLCS), a levy is made on the department to cover the 
cost of employees' long service leave. Levies are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable. Amounts paid to 
employees for long service leave are claimed from the scheme quarterly in arrears. 

No provision for long service leave is recognised in the department's financial statements, the liability being held on a whole-of
Government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government 
Sector Financial Reporting. Amounts payable to the LSLCS fund is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Superannuation 

Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, at 
rates determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State Actuary. Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid 
or payable. The department's obligation is limited to its contribution to QSuper. 

The QSuper scheme has defined benefits and defined contribution categories. The liability for defined benefits is held on a whole-of
Government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government 
Sector Financial Reporting. Amounts payable to Superannuation funds are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Key Management Personnel and Remuneration 

Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are made in accordance with the section 5 to the Financial Reporting 
Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies issued by Queensland Treasury. Refer to Note 8 for the disclosures on key 
management personnel and remuneration. 

(u) Financing/ Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. 

Borrowing costs include: 

• Interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings; 

Finance lease charges; 

• Amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings; and 

Ancillary administration charges. 

No borrowing costs are capitalised into qualifying assets. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 
(v) Insurance 

The department's non-current physical assets and other risks are insured through the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF), 
premiums being paid on a risk assessment basis. In addition, the department pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of 
its obligations for employee compensation. 

(w) Services Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Value 

Contributions of services are recognised only if the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated and their fair 
value can be measured reliably. Where this is the case, an equal amount is recognised as revenue and an expense. 

(x) Contributed Equity 

Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly-owned Queensland State Public Sector entities as a result of 
machinery-of-Government changes are adjusted to 'Contributed Equity' in accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners 
Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities. Appropriations for equity adjustments are similarly designated. 

(y) Taxation 

The department is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempt from all forms of Commonwealth 
taxation with the exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT), and Goods and Services Tax (GST). FBT and GST are the only taxes 
accounted for by the department. GST credits receivable from, and GST payable to the Australian Taxation Office are recognised and 
accrued (refer to Note 12). 

(z) Issuance of Financial Statements 

The financial statements are authorised for issue by the department's Director-General and the Chief Finance Officer at the date of 
signing the Management Certificate. 

(aa) Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

The preparation of financial statements necessarily requires the determination and use of certain critical accounting estimates, 
assumptions and management judgements that have the potential to cause a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. Such estimates, judgements and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in future periods as relevant. 

Estimates and assumptions that have a potential significant effect are outlined in the following financial statement notes: 

Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment- Note 2(k)- (m) and Note 15; 

Contingencies - Note 23; and 

Depreciation and Amortisation- Note 2(o). 

Further, the matters covered in each of those notes (except for Depreciation and Amortisation) necessarily involve estimation 
uncertainty with the potential to materially impact on the carrying amount of the department's assets and liabilities in the next reporting 
period. Reference should be made to the respective notes for more information. 

(ab) Other Presentation Matters 

Currency and Rounding- Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest 
$1,000 or, where that amount is $500 or less, to zero, unless disclosure of the full amount is specifically required. Sub-totals and totals 
may not add due to rounding, but the overall discrepancy is no greater than two. 

Comparative- Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures in the current reporting 
period. 

Current/Non-Current Classification- Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial 
Position and associated notes. Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 
months after reporting date. Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting 
date, or the department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to beyond 12 months after the reporting date. All other 
assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 
(ac) New and Revised Accounting Standards 

The department did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2014-15. The only Australian Accounting Standard 
changes applicable for the first time as from 2014-15 that have had a significant impact on the department's financial statements is 
AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting. 

AASB 1055 became effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. In response to this new standard, the 
department has included in these financial statements a comprehensive new note 'Budget vs Actual comparison' (Note 31 ). This note 
discloses the department's original published budgeted figures for 2014-15 compared to actual results, with explanations of major 
variances, in respect of the department's Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash 
Flows. Note 31 also includes a comparison between the original published budgeted figures for 2014-15 compared to actual results, 
and explanations of major variance, in respect to the department's major classes of administered income, expenses, assets and 
liabilities. 

The following new and revised standards also became applicable to the department as from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2014: 

• AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; 
• AASB 11 Joint Arrangements; 
• AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities; 
• AASB 128 (revised) Investments in Associated and Joint Ventures; and 
• AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards 

[AASB1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107,112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 5, 9, 16,& 17]. 

Of these new/revised standards, the most significant potential impacts would arise from AASB 10 and AASB 11. 

AASB 10 redefines and clarifies the concepts of control of another entity, and is the basis for determining which entities should be 
consolidated into an entity's financial statements. The department has reviewed the nature of its relationship with the entities it is 
connected with, to determine the impact of AASB 10. It has concluded that it will continue to have control over Aviation Australia Pty 
Ltd and Queensland Education Leadership Institute based on the existing circumstances and will not have any control over any 
additional entities. On that basis, AASB 10 itself has no substantive impact on the department's financial statements. However, the 
new AASB 12 requires a range of particular details which are disclosed for controlled entities in Note 24. 

AASB 11 deals with the concept of joint control and sets out new principles for determining the type of joint arrangement that exists, 
which in turn dictates the accounting treatment. The new categories of joint arrangements under AASB 11 are more aligned to the 
actual rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement. The department has assessed its arrangements with other entities and 
based on present circumstances, no joint arrangements exist. 

The department has not adopted any new or amended accounting standards ahead of their specified commencement date. 

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended Australian Accounting Standards with future 
commencement dates are as set out below: 

From reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016, the department will need to comply with the requirements of AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures. As the department already discloses information about the remuneration expenses for key management 
personnel (refer toNote 8), the most significant implications of AASB 124 for the department's financial statements will be disclosures 

·about transactions with related parties, including transactions with key management personnel or close members of their family. 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. 
This standard contains much more detailed requirements for the accounting for certain types of revenue from customers which may 
result in a change to the timing of revenue from sales of the department's goods and services. The department is yet to complete its 
analysis of current arrangements for sale of its goods and services, but at this stage does not expect a significant impact on its present 
accounting practices. 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010) and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 201 0) will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The main impacts of 
these standards on the department are that they will change the requirements for the classification, measurement, impairment and 
disclosures associated with the department's financial assets. AASB 9 will introduce different criteria for whether financial assets can 
be measured at amortised cost or fair value. 

The department has commenced reviewing the measurement of its financial assets against the new AASB 9 classification and 
measurement requirements. However, as the classification of financial assets at the date of initial application of AASB 9 will depend on 
the facts and circumstances existing at the date, the department's conclusions will not be confirmed until closer to that time. At this 
stage, and assuming no change in the types of transactions the department enters into, it is not expected that any of the department's 
financial assets will meet the criteria in AASB 9 to be measured at amortised cost. Therefore, as from the 2018-19 financial statements, 
all of the department's financial assets are expected to be required to be measured at fair value, and classified accordingly (instead of 
the measurement classification presently used in Notes 2(s) and 29). The same classification will be used for net gains/losses 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of those financial assets. In the case of the department's current 
receivables, as they are short-term in nature, the carrying amount is expected to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

Another impact of AASB 9 relates to calculating impairment losses for the department's receivables. Assuming no substantial change in 
the nature of the department's receivables, as they do not include a significant financing component, impairment losses will be 
determined according to the amount of lifetime expected credit lo"sses. On initial adoption of AASB9, the department will need to 
determine the expected credit losses for its receivables by comparing the credit risk at that time to the credit risk that existed when those 
receivables were initially recognised. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 
(ac) New and Revised Accounting Standards (cont'd) 

The department will not need to restate comparative figures for financial instruments on adopting AASB 9 as from 2018-19. However, 
changed disclosure requirements will apply from that time. A number of one-off disclosures will be required in the 2018-19 financial 
statements to explain the impact of adopting AASB 9. 

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards- Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities amends 
AASB 13 Fair value Measurement effective from annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016. The amendments provide 
relief from certain disclosures about fair values categorised as level 3 under the fair value hierarchy (refer to note 2 (m)). Accordingly, 
the following disclosures for level 3 fair values in note 15 will no longer be required: 

• The disaggregation of certain gains/ losses on assets reflected in the operating result; 
Quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement; and 

• A description of the sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in the unobservable inputs. 

As the amending standard was released in early July 2015, the department has not early adopted this relief in these financial 
statements, as per instructions from Queensland Treasury. However, the department will be early adopting this disclosure relief as from 
the 2015-16 reporting period (also on instruction from Queensland Treasury). 

All other Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations with future commencement dates are either not applicable to the 
department's activities, or have no material impact on the department. 

3. Major Departmental Services of the Department 
The identity and purpose of the major departmental services undertaken by the department during the year are summarised below: 

Early Childhood Education and Care 

Providing children with access to quality early childhood education and care through establishing and funding kindergartens and 
integrated early years services as well as a range of parent and family support programs, and regulating, approving and quality 
assessing early childhood services. 

School Education 

Delivering Preparatory to Year 12 in Queensland state schools to prepare young people for successful transitions into further education, 
training and/or work and administering funding for Queensland non-state schools. 

Training and Tertiary Education 

Supporting the skilling needs of Queensland through the funding, delivery and quality assurance of vocational education, training, and 
providing information, advice and support to higher education providers, employers, apprentices and trainees to improve workforce 
participation. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

4. Reconciliation of Payments from Consolidated Fund 
to Appropriation Revenue for Services Recognised in 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Budgeted appropriation revenue 

Transfers from'(to) other headings- Variation in Headings 

Lapsed appropriation revenue for services 
Total Appropriation Revenue for Services Receipts (Cash) 
Less: Opening balance of appropriation revenue receivable 
Plus: aosing balance of appropriation revenue receivable 

Appropriation Revenue for Services recognised in Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 

Reconciliation of Payments from Consolidated Fund to Equity 
Adjustment Recognised in Contributed Equity 
Budgeted equity adjustment appropriation 
Transfers from'(to) other headings- Variation in Headings 
Lapsed equity adjustment 
Equity adjustment recognised in Contributed Equity 

5. User Charges 

Student fees 
General fees 
Refunds 
Other fees and corrmissions 
A"operty income 
Sales revenue 
Service delivery 
Total 

6. Grants and Other Contributions 
Corrmonw ealth receipts 

Specific purpose 

Contributions received from external parties 
Grants from other State Government departments 
Goods and services received below fair value 
Donations - cash 
Donations- other assets 
Total 

Notes 
2015 

$'000 

8 056 007 

( 139 974) 
7 916 033 

(7411) 
1 557 

7 910 179 

29 802 

( 68 450) 
( 38 648) 

29 221 
257 473 

( 546) 
15 

7 893 
56 358 

7 351 
357 765 

12 853 

26 560 
2 037 
2 015 

30 730 
7 835 

82 030 

2014 
$'000 

7 931 608 

(248711) 
( 84 392) 

7 598 505 
( 1 090) 

7 411 

7 604 826 

( 9 081) 
248 711 

239 630 

127 053 
369 379 

( 512) 
22 

8 331 
56 224 

7 093 
567 590 

20 822 

31 651 
18 699 

1 066 
48 551 
17 376 

138 165 

*The department's policy is to only record assets with a value of $10 000 or more for buildings and $5 000 for plant and equipment. 
Plant and equipment contributed by Parents and Citizens' Associations were recorded on the department's Fixed Asset Register. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

7. Employee Expenses 
Employee Benefits 
Teachers' salaries and allowances 
PUblic servants' and other salaries and allowances 
Teacher aides' salaries 
Oeaners' salaries and allowances 
Janitors'/groundstaff salaries and allowances 

Employer superannuation contributions 
Annual leave expenses 
Long service leave levy 
Redundancy payments 

Employee Related Expenses 
Fringe benefits tax 
Workers' compensation 
Staff transfer costs 
Staff rental accommodation 
Staff training 

Total 

Notes 

2(t) 
2(t) 
2(t) 

2(t) 
2(t) 

2015 
$'000 

3401 849 
534 483 
413 603 
175 442 

50 683 

576 807 
167 561 
99 652 

2 395 

2143 
51 556 
11 034 
28 968 
28 089 

5 544 265 

2014 
$'000 

3 351 750 
686 066 
370 293 
167 921 
48472 

585 098 
211 039 
101 692 

51 251 

260 212 
58352 
11 920 
4 140 

26 047 

5 934 253 

The number of employees as at 30 June, including both full-time employees and part-time employees measured on a full-time 
equivalent basis (reflecting Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information (MOHR!)) is: 

Number of employees: 65 706 67952 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

8. Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses 
(a) Key Management Personnel 

The following details for key executive management personnel include those positions that had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the agency during 2014-15. 
Further information on the Executive Management Group positions can be found in the body of the Annual Report under the section relating to Executive Management Group members. 

Current Incumbents 

Position Responsibilities Contract classification Date appointed to 
and appointment position (Date 

authority resigned from 
position) 

Director-General The Director-General is responsible for leading and managing one of the state's largest government CE02, Appointed 15 April 
departments, and for setting the direction of early ·childhood education and care, state schooling, Governor in Council 2013 
training and employment for Queensland. 

Deputy Director-General, Queensland State The Deputy Director-General, Queensland State School Resourcing is responsible for investigating SES 4, Public Service Appointed 5 
School Resourcing - ways to simplify and streamline resourcing arrangements for state schools in Queensland to Act 2008 August 2013 

maximise the impact on student outcomes by having the right resources going to the right place. 

Deputy Director-General, Policy, The Deputy Director-General, Policy, Performance and Planning is responsible for driving a strategic SES 4, Public Service Appointed 12 
Performance and Planning * approach to the portfolio's policy development across early childhood , schooling, tertiary education, Act 2008 September 2011 

training and employment, and Indigenous education, at a whole of government and national level. 

Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood The Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and Care is responsible for providing SES 3, Public Service Appointed 1 July 
Education and Care ## strategic leadership in the development and implementation of the innovation policy, funding and Act 2008 2014 

regulatory frameworks that shape the vibrant early childhood education and care sector in 
Queensland. 

Deputy Director-General , State Schools The Deputy Director-General, State Schools is responsible for schools performance and school SES 4, Public Service Appointed 30 
operations and the development of programs and frameworks for indigenous education and Act 2008 August 2013 
international education. 

Deputy Director-General, Training and The Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills is responsible for overseeing DET's training and SES 3, s122 contract Acting 3 March 
Skills+ skills functions including overseeing government's investment in training , ensuring a quality Public Service Act 2008 2015 

vocational educational and training sector with informed consumers. 

Deputy Director-General, Corporate The Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services is responsible for the department's corporate SES 3, Public Service Acting 16 June 
Services 11 procurement, finance, human resources, information technologies, and infrastructure services Act 2008 2014 

functions. 

Assistant Director-General, Finance and The Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance Officer provides strategic financial SES 3, Public Service Appointed 25 
Chief Finance Officer advice to the department's executive, overall leadership to the department's finance functions and Act 2008 August 2011 

has responsibilities under section 77 of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 (QLD). 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

8. Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses (cont'd) 

(a) Key Management Personnel (cont'd) 

As a result of a machinery of Government decision: 

+ The position of Deputy Director-General, Training and Employment was renamed to Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills. 

The position of Deputy Director-General, TAFE Queensland ceased as a position within the department from 1 July 2014. 

QAO 
certified statements 

-Prior to being seconded to the position of Deputy Director-General, Queensland State School Resourcing from 1 July 2014, the incumbent was appointed as Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services 
from 5 August 2013. 

##Prior to being appointed to the position of Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and Care, the incumbent was acting in the role from 21 May 2014 .. 

• The incumbent of the position Deputy Director-General Policy, Performance and Planning relieved in the position of Director-General from 27 March 2015 to 19 April 2015 and amounts are reports against 
the substantive's position. 

+The contract details of the incumbent recorded against the position of Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills relate to the officer who is relieving in the position at 30 June 2015. Amounts disclosed for 
this position includes remuneration for the employee's substantive position of Assistant Director-General, Training and Skill Investment. 

++ Incumbent was seconded to the position of Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills from 1 July 2014 to 22 August 2014. 

+++ Incumbent was appointed to the position of Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills from 8 September 2014 to 20 March 2015. 

"The amounts reported against the position of the Deputy Director-General, Corporate Service are for the officer seconded during the 2014-15 financial year. 

(b) Remuneration Expenses 

Remuneration policy for the department's key management personnel is set by the Queensland Public Service Commission as provided for under the Public Service Act 2008. The remuneration and other 
terms of employment (including motor vehicle entitlements) for the key management personnel are specified in employment contracts. The Director-General's contract under the previous Government also 
provided for an At Risk Component payments . 

For the 2014-15 year, remuneration packages of key management personnel increased by 2.2% in accordance with government policy. 

The following disclosures focus on the expenses incurred by the department during the respective reporting periods, that is attributable to key management positions. Therefore, the amounts disclosed reflect 
expenses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Remuneration expenses for key management personnel comprise the following components:-

• Short term employee expenses which include: 

o salaries, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the entire year or for that part of the year during which the employee occupied the specified position (including any higher duties 
or allowances earned during that time). 

o performance payments recognised as an expense during the year. 

o non-monetary benefits - consisting of provision of vehicle and car parking together with fringe benefits tax applicable to the benefit. 

• Long term employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave entitlements earned. 

• Post-employment expenses include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation obligations. 

• Termination benefits are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide only for notice periods or payment in lieu of notice on termination, regardless of the 
reason for termination. 

Termination benefits may also include payments treated as lump sums for taxation purposes, such as cash equivalent for public holidays and is not wholly representative of severance or service 
entitlements under an executive contract. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

8. Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses (cont'd) 

{b) Remuneration Expenses (cont'd) 

1 July 2014- 30 June 2015 

Short Term Employee Expenses Long Term Post-Employment Termination Total Expenses 
Employee Expenses Expenses Benefits 

Position 

{date resigned if applicable) 
Monetary Non-Monetary 
Expenses Benefits $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

$'000 $'000 

Director-General 532 7 11 39 - 589 

Deputy Director-General, Queensland State School Resourcing - 213 7 5 26 - 251 
' 

Deputy Director-General, DET Renewal Champion, Policy, 253 7 5 26 - 291 
Performance and Planning • 

Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and Care 206 14 4 24 - 248 

Deputy Director-General, State Schools 239 7 5 26 - 277 

Deputy Director-General, Employment, Training and Skills + 221 7 5 24 - 257 

Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills ++ 9 1 1 4 - 15 

Deputy Director-General, Training and Skills +++ 132 3 3 14 135 287 

(separated 20 March 2015) 

Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services " 233 7 5 24 - 269 

Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance Officer 212 7 4 24 - 247 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

8. Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses (cont'd) 

(b) Remuneration Expenses (cont'd) 

1 July 2013-30 June 2014 

Short Term Employee Expenses Long Term Post-Employment Termination Total Expenses 
Employee Expenses Expenses Benefits 

Position 

(date resigned if applicable) 
Monetary Non-Monetary 
Expenses Benefits $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

$'000 $'000 

Director-General 438 7 9 51 - 505 

Deputy Director-General, Corporate Services 234 3 5 24 - 266 

Deputy Director-General, Policy, Performance and Planning 213 4 5 26 - 248 

Deputy Director-General, Early Childhood Education and Care 197 29 4 24 - 254 

Deputy Director-General, Education Queensland (Separated 22 2 - 2 247 273 
26.07.2013) 

Deputy Director-General, State Schools 180 4 4 20 - 208 

Deputy Director-General, TAFE Queensland 246 3 5 26 - 280 

Deputy Director-General, Training and Employment 195 20 4 20 - 239 

Assistant Director-General, Finance and Chief Finance Officer 201 13 4 24 - 242 

Assistant Director-General, Employment, Skills and Training 191 14 4 23 - 232 
Investment 

Assistant Director-General, Information and Technologies and Chief 216 3 5 23 - 247 
Information Officer 

--
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

8. Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses (cont'd) 
(c) Performance Payments 

The remuneration package for the Director-General under the previous Government included a potential performance payment up to a maximum of $0.062 million. Eligibility for such a performance payment in 
respect of 2013-14 was conditional on the achievement of objectives that are docum~mted in that position's performance agreement. 

The total remuneration package of the Director-General included a portion that is "at risk" and paid only if they met or exceeded the agreed performance standards. The performance evaluation process 
comprised: 

• reporting on end of year achievement and self-assessment by each chief executive against their performance agreement/intended outcomes; 

• a rigorous, independent and objective assessment of Director-General's performance at the end of each financial year using, culminating in recommendations to the Premier; and 

• the Premier's ultimate discretion regarding whether the CEO will be paid an At Risk Component payment and, if so, how much. 

No At Risk Component payment was made for 2014-15 in accordance with the Government's commitment to discontinue such payments. 

The basis for performance payments expensed during 2014-15 is set out below: 

Position Basis for payment Date Paid Amount 

Director-General Consistent with the abovementioned timeframe an process, this payment relates to the 02 November 2014 $61,240 
achievement of performance criteria during 2013-14. The payment made was determined in 
accordance with the terms of the performance agreement for this position. 

TOTAL $61,240 

There were no performance bonuses for key management personnel expensed in 2013-14. 
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Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

9. Supplies and Services 

Building maintenance 
Utilities 
Equipment and building refurbishment 
Consultants and contractors 
Materials and running costs 
Payments to shared service provider/inter-agency services 
Computer costs 
Travel 
Operating lease rentals 
Total 

10. Grants and Subsidies 
Recurrent 
State Government 

Grants and allowances to external organisations 

Capital 
State Government 

Tertiary organisations 
Total 

11. Other Expenses 
Insurance - QGIF 
Externalauditfees 
Other certification fees 
Losses - public monies and public property 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

non-current assets held for sale 
Special payments: 

Ex-gratia payments 
Court awarded damages 

Payments to other Govt Departments 
Other 
Total 

Notes 
2015 

$'000 

257 550 
168 065 
220 810 
102 923 
771 422 

5286 
74111 
41 360 
30028 

1 671 555 

538 592 

3149 
541 741 

26158 
783 

17 
5 

39 021 
1 206 

67 190 

2014 
$'000 

293 500 
188 769 
229 596 
113 148 
542 789 

12 244 
93 312 
43 950 
32 651 

1 549 959 

240 716 

17 767 
258 483 

23 789 
788 
148 

14 

1 888 

339 
9 

37 229 
2 084 

66 288 

*The total external audit fees relating to the 2014-15 financial year are estimated to be $0.785 million (2013-14: $0.820 million). There 
are no non-audit services included in this amount. Currently paid and accrued audit fees for the department are $0.783 million. 

** Certain losses of public property are insured by the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). The claims made in respect of 
these losses have yet to be assessed by QGIF and the amount recoverable cannot be estimated reliably at reporting date. Upon 
notification by QGIF of the acceptance of the claims, revenue will be recognised other revenues. 

*** Special Payments 

-Court awarded damages were paid by the department in settlement of six (6) personal injury claims. 

1111 Payments to other Government Departments is related to School Transport arrangements with Department of Transport and Main 
Roads. 
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

12. Receivables 

Current 
Debtors of an operational nature 
Less: Allowance for impairment loss 

Loans and advances 
GST input tax credits receivable 
GSTpayable 
Mscellaneous debtors 
Errployee claims receivable 

Total 

Non-Current 
Loans and advances non-current 
Total 

Movement in the Allowance of Impairment Loss 

Balance at 1 July 
Amounts written off during the year 
Increase/( decrease) in allowance recognised in the operating result 
Balance at 30 June 

13. Non-Current Assets classified as Held for Sale 

Land 
Buildings 
Total 

Notes 
2015 

$'000 

94747 
( 28 263) 

66484 

8 
19 911 

3 
4229 

265 
90 900 

3 000 
3 000 

27 879 
( 5 159) 

5 543 
28263 

38 397 
819 

39 216 

2014 
$'000 

162 824 
( 27 879) 
134 945 

35 
25 356 

43 
24478 

2 308 
187 165 

27 784 
( 1 018) 

1 114 
27 879 

50 496 
915 

51 411 

The department currently controls 26 properties that it is actively seeking to dispose of during the 2015-16 financial year. These 
properties have been identified as surplus to current operating requirements due to changes in enrolment demographics. 

These sales are part of the department's ongoing review of its asset base and support reinvestment in capital works and maintenance 
priorities. Properties reported in this category have been independently valued using comparable market selling prices. 

Gains on disposals of assets held for sale during 2014-15 are disclosed in Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Note 2(i) explains the accounting treatment of non-current assets held for sale. 

Page 28 of 55 



Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

2015 2014 

Notes $'000 $'000 

14. Intangible Assets 

Software purchased: 
At cost 15195 30 352 
Less: Accumulated arrnrtisation ( 14 308) ( 25 342) 

887 5 010 
Software internally generated: 

At cost 127 910 147 256 
Less: Accumulated arrnrtisation ( 70 467) ( 77 663) 

57443 69 593 
Other intangible assets: 

At cost 12 820 14 446 
Less: Accumulated arrnrtisation ( 6 286) ( 5 336) 

6 534 9 110 
Software WIP 

At cost 21 2 504 
21 2 504 

Total intangible assets - net book value 64885 86 217 

The department has intangible assets with an original cost of $18.37 million (2013-14: $15.30 million) and a written down value of zero 
still being used in the provision of services. The service potential of these items will be replaced when these items fail. 

Amortisation of intangibles is included in the line item 'Depreciation and Amortisation' in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

All intangible assets of the department have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight line basis. Refer to Note 2( o ). 

No intangible assets have been classified as held for sale or form part of a disposal group held for sale. 

At 30 June 2015 the department holds Internally Generated Software assets being the OneSchool system that has a carrying amount of 
$17.393 million with a remaining amortisation period of three (3) years. 

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Land: At fair value 
Gross 

Buildings: At fair value 
Gross 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 

Heritage and cultural assets At fair value 
Gross 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 

Plant and equipment At cost 
Gross 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 

Leased assets: At fair value 
Gross 
Less: Accumulated arrnrtisation 

Capital works in progress: 
At cost 

Total property, plant and equipment- net book value 

4 833 054 
4833 054 

17 375 658 
(6 280 325) 
11 095 333 

54867 
( 36 284) 

18 583 

493 095 
( 257 819) 

235 276 

554405 
( 31 531) 
522 874 

89 511 
16 794 631 

5 144 327 
5 144 327 

17 449 995 
(6 169 291) 
11 280 704 

53 911 
( 38 010) 

15 901 

573 777 
( 312 753) 

261 024 

496 747 
( 26 801) 
469 946 

256 942 
17 428 844 
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd) 

Land 

Approximately one quarter of the department's land was independently valued by State Valuation Service as at 30 June 2015. 

The fair value of land involved physical inspection and reference to publicly available data on recent sales of similar land in nearby 
localities in accordance with Industry standards. In determining the values, adjustments were made to the sales data to take into 
account the location of the department's land, its size, street/road frontage and access. and any significant restrictions. The extent of 
the adjustments made varies in significance for each parcel of land. 

The remaining three quarters of the land assets, have been indexed to ensure that values reflect fair value as at reporting date. This 
involved the selection of a random sample of 173 properties from the 18 districts across the state that were not independently valued in 
2014-15. State Valuation Service then provided indices for each of these sites based on recent market transactions for local land sales. 
These indices increased the value of land in these districts by 3% and have been applied. 

Buildings 

Approximately one quarter of the department's buildings were independently valued by State Valuation Service as at 30 June 2015. All 
purpose-built facilities are valued using a depreciated replacement cost approach, as there is no active market for these facilities. State 
Valuation Service conducted physical inspections and have sourced building price information from the Department of Housing and 
Public Works. The depreciated replacement cost was based on a combination of published construction rates for various standard 
components of buildings and specialised fit-out constructed by the department, adjusted for more contemporary design/construction 
approaches. Significant judgement was also used to assess the remaining service potential of these facilities, given the current physical 
condition of the facility. 

The remaining three quarters were indexed using the Building Price Index provided by GRC Quantity Surveyors. The change in the 
Building Price Index (June 2014 to June 2015) was a 3.15 percent increase. State Valuation Service have certified that the Building 
Price Index is the most appropriate measure for reflecting price changes in the department's buildings in the years when an independent 
valuation is not undertaken. The Building Price Index is based on the former Department of Housing and Public Works BPI which was 
based on tender prices for typical government buildings. Management is of the opinion that the continuing investment in general and 
specific priority maintenance would prevent any abnormal deterioration in asset values in the period between independent valuations. 

Due to the restructure of the administrative arrangements relating to the provision of Vocational Education and Training (VET}, the 
TAFE operational business has been transferred to TAFE Queensland, and the property, plant and equipment assets, at certain sites, 
have been transferred to the Queensland Training Assets Management Authority (QTAMA) on 1 July 2014. 

Heritage and Cultural Assets 

Approximately one quarter of the department's heritage and cultural assets were independently valued by State Valuation Service as at 
30 June 2014. As there is no active market for these assets, fair value was determined using a depreciated replacement cost approach 
by estimating the cost to reproduce the items with the features and materials of the original items, with substantial adjustments made to 
take into account the items heritage restrictions and characteristics. 

The remaining three quarters were indexed to ensure that values reflect fair value as at reporting date using the Building Price Index 
provided by GRC Quantity Surveyors. Management of the department has judged that the above valuations continue to materially 
represent fair value as at 30 June 2015. 

Leased Assets 

Leased assets were independently valued by State Valuation Service as at 30 June 2015. 

All purpose-built facilities are valued using a depreciated replacement cost approach, as there is no active market for these facilities. 
State Valuation Service conducted physical inspections and have sourced building price information from the commercial construction 
information. Significant judgement was also used to assess the remaining service potential of these facilities, however the terms of the 
public private partnership arrangements require these facilities to be maintained and refurbished to a high standard. 
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd) 

at Fair Value at Cost 
Land Buildings Heritage and Leased Plant and Work in Total 

Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliation Cultural Assets Equipment Progress 

2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Carrying amount at 1 July 2014 5 144 327 11 280 704 15 901 469 946 261 024 256 942 17 428 844 
Acquisitions (including upgrades) 11 424 226 631 2 186 58 093 50 068 ( 8445) 339 957 
Transfers in from other Queensland Government entities - - - - 4 568 - 4568 
Donations received - 6174 20 - 1 340 - 7 534 
Disposals ( 1 513) ( 14) - - ( 4 073) ( 5 600) 
Transfers out to other Queensland Government entities ( 320 189) (497130) ( 500) - ( 34 530) ( 4 627) ( 856 976) 
Assets reclassified as held for sale ( 14 070) ( 12) - - - ( 14 082) 
Donations made - - - ( 298) ( 21) ( 319) 
Transfers between classes - 147 461 14 - 6872 ( 154 359) ( 12) 
Gain/losses recognised in operating result 0 

Net revaluation increments/( decrements) 19 13 075 340 716 1 851 ( 86) - 355 556 
Depreciation/amortisation ( 409 197) ( 889) ( 4 781) ( 49 972) - ( 464 839) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2015 4 833 054 11 095 333 18 583 522 874 235 276 89 511 16 794 631 

The department has identified $61.38 million of land assets and $99.98 million of building and land improvement assets retired from active use and fully surplus for the 2014-15 financial year (2013-14: 
$67.29 million land; $93.37 million building). These assets are awaiting valuation and review before a final determination is made to actively market these assets and transfer them to assets held for sale. 

Land with a value of $3.34 million, and Buildings and Land Improvements with a value of $12.22 million (2013-14: $26.89 million) that are temporarily idle have been identified. 

The department has plant and equipment with an original cost of $36.5 million (2013-14: $52.8 million) and a written down value of zero still being used in the provision of services. The service potential of 
these items will be replaced when these items fail. 
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd) 

at Fair Value at Cost 
Land Buildings Heritage and Leased Plant and Work in Total 

Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliation (cont"d} Cultural Assets Equipment Progress 
2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $"000 $'000 
Carrying amount at 1 July 2013 5 285 294 11 733 384 19 841 448 384 248 001 156 368 17 891 272 
Acquisitions (including upgrades) 17 343 152 023 9 25 939 46600 281 896 523 810 

Transfers in from other Queensland Government entities 33 778 85 385 - - 5 261 1 460 125 884 
D:Jnations received 19 9 822 - - 2 416 78 12 335 
Disposals ( 217) ( 1 378) - - ( 3 488) - ( 5 083) 
Assets reclassified as held for sale ( 46 542) - - - - - ( 46 542) 
D:Jnations made - - - - ( 162) ( 162) 
Transfers between classes 4493 141 177 109 145 11 024 (182860) ( 25 913) 
Gain/losses recognised in operating result 

Net revaluation increments/( decrements) 19 ( 149 841) ( 418 587) ( 3 185) - - ( 571 613) 
Impairment reversals - 1 862 - - 1 862 

Depreciation/amortisation - ( 422 984) ( 873) ( 4 522) ( 48 628) - ( 477 007) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2014 5144 327 11 280 704 15 901 469 946 261 024 256 942 17 428 844 
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd) 
Level 3 significant valuation inputs and relation to fair value 

The fair value of the below buildings has been determined by independent valuer, State Valuation Service, using a depreciated replacement 
cost valuation technique, and adjusted for price changes. The following tables highlights the key unobservable (Level 3) inputs assessed 
during the valuation process and the relationship to estimated fair value. 

Fair Value at Fair Value at Significant Possible alternative Sensitivity of fair 

Description 
30 June 2015 30 June 2014 unobservable inputs values for level 3 value to change in 

used in valuation inputs level 3 inputs 
$'000 $'000 

Buildings 11 095 333 10 969 369 Construction Costs 2014-15 Increase/ decrease in 
- Schools and Early 3% +or- these factors would 

Childhood increase/decrease the 
2013-14 fair value by 5% + or -
4% +or- (2013-14: 6%) 

Estimates of the 2014-15 Increase/ decrease in 
remaining sen.ice 8% +or- these factors would 
potential based on increase/decrease the 
assessment of current 2013-14 fair value by 5% + or -
physical conditions, and 12% +or- (2013-14: 6%) 
differences in 
functionality. 

Heritage and Cultural 18 583 15 901 Construction Costs 2014-15 Increase/ decrease in 
Buildings 3% +or- these factors would 

increase/decrease the 
2013-14 fair value by 9% + or -
4% +or- (201.3-14: 13%) 

Estimates of the 2014-15 Increase/ decrease in 
remaining sen.ice 8% +or- these factors would 
potential based on increase/decrease the 
assessment of current 2013-14 fair value by 16% + or -
physical conditions, and 12% +or- (2013-14:28%) 
differences in 
functionality. 

Leased Buildings 522 874 469 697 Construction Costs 2014-15 Increase/ decrease in 
3% +or- these factors would 

increase/decrease the 
2013-14 fair value by 3% + or -
4% +or- (2013-14: 4%) 

Estimates of the 2014-15 Increase/ decrease in 
remaining sen.ice 8% +or- these factors would 
potential based on increase/decrease the 
assessment of current 2013-14 fair value by 1% + or -
physical conditions, and 12% +or- (2013-14: 1%) 
differences in 
functionality. 

Usage of alternative level 3 inputs (as per the above table) that are reasonable in the circumstances as at the revaluation date would not 
result in material changes in the reported fair value. There are no significant inter-relationships between unobservable inputs that materially 
impact fair value. 

Asset where current use is not highest and best use 

The current value in use is considered to materially reflect highest and best use for all property, plant and equipment items. 
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2015 2014 
Notes $'000 $'000 

16. Payables 
Current 
Trade creditors 156 672 214 826 
Capital creditors 35 397 89060 
FBT and payroll tax 41 870 60 042 
Other creditors 530 463 
Grants and subsidies payable 1 778 3479 
Total 236 247 367 870 

*From 1 July 2014 the department was no longer liable for payroll tax. The 2014 comparative include of payroll tax of $20.0 million. 

17. Interest-Bearing Liabilities 
Current: 
Lease liability 
Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) borrowings 
Total 

Non-Current: 
Lease liability 
Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) borrowings 
Total 

6 810 
5 771 

12 581 

500 200 
45 311 

545 511 

Lease liabilities are effectively secured, as the right to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default. 

No assets have been pledged as security for any liabilities. 

5 230 
5462 

10 692 

450 430 
51 082 

501 512 

All borrowings are in $A denominated amounts and no interest has been capitalised during the current reporting period. There have 
been no defaults or breaches of the loan agreement during the period. 

Interest rates on bdrrowings range from 4.26% to 5.79% (2013-14: 5.21% to 5.79%). 

As it is the intention of the department to hold its borrowings for their full term, no fair value adjustment is made to the carrying amount 
of the borrowings. 

Interest on finance leases is recognised as an expense as it accrues. No interest has been capitalised during the current or 
comparative reporting period. 

The implicit interest rate for finance leases range from 2.87% to 10.64% (2013-14: 6.54% to 10.64%). 

The majority of finance leases relate to the PPP Projects - South bank Training Precinct, South-east Queensland School -Aspire and 
Queensland Schools- Plenary. Refer to Notes 21 and 22 for details. 

18. Other Current Liabilities 

Current 
Unearned grant revenue and revenue in advance 
Advances and deposits payable 
Total 

29 649 
987 

30 636 

74 284 
1 246 

75 530 

Page 34 of 55 



Department of Education and Training 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2014-15 

19. Asset Revaluation Surplus by Class 

Land Buildings Heritage and Leased 
Cultural Assets 

Notes $"000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 July 2013 4 988 056 7 535 657 18 726 2 576 

Revaluation increments 33 786 447 433 12 306 
Revaluation decrements ( 183 627) ( 866 020) ( 15 491) 

( 149 841) ( 418 587) ( 3 185) 

Balance at 30 June 2014 4 838 215 7117 070 15 541 2 576 

Heritage and Leased 
Land Buildings Cultural Assets 

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 July 2014 4 838 215 7117 070 15 541 2 576 

Revaluation increments 292 792 662 726 2400 184 218 
Revaluation decrements ( 279 717) ( 322 010) ( 549) ( 184 304) 

13 075 340 716 1 851 ( 86) 

Balance at 30 June 2015 4 851 290 7 457 786 17 392 2490 

The asset revaluation surplus represents the net effect of upwards and downwards revaluations of assets to fair value. 

20. Reconciliation of Operating Result to Net Cash 
from Operating Activities 

Operating surplus/( deficit) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Net gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
Loss of public property 
Donated assets received 
Bad and irf1)airment losses 

01ange in assets/liabilities (net of l'vbG transfers): 
(lncrease)/decrease in GST input tax credits receivable 
(lncrease)/decrease in net operating receivables 
(lncrease)/decrease in other receivables 
(lncrease)/decrease in inventories 
(lncrease)/decrease in other current assets 
Increase/( decrease) in other current liabilities 
Increase/ (decrease) in GST payable 
Increase/( decrease) in payables 
Increase/( decrease) in accrued erf1)1oyee benefits 

Net cash from operating activities 

Notes 
2015 

$'000 

76 831 

480 847 
( 9 170) 

( 7 835) 
5543 

4022 
19 245 

( 16) 
( 37 244) 

31 
41 

( 75 457) 
( 41 928) 

414 910 

Total 

$'000 

12 545 015 

493 525 
(1 065 138) 

( 571 613) 

11 973 402 

Total 
$'000 

11 973 402 

1 142 136 
( 786 580) 

355 556 

12 328 958 

2014 
$'000 

103 

506 716 
1 888 

14 
( 17 376) 

1 114 

( 5 048) 
( 7 427) 

( 20 242) 
577 

8 272 
18 153 

2 
43094 
28 552 

558 392 . 
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21. Commitments for Expenditure 

(a) Finance lease commitments 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Minimum Present value Mnirrum R-esent value 
payments of payments payments of payments 

Payable: 
Not later than one year 56035 54416 50 687 46 519 
Later than one and not later than five years 273 580 246 659 202 091 196 660 
Later than five years 1474615 946410 1 025 961 474 387 
Total rrinirrum lease payment 1 804230 1247 485 1 278 739 717 566 

Less: anticipated input tax credits ( 164 021) ( 114 621) ( 116 249) ( 74110) 
Less: future finance charges ( 992 973) ( 738 054) ( 706 830) ( 476 073) 

Total present value of minimum lease payments 647 236 394 810 455 660 167 383 

2015 2014 

Notes $'000 $'000 

(b) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are inclusive of anticipated GST and are payable as follows: 

1\bt later than one year 
Later than one and not later than five years 
Later than five years 

Total commitments 

24138 
95 562 
89423 

209 123 

21 591 

77 085 
78 363 

177 039 

The increase in finance lease commitments is mainly due to the Public Private Partnership Projects, Queensland Schools - Plenary 
(QSPPP) (refer to Note 22). 

No leases have escalation clauses except for Moore Park State School lease which was reviewed after 10 years with the repayment 
schedule reduced by 10 years. A small number of leases have renewal or purchase options. Where such options exist, they are all 
exercisable at market prices. No lease arrangements create restrictions on other financing transactions. 

Operating leases are entered into as a means of acquiring access to office accommodation and storage facilities. Lease payments are 
generally fixed, but with inflation escalation clauses on which contingent rentals are determined. 

No renewal or purchase options exist in relation to operating leases and no operating leases contain restrictions on financing or other 
leasing activities. 

(c) Capital expenditure commitments 

Material classes of capital expenditure commitments inclusive of anticipated GST, contracted for at reporting date but not recognised in the 
accounts are payable as follows: 

2015 

Payable: 
Not later than one year 
Later than one and not later than five years 

Total 

2014 

Payable: 
Not later than one year 
Later than one and not later than five years 

Total 

Land 

$'000 

107 

107 

69 

69 

Buildings 

$'000 

65451 
2734 

68185 

221 268 
47 580 

268 848 

Plant and Intangible 
Equipment Assets 

$'000 $'000 

743 

743 
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21. Commitments for Expenditure (cont'd) 
(d) Grant commitments 

Notes 
2015 

$'000 

QAO 
certified statements 

2014 
$'000 

Grant commitments inclusive of anticipated GST, committed to provide at reporting date, but not recognised in the accounts are payable 
as follows: 

Not later than one year 

Later than one and not later than five years 

Total commitments 

(e) Other commitments (Public Private Partnership, Priority Purchasing Program and other) 

371182 
16 318 

387 500 

Other expenditure committed at the end of the period but not recognised in the accounts are payable as follows: 

Not later than one year 
Later than one and not later than five years 
Later than five years 

Total commitments 

54545 
154641 

1 255 628 
1 464 814 

211 008 

211 008 

36 010 
117 877 
915 448 

1 069 335 

Fixed operating costs for Public Private Partnerships Projects for Southbank Education and Training Precinct- Axiom, South-East 
Queensland Schools- Aspire and Queensland Schools- Plenary have been included in the estimates of other commitments. 
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22. Private Provision of Public Infrastructure (PPPI) Arrangements 

(a) Accounting treatment- Public Private Partnerships 

The current accounting treatment applied to these arrangements is based upon the requirements of AASB 117 Leases. There is 
currently no Australian Accounting Standard that specifically addresses the accounting treatment to be adopted by grantors for capital 
costs incurred under a public private partnership arrangement. Queensland Treasury have developed APG 17- Service Concession 
Arrangements: Grantor to assist departments in identifying the accounting treatment, financial reporting and disclosure of public private 
partnership arrangements. Additional disclosures are included for each individual arrangement in accordance with AASB Interpretation 
129 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures and Queensland Treasury's minimum reporting requirements under Section 9-
Notes to the financial statements. 

(b) Southbank Education and Training Precinct- Axiom- Public Private Partnership 

In April 2005, the department entered into a contractual arrangement with Axiom Education Queensland Pty Ltd (Axiom) to design, 
construct, operate, maintain, and finance the South bank Education and Training Precinct for a period of 34 years on departmental land. 
This is a social infrastructure arrangement whereby the department pays for the third-party use of the infrastructure asset through 
regular service payments to Axiom over the life of the contract. The arrangement involved the refurbishment or demolition of existing 
buildings and the development of new buildings. 

Axiom is owned by AMP Capital Community Infrastructure Trust (CommiF). AMP Capital Funds Management Ltd (AMPCFM) was 
appointed as the responsible entity for the CommiF in 2013. AMPCFM is 100% owned subsidiary of AMP Capital Holdings Ltd. 

Construction work commenced in July 2005 and was completed on 31 October 2008. The department has entered into a Head Lease 
and Sublease with Axiom for the Southbank Education and Training Precinct. The department will pay an abatable, undissected 
service payment to Axiom for the operation, maintenance and provision of the precinct. The Head Lease and Sublease recognise the 
obligations under the Southbank Education and Training Precinct Project Deed in relation to the 30 year operating phase. This period 
requires Axiom to maintain the facilities to a high standard. Services include facilities (including furniture, fittings and equipment) 
maintenance and lifecycle replacement, cleaning, security, waste management, fire safety and other associated facilities management 
services. 

The land on which the facility was constructed is owned and recognised as an asset by the department. The Head Lease with Axiom 
provides Axiom with the right to enter and operate on the site. The land under the Head Lease is classified as an operating lease. This 
lease expires on 30 June 2039. 

The fair value of the buildings was recognised as finance lease assets with the corresponding recognition for future payments as a 
finance lease liability. The lease assets will be depreciated over the economic useful life and the lease liability will be reduced, as 
payment for the buildings are made. The monthly service payments are split between the capital component to affect the systematic 
write-down of the liability over the term of the lease and the financing component which will be recognised as an expense when 
incurred. Other components such as facilities management, maintenance and insurance will be expensed when incurred. 

Under the contractual agreement for the Southbank Education and Training Precinct- Axiom - PPP the payments schedule are solely 
of a fixed nature and no variable costs are anticipated for the life of the contract. At the expiry of the 34 year period, the buildings will 
revert to the State for nil consideration. 

In September 2011 the department entered into a lease arrangement with TAFE Queensland leasing the Southbank Education and 
Training Precinct to the Institute until 28 June 2039. 
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22. Private Provision of Public Infrastructure (PPPI) Arrangements (cont'd) 

(c) South-East Queensland Schools- Aspire- Public Private Partnership 

In May 2009, the department entered into a contractual arrangement with Aspire Schools (QLD) Pty Limited (Aspire) to design, 
construct, commission, maintain and partially finance seven schools for a period of 30 years on departmental land. This is a social 
infrastructure arrangement whereby the department pays for the third-party use of the infrastructure asset through regular service 
payments to Aspire Schools (QLD) Pty Ltd over the life of the contract. 

Aspire is wholly owned by Aspire Schools Holdings (Qid) Pty Ltd which is owned by Leighton Infrastructure Investments Pty Limited 
(LIPL), H.R.L. Morrison & Co Private Markets Pty Limited as Trustee of Public Infrastructure Partners Australia Unit Trust (PIP A), 
Commonwealth Investments Pty Limited (CIPL) and AMP Capital Community Infrastructure Fund (AMP). Finance during the design 
and construction phase was provided by CIPL, Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi and the National Australia Bank. Queensland Treasury 
Co~poration provided the remaining 70% of the projects financial requirements during the operating phase (from January 2010 to 31 
December 2039). 

Construction work commenced in April 2009 and was finalised in January 2014 with the completion of Stage 2 constructions at two of 
the schools. The State will lease back these schools from Aspire and will pay an abatable, undissected service payment to Aspire for 
the operation, maintenance and provision of the schools. The Head Lease, Sublease and Interim Leases recognise the obligations 
under the South-East Queensland Schools Project Deed in relation to the 25 year operating phase. This period requires Aspire to 
maintain the facilities to a high standard. Services include facilities maintenance and lifecycle replacement, cleaning, security, and 
other associated facilities management services. 

In 2012 approval was received to undertake construction of halls at all six SEQ PPP primary schools as a variation to the existing SEQ 
PPP Schools contract, with financing provided by DET for the construction ($25.624M), lifecycle and maintenance of these facilities 
($17.629M) to be maintained by Aspire Schools. The construction was completed in May 2014. 

The land on which the schools are constructed is owned and recognised as assets by the department. The Head Lease with Aspire 
provides Aspire with the right to enter and operate on the site. The land under the Head Lease is classified as an operating lease. This 
lease expires on 31 December 2039. 

The fair value of the buildings were recognised as finance lease assets with the corresponding recognition for future payments as a 
finance liability. The assets will be depreciated over the economic useful life and the lease liability will be reduced , as payment for the 
buildings are made. The monthly service payments are split between the capital component to effect the systematic write-down of the 
liability over the term of the lease and the financing component which will be recognised as an expense when incurred. Other 
components such as facilities management, maintenance and insurance will be expensed when incurred. 

Under the contractual agreement for the South-East Queensland Schools- Aspire- PPP the payments scheduled as variable costs 
change according to the number of module units in use at the individual sites, utilities, car parking agreements and other service 
payments adjustments. Inflows for the South-East Queensland Schools- Aspire- PPP relate to cleaning, grounds maintenance and 
janitorial services. To deliver these services at the seven schools, Aspire is required to use staff provided (employed) by the State. 
Aspire manage and supervise the staff as per the Management and Supervision Agreement which is in accordance to existing certified 
agreements. At the expiry of the 30 year period , the buildings will revert to the State for nil consideration. 

(d) Queensland Schools- Plenary- Public Private Partnership 

On 17 December 2013, the department entered into the Queensland Schools Public Private Partnership arrangement with Plenary 
Schools Pty Ltd for the construction and management of 10 schools in South East Queensland. Under the Project, the department is 
scheduled to pay a series of capital contributions during the construction phase of the project towards the construction costs totalling 
$190 million. These contribution payments result in lower service payments over the period of the concession. This is a social 
infrastructure arrangement whereby the department pays for the third-party use of the infrastructure asset through regular service 
payments to Plenary Schools Pty Ltd over the life of the contract. The project period is for 30 years and is expected to end in December 
2043. 

Plenary Schools Pty Limited as Trustee for Plenary Schools Unit Trust is wholly owned by Plenary Schools Holdings Pty Limited as 
Trustee for Plenary Schools Holdings Unit Trust which is wholly owned by Plenary Group Pty Limited as Trustee of Plenary Group Unit 
Trust. 

The project involves the construction of eight (8) Prep-6 primary schools and two (2) 7-12 secondary schools over a 5 year period in 3 
stages. Due to the staged construction schedule, the lease asset and lease liability will need to be calculated separately for each stage 
of each school and recognised on the respective Stage Availability Date (SAD). The timing of capital contribution payments over the 
SAD determines the accounting treatment at recognition of each stage. At 30 June 2015 construction of Stage 1 at two (2) schools has 
been completed. 

The land on which the schools are/will be constructed is owned and recognised as assets by the department. The Licence with Plenary 
provides Plenary with the right to enter, construct and operate on the site, this licence expires on 31 December 2043. 

Upon the completion of the construction, the fair value of the buildings will be recognised as finance lease assets with the 
corresponding recognition for future payments as a finance liability. The assets will be depreciated over the economic useful life and 
the lease liability will be reduced , as payment for the buildings are made. The monthly service payments are split between the capital 
component to affect the systematic write-down of the liability over the term of the lease and the financing component which will be 
recognised as an expense when incurred. Other components such as facilities management, maintenance and insurance will be 
expensed when incurred. 

Under the contractual agreement for Queensland Schools- Plenary- PPP the payments scheduled as variable costs change 
according to the number of module units in use at the individual sites, utilities, car parking agreements and other service payments 
adjustments. At the expiry of the 30 year period , the buildings will revert to the State for nil consideration. 
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22. Private Provision of Public Infrastructure {PPPI) Arrangements {cont'd) 

The below estimated cash flows are in respect of the specified income and payments required under the contractual agreements. 

Southbank Education and South East Queensland 
Training Precinct ·Axiom Schools· Aspire 

2015 2014 2015 2014 
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Estimated cash flows· Fixed costs 
Outflows 
Not later than 1 year ( 43 407) ( 36 826) ( 27 884) ( 28 410) 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years ( 162 619) ( 158 450) ( 105 984) ( 108 639) 
Later than 5 years but not later than 10 years ( 186 174) ( 178 215) ( 126 226) ( 127 587) 
Later than 1 0 years ( 461 037) ( 429 646) ( 338 883) ( 324 639) 

Estimated net cash flow· Fixed costs ( 853 237) ( 803137) ( 598 977) ( 589 275) 

Estimated cash flows· Variable Costs 
Inflows 
Not later than 1 year 14 624 1 567 1 331 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 56945 - 6194 5 141 
Later than 5 years but not later than 10 years 69 068 7 583 6 035 
Later than 10 years 191 818 - 21 726 16 705 

Outflows 
Not later than 1 year . ( 4 301) ( 2 699) 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years . - ( 12 691) ( 8 420) 
Later than 5 years but not later than 10 years . - ( 19 910) ( 8 335) 
Later than 10 years . ( 33 475) ( 21 026) 

Estimated net cash flow· Variable Costs 332 455 - ( 33 307) ( 11 268) 

Total Estimated Net Cashflow ( 520 782) ( 803137) ( 632 284) ( 600 543) 

• Fixed costs are based on risk free rate of 2.98 per cent (2014: 3.70 per cent). 

•• Variable costs include Lifecycle Costs; Utility Payments and Module Units: 
Southbank Education and Training Precinct PPP have no variable costs associated with the contractual agreement. 
South East Queensland Schools PPP has a range of variable costs set out in section (c) above. 
Queensland Schools PPP has a range of variable costs set out in section (d) above. 

Queensland Schools· 
Plenary .... 
2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

( 8 347) 
( 65 858) 
( 63 030) -

( 295 375) 

( 432 610) -

. 

. 
-
. 

( 105) 
( 19 990) 
(58 327) 

( 100 797) 

( 179 219) 

( 611 829) . 

••• Queensland Schools PPP: The estimated cash flows do not include the government contribution of $190 million during the construction stage. 

Total 
2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

( 79 638) ( 65 236) 
( 334 461) ( 267 089) 
( 375 430) ( 305 802) 

(1 095 295) ( 754 285) 

(1 884 824) (1 392 412) 

16191 1 331 
63139 5 141 
76 651 6 035 

213 544 16 705 

( 4406) ( 2 699) 
( 32 681) ( 8 420) 
( 78 237) ( 8 335) 

( 134 272) ( 21 026) 

119 929 ( 11 268) 

(1 764 895) (1 403 680) 
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22. Private Provision of Public Infrastructure (PPPI) Arrangements (cont'd) 
(e) Risks during the concession period 

During the concession period, the department will carry the following risks and rewards, which include: 

Risks 

Site risks 

Performance design, construction and commissioning 
risks (performance specification adequately describing 
the department's requirements and changes to 
performance specifications) 

Operating/maintenance risks (network and interface 
and changes to performance specification) 

Sponsor and financial risks 

Early termination 

Market value risk 

Rehabilitation risk 

Impact to the department 

Axiom and Plenary have accepted site risk including existing structures with the 
exception of non-identified pre-existing contamination. Where non-identified 
pre-existing contamination is discovered investigation and remediation costs will 
be shared on an equal basis between PPPI party and the State. 

Aspire has the sites in their current state and condition. This includes 
responsibility for the pre-existing contamination, native title applications and 
artefacts. The State has however undertaken to procure remediation relating to 
two sites in accordance with acquisition/development agreements entered into 
by the State for the acquisition of those sites. 

The department has defined its performance specifications. The department is 
exposed to the risk that these performance specifications fail to meet current or 
future requirements, however processes are in place to monitor performance 
and identify any issues as early as possible to minimise exposure. 

The department has specified the level of operating and maintenance 
performance which is linked to an abatement regime and key performance 
indicators. The department is exposed to the risk that operating/maintenance 
performance specifications fail to meet current or future requirements, however 
processes will be instituted to monitor performance and identify any issues as 
early as possible to minimise exposure. 

The department bears the risks associated to interest, CPI and market rates with 
Aspire and Plenary. In regards to Axiom the department has entered into a fixed 
contract, subject to CPI and market rates. The department is exposed to the risk 
that the Consortium fails to comply with the requirements of the Deed and/or 
fails to be a going concern. In this event the department is exposed to the risk of 
replacing the consortium with suitable operators to continue providing 
infrastructure financing, capital, maintenance and operating requirements. The 
department has monitoring processes in place to identify any issues as early as 
possible to minimise exposure. 

Should the department wish to terminate the Deed, it is expected that the 
department would be required to pay Consortiums compensation; however any 
compensation payable would be a key variable in the consideration of any 
decision to terminate the contracts prior to their planned completion. 

At the end of the concession period the facilities will be handed back to the 
department at no additional cost. The department will receive the benefit of the 
receipt of the fair value of the infrastructure and any associated assets. 

At the end of the concession period the department will be responsible for the 
removal of any future contamination of the sites and other ancillary land and will 
also be responsible for the future removal of infrastructure and any site 
rehabilitation. On-going monitoring of the sites is within the department's plans 
for managing the contract to ensure that any rehabilitation requirements are 
promptly identified and costs are minimised. 
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23. Contingencies 

Litigation in Progress 

At 30 June 2015, the following cases were before the Courts: 

2015 
No. of cases 

2014 
No. of cases 

District Court 
Magistrates Court 

4 

5 

The department's legal advisers and management believe that it is not possible to reliably determine the value of payouts in respect of 
this litigation which, in the majority of instances, represent insurable events in terms of the policy held with the Queensland Government 
Insurance Fund. 

The maximum exposure of the department under this policy is $10 000 for each insurable event. 

There are currently 141 (2013-14: 150) cases of general liability and 31 (2013-14: 65) WorkCover common law claims being managed 
by the department. 

Financial Guarantees 

(a) The department has provided 51 (2013-14: 62) financial guarantees to Parents and Citizens' Associations, 7 guarantees to 
Universities (2013-14: 5), and 7 (2013-14: 8) guarantees to grammar schools for a variety of loans. These guarantees have been 
provided over a period of time and have various maturity dates. 

Parents and Citizens' Associations 

Universities 

Grammar Schools 

2015 
Remaining 

balance 
$'000 

2014 
Remaining 

balance 
$'000 

Enabling legislation 

2 124 2 548 Education (General Provisions) Act 1989 s.96 

280 383 214 705 Australian National University Act 1991 s.44 

113 529 114 510 Grammar Schools Act 1975 s.20 
------~3~976~0~376-------3~3~1~7~6~3~ 

(b) The department also acts as a guarantor for Aviation Australia Pty Ltd in the event of default loan payments owed to Queensland 
Treasury Corporation. The guarantee is limited to $1.521 million (2013-14: $1.728 million), which represents 100% of the outstanding 
loan balance as at 30 June 2015. No default loan repayments have been recognised since the inception of the loan agreement, and the 
department's management does not expect that the guarantee will be called upon in the near future. 

(c) The department paid a total of $10.65 million to the Construction Industry Skills Centre Pty Ltd (CISC) between 1994 -1998. The 
amount is only recoverable in circumstances contingent upon the winding up of CISC and the related trust. The department and the 
Queensland Training Construction Fund (QTCF) (a trust) are equal shareholders ($1 share each) in CISC and founders of the fund. 

Native Title Claims over Departmental Land 

There are native title claims which have the potential to impact upon properties of the department, however most departmental 
properties are occupied under a "reserve" tenure, validly created prior to 23 December 1996, and therefore any development 
undertaken in accordance with gazetted purposes should minimise the potential of native title claims. 

At reporting date it is not possible to make an estimate of any probable outcome of such claims, or any financial effect however it should 
be noted that native title would not arise as an issue until the property has been declared surplus and attempts are made for the 
property to be sold or transferred. Native title would need to be addressed as part of the disposal process. The department would 
necessarily recognise any cost implications arising from such claims at that time. 
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a) In October 2001, Aviation Australia Pty Ltd was formed to provide aviation training. Aviation Australia Pty Ltd is 100% owned by the 
Department of Education and Training. Aviation Australia Pty Ltd prepares and publishes separate financial statements which are 
audited by the Auditor-General of Queensland. 

Given the activities of the company, no dividends or other financial returns are received by the department. There are no significant 
restrictions on the department's ability to access the company's assets or settle its liabilities. 

Summary of financial transactions and balances are as follows (financial year 2014-15 are not audit agreed, balances for financial year 
2013-14 have been amended to the audit agreed balances): 

Aviation Australia Pty Ltd 2015 2014 
$"000 $'000 

Revenue 16479 16 058 
Expenses ( 16 850) ( 16 678) 
Net surplus/( deficit) ( 371) ( 620) 

Assets 18 729 20 339 
Liabilities ( 5 301) ( 6 540) 
Net assets 13 428 13 799 

b) The BCITF (Qid) Limited ('the Company') was established on 1 January 1999 to assist in the acquisition and enhancement of the 
knowledge, skills, training and education of workers in the building and construction industry. The Company is established as a public 
company, limited by guarantee, and the Minister is the sole shareholder. The Company does not trade and is controlled by the 
department, and is audited by the Auditor-General of Queensland. 

The Company is the sole trustee of the Building and Construction Industry Training Fund ('the Trust'). The Trust is established to 
advance the education and skills of persons and organisations involved in the building and construction industry, and is audited by the 
Auditor-General of Queensland. The Trust is not controlled by the department. 

c) The Queensland Education Leadership Institute (QELi) was established on 1 June 2010 to provide a range of professional learning 
services to school leaders. QELi is established as a not-for-profit public company, limited by guarantee, jointly owned by the Minister for 
Education, the Department of Education and Training, Queensland Catholic Education Commission (QCEC) and Independent Schools 
Queensland (ISQ). The Company is controlled by the department with the Minister for Education and the Director-General for 
Education and Training having 50% membership of the company's constitution. The Minister for Education also has a casting voting 
where there is an equality of votes. The company is audited by Grant Thornton Australia Pty Ltd. 

Given the activities of the company, no dividends or other financial returns are received by the department. There are no significant 
restrictions on the department's ability to access the company's assets or settle its liabilities. 

Summary of financial transactions and balances are as follows (financial year 2014-15 are not audit approved, balances for financial 
year 2013-14 have been amended to the audit agreed balances): 

Queensland Education Leadership Institute 2015 2014 
$"000 $'000 

Revenue 4192 3152 
Expenses ( 3 742) ( 3 413) 
Net surplus/( deficit) 450 ( 261) 

Assets 3 201 2 591 
Liabilities ( 1 413) ( 1 253) 
Net assets 1 788 . 1 338 

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the three entities listed above have not been consolidated in these financial statements 
as they would not materially affect the reported financial position and operating revenue and expenses. 
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d) The Australian Music Examinations Board (AMES) was constituted by agreement between the Ministers for Education of the states 
of Queensland, New South Wales and Tasmania and the Universities of Melbourne, Adelaide and Western Australia. The AMES exists 
to provide a graded system of examinations in music, speech and drama, by offering high quality syllabuses, educative services to our 
teachers, examiners and candidates, and quality publications to the highest editorial standard. The Queensland Advisory Committee is 
selected by the Minister for Education with changes and recommendations requiring the Minister's approval. The financial activities of 
AMES (Queensland) have been incorporated into the financial transactions of the department. 

AMEB Ltd (Queensland) 2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

Revenue 1 663 1 648 

Expenses ( 1 668) ( 1 465) 

Net surplus/( deficit) ( 5) 183 

e) The Queensland Schools Planning Commission (QSPC) was established as a Ministerial Advisory Committee under section 412 of 
the Education (General Provisions) Act 2006 and members are appointed by the Minister of Education. The Commission was to 
operate from establishment in July 2012 until termination on 30 June 2015. No formal decision has been made to dissolve the QSPC. 
The Government has committed to provide $4 million over three years for the Commission to streamline and coordinate process for the 
planning, establishment and expansion of government and non-government schools; consider population trends and school capacity to 
guide future planning; and examine school infrastructure planning systems and recommend ways to increase their efficiency. 

DET administered the Commission's funding based on advice from the Commission and in accordance with relevant Government 
policies. The Director-General DET retains overall accountability for administration of government funds and the DET annual report to 
Parliament includes details of the Commission's budget and expenditures. The financial activities of the Queensland Schools Planning 
Commission are incorporated into the financial transactions of the department. 

Queensland Schools Planning Commission 

Revenue 

Expenses 

Net surplus/( deficit) 

25. Events Occurring After Balance Date 

The following matter has been announced:-

2015 
$'000 

166) 

166) 

2014 

$'000 

( 416) 

( 416) 

The Queensland Training Assets Management Authority (QTAMA) was established on 1 July 2014, with ownership and management of 
the state's training assets transferred to QTAMA valued at $416 million (refer Note 30 (b)). The Queensland Training Assets 
Management Authority Repeal Bill (2015) passed the Queensland Parliament on 15 July 2015 and was proclaimed on 13 August 2015. 
The Bill abolishes the Queensland Training Assets Management Authority (QTAMA) and returns control of Queensland's training assets 
to the Department of Education and Training. 

The Government intends to put the state's training assets to best use and ensure facilities are available where they are needed. To 
achieve this, the department will undertake an audit of all training assets, to assess their physical condition, as well as their use. The 
department will formulate an asset plan for the next 10 years, in consultation with key stakeholders, to explore options for future use of 
training assets. 

Leasing of training assets to public and private providers will be managed by the department, with T AFEs to receive priority access to all 
facilities at a subsidised rate. 
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26. Administered Transactions and Balances 

Administered revenues 

Grants and contributions 

Recurrent 
Specific purpose- Coi'TllrOnw ealth 

Admnistered item appropriation 
Other 

Total administered revenues 

Administered expenses 

Grants and subsidies 

Recurrent 
Commonwealth Government 

Coi'TllrOnw ealth recurrent 
State Government 

Capital 

Grants and allowances to external organisations 
Textbook allowances 

Grants to statutory bodies (curriculum, tertiary and training) 

State Government 
1\bn-state and other external organisations 

Supplies and services 

Total administered expenses before transfers to Government 

Net surplus or deficit before transfers to Government 

Transfers to Government 
Transfers External to State Government 
Net surplus/( deficit) 

Administered current assets 
Appropriation receivable 
Trade receivable 
GST input tax credits receivable 

Total administered current assets 

Total administered assets 

Administered current liabilities 

Overdraft facilities 
Other payable 

Total administered current liabilities 

Total administered liabilities 

Notes 
2015 

$'000 

2134 265 

2134 265 

2 928 833 
1 

5 063 099 

2134 265 

600 580 
55600 
32 654 

105 495 
2 928 594 

27 
2 928 621 

2134 478 

2134 265 
120 153 

( 119 940) 

27 752 
33 

1 
27 786 

27786 

27 575 

27 575 

27 575 

2014 
$'000 

1 962 368 

1 962 368 

2 736 002 

4 698 370 

1 962 368 

561 989 
49137 
34438 

128 049 
2 735 981 

20 
2 736 001 

1 962 369 

1 962 368 

119 

119 

119 

118 

119 

119 
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2015 
$'000 

2014 
$'000 

27. Reconciliation of Payments from Consolidated Fund to Administered Revenue 

Budgeted appropriation 
Lapsed Administered Appropriation 

Total adrrinistered receipts 

Aus closing balance of administered revenue receivable 
Administered revenue recognised in Note 26 

28. Monies Held in Trust 

Trust Account- Educational bequests 

Total 

29. Financial Instruments 

(a) Categorisation of Financial Instruments 

The department has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities: 

Category 

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables 
Other financial assets (CBA Fixed Term Deposit) 

Total 

Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities measured at arrortised cost: 

Payables 
Queensland Treasury Corporation borrowings 
Financial lease liabilities 

Total 

(b) Financial Risk Management 

12 

16 
17 
17 

2 924 634 
( 23 553) 

2 901 081 

27752 
2 928 833 

239 
239 

589 559 
93 900 

683 459 

236 247 
51 082 

507 010 
794 339 

2 739 315 
( 3 313) 

2 736 002 

2 736 002 

333 
333 

623 020 
187 165 

25 871 
836 056 

367 870 
56544 

455 660 
880 074 

The department's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks- interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. 

Financial risk management is implemented pursuant to Government policy and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the department. The department measures risk exposure using a variety of methods as follows:-

Risk exposure 

Credit risk 

Liquidity risk 

Market risk 

Measurement method 

Ageing analysis 

Sensitivity analysis 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
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29. Financial Instruments (cont'd) 
(c) Credit Risk Exposure 

Credit risk exposure is the potential financial loss due to another party to a financial instrument failing to discharge their obligation. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is the carrying amount of 
those assets net of any allowances for impairment as indicated in the Statement of Financial Position. 

The following table represents the department's maximum exposure to credit risk based on contractual amounts net of any allowances. 

Category Notes 
2015 

$"000 
2014 

$'000 

Financial Liabilities 
Guarantees 23 397 557 333 491 

Total 397 557 333 491 

Financial Liabilities 

The guarantees given by the Department of Education and Training meets the definition of a guarantee contract as per AASB 139 and 
as such the maximum exposure to the department is disclosed above. Details of guarantees can be found in Note 23. 

The Department of Education and Training assesses the fair value of financial guarantees annually as at 30 June. It has been 
determined that the fair value of all financial guarantees is nil as at 30 June as no defaults have been recognised since the inception of 
all guarantees, and the department's management does not expect that the guarantees will be called upon in the near future. As such, 
the fair value of the guarantees has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

(d) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk refers to the situation where the department may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

The department is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of its payables, lease liabilities, and borrowings from Queensland Treasury 
Corporation (QTC). 

The department aims to reduce the exposure to liquidity risk in payables by ensuring the department has minimum but sufficient funds 
available to meet employee and supplier obligations as they fall due. This is achieved by ensuring minimal levels of cash are held 
within the various bank accounts so as to match the expected duration of the various employee and supplier liabilities. 

The following table also sets out the liquidity risk of financial liabilities held by the department. It represents the contractual maturity of 
financial liabilities, calculated based on cash flows relating to the repayment of principal amount outstanding at balance date. 
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(d) Liquidity Risk (cont'd) 

2015 Payable in Total 

<1 year 1- 5 years > 5 years 

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial Liabilities 
Payables 16 236 247 236 247 
Queensland Treasury Corporation borrowing 17 5 771 15 081 30 230 51 082 
Lease liability 17 6 810 33 309 466 891 507 010 
Total 248 828 48 390 497 121 794339 

2014 Payable in Total 

<1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial Liabilities 
Payables 16 367 870 367 870 

Queensland Treasury Corporation borrowing 17 5462 20 852 30 230 56544 
Lease liability 17 5230 25 302 425 128 455 660 
Total 378 562 46154 455 358 880 074 

(e) Market Risk 

The department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to commodity price changes. The department is 
exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings from Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) and cash deposited in interest 
bearing accounts. The department does not undertake any hedging in relation to interest risk and manages its risk as per the liquidity 
risk management strategy. 

(f) Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis evaluates the outcome on profit or loss if interest rates would change by+/- 1 per cent from the year
end rates applicable to the department's financial assets and liabilities. With all other variables held constant, the department would 
have a surplus and equity increase/ (decrease) of $4.892 million (2013-14: $5.92 million). 

(g) Fair Value 

The fair value of trade receivables and payables is assumed to approximate the value of the original transaction, less any allowance for 
impairment. 

The fair value of borrowings is notified by the Queensland Treasury Corporation. It is calculated using discounted cash flow analysis 
and the effective interest rate (refer Note 17) and is disclosed below: 

2015 2014 
Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value 
amount arrount 

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial Liabilities 
QTC borrowings 17 51 082 57696 56 544 62 569 
Financial lease liabilities 21(a) 647 236 394 810 455 660 167 383 

Total 698 318 452 506 512 204 229 952 
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30. Operations Transferred through Machinery of Government Changes 

(a) TAFE Queensland 

' / 

The TAFE Queensland Amendment Regulation (No. 1) 2014 provided for the transfer provisions, including the transfer of assets, 
liabilities and employees to TAFE Queensland. Under this provision all businesses, assets and liabilities related to a TAFE institute, 
other than Central Queensland Institute of TAFE, were transferred to T AFE Queensland at 1 July 2014. 

TAFEQueensland (agreed Balances) 

Total Assets 

Total Liabilities 

Net Assets 

Accurrulated funds (retained earnings) 

Operating surplus /(deficit) 

Total Equity 

(b) QTAMA 

1-Jul-14 
$'000 

265 918 

( 114510) 

151 408 

151 408 

151 408 

Queensland Training Assets Management Authority Act 2014 was commenced 1 July 2014. Assets of $416 million were transferred to 
the Authority. 

QTAMA Transferred Assets 

Land 

Buildings 

Aant, equipment and other assets 

Assets Transferred 

(c) Central Queensland Institute of TAFE (CQIT) to Central Queensland University (CQU) 

1-Jul-14 
$'000 

211 827 

179 192 

25 156 

416 175 

Amendment to the Vocation Education Training and Employment Act 2000 and the Central Queensland University Act 1998 established 
the transfer of Assets and the Assumed Liabilities of Central Queensland Institute ofTAFE to Central Queensland University on 1 July 
2014. The transfer consisted mainly of property, plant and equipment. 

CQIT and CQU Merger 

Total Assets 

Total Liabilities 

Net Assets 

Accurrulated funds (retained earnings) 

Operating surplus /(deficit) 

Total Equity 

(d) Residential properties 

1-Jul-14 
$'000 

121 847 

( 1 694) 

120 153 

120 153 

120 153 

On 1 July 2014, as part of the Government Employee Housing Centralisation Project, the department transferred 1360 Government 
Employee properties to the Department of Housing and Public Works (HPW). The final market rents have been agreed and leasing 
agreements are in place for the transferred properties. The transfer is at arm's length basis and the value of these properties at 30 June 
2014 is $311 million. 
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31. Budget vs Actual Comparison 

NB. A budget vs actual comparison, and explanations of major variances, has not been included for the Statement of Changes 
in Equity, as major variances relating to that statement have been addressed in explanations of major variances for other 
statements. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Original 

Variance Budget Actual Variance Variance 

Notes 2015 2015 2015 %of Budget 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

Income from Continuing Operations 

Appropriation revenue 8056 007 7 910 179 145 828 1.81% 

User charges 341785 357 765 ( 15 980) -4.68% 

Grants and other contributions 90187 82 030 8 157 9.04% 

Interest 10466 14 945 ( 4479) -42.80% 

Other revenue 54404 58 342 ( 3 938) -7.24% 

Gains 2 9170 ( 9 170) 100.00% 

Total Income from Continuing Operations 8 552 849 8 432 431 120 418 1.41% 

Expenses from Continuing Operations 

Errployee expenses 5 453 221 5 544 265 ( 91 044) -1.67% 

Supplies and services 3 2 020 036 1 671 555 348 481 17.25% 

Grants and subsidies 523 094 541 741 ( 18 647) -3.56% 

Depreciation and amortisation 441 350 480 847 ( 39 497) -8.95% 

ltrpairment losses 5 543 ( 5 543) 100.00% 

Finance/borrowing costs 46526 44459 2 067 4.44% 

Other expenses 68622 67 190 1 432 2.09% 

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 8 552 849 8 355 600 197 249 2 .31% 

Operating Result from Continuing Operations 76 831 ( 76 832) 

Other Comprehensive Income 

~ems that will not be reclassified subseguent~ to 
Operating Resu~: 

Increase/( decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 4 410 093 355 556 54537 13.30% 

Total items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to Operating Result 410 093 355 556 54537 13.30% 

Total Other Comprehensive Income 410 093 355 556 54537 13.30% 

Total Comprehensive Income 410 093 432 387 ( 22 295) -5.44% 
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31. Budget vs Actual Comparison cont'd 

Statement of Financial Position 

Original 

Variance Budget Actual Variance Variance 

Notes 2015 2015 2015 %of Budget 

$"000 $'000 $'000 

Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 5 407 733 589 559 ( 181 826) -44.59% 

Receivables 110104 90 900 19 204 17.44% 

Inventories 2642 2690 ( 48) -1.82% 

Other current assets 75 618 80 538 ( 4 920) -6.51% 

596 097 763687 ( 167 590) -28.11% 

!Ibn-current assets classified as 

held for sale 6 29 749 39 216 ( 9467) -31.82% 

Total Current Assets 625 846 802 903 ( 177 057) -28.29% 

Non-Current Assets 
Receivables 2494 3000 ( 506) -20.29% 

Intangible assets 7 52 788 64 885 ( 12 097) -22.92% 

A"operty, plant and equipment 17 330464 16 794631 535 833 3.09% 

Total Non-Current Assets 17 385 746 16 862 516 523 231 3.01% 

Total Assets 18 011 592 17665419 346174 1.92% 

Current Liabilities 
Payables 283 431 236 247 47184 16.65% 

Accrued errployee benefits 8 139 605 71 785 67 820 48.58% 

Interest-bearing liabilities 11 868 12 581 ( 713) -6.01% 

Other current liabilities 9 11 270 30636 (19366) -171.84% 

Total Current Liabilities 446114 351 249 94925 21.28% 

Non-Current Liabilities 
nterest-bearing liabilities 547186 545 511 1 675 0.31% 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 547186 545 511 1 675 0.31% 

Total Liabilities 993 360 896 760 96 600 9.72% 

Net Assets 17 018 232 16 768 659 249 574 1.47% 

Total Equity 17 018 232 16 768 659 249 573 1.47% 
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31. Budget vs Actual Comparison cont'd 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Original 

Variance Budget Actual Variance Variance 

Notes 2015 2015 2015 %of Budget 

$"000 $'000 $'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Inflows: 

Service appropriation receipts 8 056 007 7 916 033 139 974 1.74% 

User charges 343 704 370 862 ( 27158) -7.90% 

Grants and other contributions 85187 76 402 8 785 10.31% 

Interest receipts 10 10 466 14 945 ( 4479) -42.80% 

GST input tax credits from A TO 130 209 ( 130 209) 100.00% 

GST collected from customers 12 093 ( 12093) 100.00% 

Other 55 771 58409 ( 2638) -4.73% 

Outflows: 

Errployee expenses (5428402) (5 582 724) 154 322 -2.84% 

Supplies and services 11 (2 008 253) (1 791 363) ( 216 890) 10.80% 

Grants and subsidies ( 523 094) ( 540 066) 16 972 -3.24% 
Rnance/borrow ing costs ( 46 526) ( 44459) ( 2 067) 4.44% 

GST paid to suppliers ( 126 738) 126 738 100.00% 

GST rerritted to A TO ( 11 501) 11 501 100.00% 

Other ( 69 039) ( 67192) ( 1 847) 2.68% 

Net Cash Provided byi(Used in) Operating 
Activities 475 821 414 910 60 911 12.80% 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Inflows: 

Sales of property, plant and equipment 12 41105 (41105) 100.00% 

Outflows: 

Payments for property, plant and equipment 13 ( 410 274) ( 347123) ( 63151) 15.39% 

Net Cash Provided byi(Used in) Investing Activities ( 410 274) ( 306 018) ( 104 256) 25.41% 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

Inflows: 

Borrowings and finance leases 14 58 093 (58 093) 100.00% 

Outflows: 

8:juity withdrawals 15 29 310 ( 38 648) 67958 0.00% 

Repayments of borrowings/finance lease payments ( 11 571) ( 12 204) 633 -5.47% 

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Financing Activities 17 739 7 241 10 498 59.18% 

Net increase/( decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 83 286 116 133 ( 32 847) -39.44% 

Cash transfers from M:JG restructure 16 ( 78 087) ( 149 594) 71 507 -91.57% 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 17 402 534 623 020 ( 220 486) -54.77% 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Financial Year 407 733 589 559 ( 181 826) -44.59% 
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31. Budget vs Actual Comparison cont'd 

Administered Items 

Administered Income 

Appropriation revenue 

Grants and other contributions 

Other revenue 

Total Administered Income 

Administered expenses 

Grants and subsidies 

Supplies and services 

Losses on disposaVremeasurement of assets 

Transfer of Adrrinistered income to Government 

Total Administered Expenses 

Operating surplus/( deficit} 

Administered Assets 

Cash at bank 

Appropriation receivable 

Trade receivable 

Total Administered Assets 

Administered Liabilities 

Overdraft facility 

Total Administered Liabilities 

Net Administered Assets 

Variance 

Notes 

18 

Original 

Budget 
2015 

$'000 

2 924634 

2132 867 

5 057 501 

2 924 611 

23 

159 214 

2132 867 

5 216 715 

( 159 214} 

Actual 
2015 

$'000 

2 928 833 

2 134 265 

5 063 099 

2 928 594 

27 

120 153 

2134 265 

5183 039 

( 119940) 

27 752 

34 

27 786 

27 575 

27 575 

211 

Variance 
2015 

$'000 

( 4199) 

( 1 398) 

( 1) 

( 5 598) 

( 3983) 

( 4) 

39 061 

( 1 398) 

33 676 

( 39 274) 

( 27 752) 

( 34) 

( 27 786) 

( 27 575) 

( 27 575) 

( 211) 

Variance 
%of Budget 

-0.14% 

-0.07% 

100.00% 

-0.11% 

-0.14% 

-17.39% 

24.53% 

-0.07% 

0.65% 

24.67% 

0.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 
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31. Budget vs Actual Comparison cont'd 

Explanation of Major Variances 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

1. The higher than anticipated interest received by schools is a result of increased school bank account balances as explained in 
variance note 5. 

2. During financial2014-15, the net gain on land disposals was mainly due to disposal of surplus training campus site Cordelia Street 
West End of $10 million. 

3. The decrease in supplies and services is mainly due to deferral of Australian Government National Partnership program funding, 
including Skills Reform ($109 million); the reclassification of expenses to reflect additional staff employed from school funds ($41 
million); and the reclassification of funding for TAFE Queensland as Grants and Subsidies ($23 million), and transfer of operating 
surplus to equity funding to fund future capital works ($48 million). 

4. The decrease in Asset Revaluation Reserve is mainly due to lower than anticipated asset revaluation outcomes in comprehensive 
land valuation ($84 million), predominately in Cairns Coastal, Gold Coast, and Brisbane central and western districts, partly offset 
by higher buildings indexation at 3.15% instead of budgeted index at 2.5%. 

Statement of Financial Position 

5. The increase is mainly due to an increase in school bank account balances ($60 million), and higher actual opening balances than 
original budget forecast ($220 million), offset by the early payment of leave liability contributions ($81 million) as explained in 
variance note 8. 

6. The increase in non-current assets held for sale is mainly due to higher actual opening balances than original budget forecast ($15 
million). 

7. Increase in intangible assets is mainly due to higher actual opening balances than original budget forecast ($19 million), partly 
offset by changes in actual asset values transferred to TAFE Queensland as part of the machinery-of-Government changes from 1 
July 2014. 

8. Decrease in accrued employee expenses is mainly due to the timing of the payment of leave liability contributions to central 
schemes ($81 million). 

9. The increase is mainly due to higher actual opening balances than original budget forecast ($18 million). 

Statement of Cash Flows 

10. The change is mainly due to higher interest received by schools as a result of increased bank account balances as explained in 
variance note 5. 

11. Decrease is mainly due to deferral of Australian Government National Partnership program funding, including Skills Reform ($1 09 
million); the reclassification of expenses to reflect additional staff employed from school funds ($41 million); and the reclassification 
of funding for TAFE Queensland as grants and subsidies ($23 million). 

12. Sales of property, plant and equipment reflects the disposal proceeds received by the department, including the.amount for the 
surplus training campus site Cordelia Street West End ($21 million). 

13. Payment of property, plant and equipment reflects the lower level of capital spend, due largely to deferrals of Early Childhood 
infrastructure ($30 million), transition of Year 7 to Secondary ($16 million) and works associated with Australian Government funded 
Trade Training Centres program ($21 million). 

14. Increase in the finance lease costs are mainly due to lease drawdowns for the Plenary public-private partnership for the first stage 
buildings delivered at two new schools. 

15. The change in Equity withdrawals resulting mainly from the technical adjustment associated with higher depreciation expenses. 

16. The amount for cash transfers from MoG restructure reflects the actual cash balance transferred to TAFE Queensland. 

17. Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year are greater than anticipated due to higher school bank balances than 
initially forecast in opening balance as explained in variance note 5. 

Administered Items 

18. Decrease in loss on disposal due to budgeted value of Central Queensland University building asset transfers being taken at April 
2014, which were subsequently adjusted to reflect lower valuations ($39 million). 
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Certificate of the Department of Education and Training 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 (the 
Act), relevant sections of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 and other prescribed requirements. In 
accordance with section 62(1)(b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion: 

(a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all material respects; and 

(b) the statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with the prescribed accounting standards, 
of the transactions of the Department of Education and Training for the financial year ended 30 June 2015, and of the financial 
position of the department at the end of that year. 

(c) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management processes being effective, in 
all material respects, with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting period. 

Adam Black FCPA CA 
Assistant Director-General, Finance 
Chief Finance Officer 
Department of Education and Training 

r Jim Watterston 
~-~irector-General 

Department of Education and Training 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Accountable Officer of the Department of Education and Training 

Report on the Financial Report 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of Department of Education and Training, 
which comprises the statement of financial position and statement of assets and liabilities by 
major departmental services as at 30 June 2015, the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and statement of comprehensive 
income by major departmental services for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the certificates given 
by the Director-General and the Chief Finance Officer. 

The Accountable Officer's Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with prescribed accounting requirements identified in the 
Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance Management Standard 
2009, including compliance with Australian Accounting Standards. The Accountable Officer's 
responsibility also includes such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

My responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on the audit. The audit 
was conducted in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards, 
which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require compliance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit is planned 
and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control, 
other than in expressing an opinion on compliance with prescribed requirements. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report including any mandatory financial reporting requirements 
approved by the Treasurer for application in Queensland. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my audit opinion. 



Independence 

The Auditor-General Act 2009 promotes the independence of the Auditor-General and all 
authorised auditors. The Auditor-General is the auditor of all Queensland public sector entities 
and can be removed only by Parliament. 

The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate and is not 
subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be exercised. 
The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all documents and 
property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-General's opinion are 
significant. 

Opinion 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009: 

(a) I have received all the information and explanations which I have required 

(b) in my opinion: 

(i) the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping of 
accounts have been complied with in all material respects 

(ii) the financial report presents a true and fair view, in accordance with the 
prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of the Department of 
Education and Training for the financial year 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 and of 
the financial position as at the end of that year. 

Other Matters - Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Report 

Those viewing an electronic presentation of these financial statements should note that audit 
does not provide assurance on the integrity of the information presented electronically and 
does not provide an opinion on any information which may be hyperlinked to or from the 
financial statements. If users of the financial statements are concerned with the inherent risks 
arising from electronic presentation of information, they are advised to refer to the printed copy 
of the audited financial statements to confirm the accuracy of this electronically presented 
information. 

~ 
A M GREAVES FCA FCPA 
Auditor-Ge~~l of Queensland 

2 5 AUG 2015 

Queensland Audit Office 
Brisbane 
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